HUMAN TUMOR ANTIGEN MUC1 AS AN INDUCER OF DENDRITIC CELL MIGRATION AND DISTORTED MATURATION

by

Casey Anderson Carlos

B.S. in Chemical Engineering, The Pennsylvania State University, 1999

Submitted to the Graduate Faculty of

the School of Medicine in partial fulfillment

of the requirements for the degree of

Doctor of Philosophy

University of Pittsburgh

2005

UNIVERSITY OF PITTSBURGH

FACULTY OF SCHOOL OF MEDICINE

This dissertation was presented

by

Casey Anderson Carlos

It was defended on

June 3, 2005

and approved by

Robert Ferris, M.D., Ph.D. Assistant Professor, Department of Otolaryngology

Pawel Kalinski, M.D., Ph.D. Assistant Professor, Department of Surgery

Todd Reinhart, Sc.D. Associate Professor, Department of Infectious Disease and Microbiology

> Russell Salter, Ph.D. Associate Professor, Department of Immunolgy

Olivera J. Finn, Ph.D. Dissertation Director Professor, Department of Immunology

HUMAN TUMOR ANTIGEN MUC1 AS AN INDUCER OF DENDRITIC CELL MIGRATION AND DISTORTED MATURATION

Casey Anderson Carlos, PhD

University of Pittsburgh, 2005

The immunostimulatory outcome of the interactions of many pathogens with dendritic cells (DC) has been well characterized. There are many fewer examples of similar interactions between DC and self-molecules, especially the abnormal self-proteins such as many tumor antigens, and their effects on DC function and the immune response. We show that human epithelial cell antigen MUC1 mucin, is recognized in its aberrantly glycosylated form on tumor cells by immature human myeloid DC as both a chemoattractant (through its polypeptide core) and a maturation and activation signal (through its carbohydrate moieties). Interestingly, MUC1 is chemotactic for immature DC but not for other cells of the immune system. Not only is this the first example of a tumor antigen that has chemotactic abilities but there are also no known receptors that are expressed uniquely on immature DC. However, we have determined that the MUC1 chemotactic receptor is a member of the chemokine receptor family based on its sensitivity to pertussis toxin, the formation of pseudopods upon ligand binding, and the Ca^{2+} flux in response to MUC1. Upon encounter with MUC1, similar to the encounter with LPS, immature DC increase cell surface expression of CD80, CD86, CD40 and CD83 molecules and the production of IL-6 and TNF- α cytokines, but fail to make IL-12. When these DC are co-cultured with allogeneic CD4⁺ T cells, they induce production of IL-13 and IL-5 and lower levels of IL-2, thus failing to induce a type 1 response. Our data suggest that in cancer patients in vivo, MUC1 attracts immature DC to

the tumor through chemotaxis and then subverts their function by negatively affecting their ability to stimulate type 1 helper T cell responses important for tumor rejection.

Included with this dissertation are 3 movies (.avi files) on CD-ROM.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ACKNOWLE	DGEMENTS	. X
1. Introduct	ion	. 1
1.1. Imm	unosurveillance for tumor cells	. 1
1.1.1.	Interaction between tumor cells and dendritic cells	. 1
1.1.2.	Basic DC biology	. 2
1.1.3.	DC cytokine production and T cell priming	. 3
1.1.4.	Need for effective DC in cancer	. 4
1.1.5.	DC defects in cancer patients	. 6
1.1.5.1	. Inhibition of maturation and differentiation	. 6
1.1.5.2	. Influence on migration	. 8
1.1.5.3	. Suppression of function	. 8
1.1.6.	Do DC recognize cancer cells as abnormal?	10
1.1.7.	Summary	12
1.2. Dan	ger signals and pattern recognition receptors	13
1.2.1.	Recognition of molecular motifs as abnormal	13
1.2.2.	Families of PRRs and their functions	14
1.2.3.	PRRs can suppress APC function	17
1.2.4.	Motifs on tumor cells that can be recognized by PRRs	18
1.2.5.	Summary	
1.3. Che	motaxis	19
1.3.1.	Normal DC chemotaxis	19
1.3.2.	Chemokine receptors	22
1.3.3.	Modulation of DC chemotaxis by tumors	25
1.3.4.	Self proteins as chemotactic factors	25
1.3.5.	Summary	26
1.4. MU	C1	27
1.4.1.	MUC1 biochemistry and cell biology	27
1.4.1.1		
1.4.1.2	. MUC1 structure	29
1.4.1.3	. MUC1 signaling	31
1.4.1.4	Function of MUC1	33
1.4.1.5	. MUC1 glycosylation	35
1.4.1.6	Summary	39
1.4.2.	MUC1 as a tumor antigen	40
1.4.2.1	. MUC1 expression by cancers	40
1.4.2.2	. Targeting MUC1 through immunization	42
1.4.2.3		
1.4.2.4	. Summary	46
1.4.3.	MUC1 and the immune system	47

1.4.3	.1. MUC1 and human pathogens	47	
1.4.3	.2. MUC1 and T cells	47	
1.4.3	.3. MUC1 and antigen presenting cells	49	
1.4.3			
1.5. Sta	•		
2. Human Tumor Antigen MUC1 is Chemotactic for DC			
	roduction		
2.2. Ma	aterials & Methods	54	
2.2.1.	Reagents	54	
2.2.2.	Chemotaxis assay	54	
2.2.3.	MUC1 antigen preparations	55	
2.2.4.	DC and T cell isolation and purification.	57	
2.3. Re	sults	58	
2.3.1.	Tumor antigen MUC1 is chemotactic for immature DC.	58	
2.3.2.	Tumor MUC1 is not chemotactic for other cells of the immune system		
2.3.3.	The MUC1 chemotactic function is carried out by its peptide backbone		
2.3.4.	MUC1 is chemotactic for human peripheral blood DC		
2.3.5.	MUC1 is chemotactic not chemokinetic for immature human DC		
2.3.6.	Discussion	67	
3. Human	Tumor Antigen MUC1 induces maturation of DC and prevents effective in	duction	
	cells		
• 1	roduction		
3.2. Ma	aterials and Methods		
3.2.1.	Reagents		
3.2.2.	MUC1 antigen preparations		
3.2.3.	DC and T cell isolation and purification		
3.2.4.	Assessment of DC phenotype and cytokine production.		
3.2.5.	MLR and assessment of T cell cytokine production		
3.3. Re	sults		
3.3.1.	Tumor forms of MUC1 induce cell surface maturation markers on DC	77	
3.3.2.	HMFG MUC1 from human milk activates DC	79	
3.3.3.	Terminal sialic acid residues on MUC1 induce altered DC maturation	81	
3.3.4.	MUC1-"matured" DC fail to promote T cell commitment to Th1	84	
3.3.5.	Discussion		
4. Charact	erization of the MUC1 chemotactic receptor	88	
	roduction		
4.2. Ma	aterials and Methods	90	
4.2.1.	Reagents	90	
4.2.2.	Chemotaxis assay		
4.2.3.	DC isolation and purification		
4.2.4.	Assessment of DC phenotype and cytokine production.		
4.2.5.	Fluorescent tagging of MUC1 and binding studies		
4.2.6.	Live cell microscopy and Ca ²⁺ flux	93	
4.3. Results			
4.3.1.	100mer MUC1 is capable of binding to immature human DC		
4.3.2.	The MUC1 chemotactic receptor is a G protein-coupled receptor		

4.3.3. Chemotactic but not non-chemotactic forms of MUC1 induce	pseudopods on
human DC	
4.3.4. 100mer MUC1 induces DC Ca^{2+} flux	
4.4. Discussion	
5. Summary	
APPENDIX. PUBLICATIONS	
BIBLIOGRAPHY	

LIST OF TABLES

TABLE 1: CHEMOKINE RECEPTOR EXPRESSION ON HUMA	N DENDRITIC CELLS24
TABLE 2: CHECKERBOARD ANALYSIS OF MUC1 INDUCED	CHEMOTAXIS67

LIST OF FIGURES

FIGURE 1: THE STRUCTURE OF NORMAL MUC1.	30
FIGURE 2: MUC1 FORMS USED IN THESE STUDIES.	57
FIGURE 3: TUMOR FORMS OF MUC1 ARE CHEMOTACTIC FOR IMMATURE MYELOID DC.	60
FIGURE 4: MUC1 DOES NOT INDUCE CHEMOTAXIS OF MATURE DC, LYMPHOCYTES, OR	
MONOCYTES	61
FIGURE 5: MUC1 100MER IS NOT CHEMOTACTIC FOR HUMAN NK CELLS.	63
FIGURE 6: THE UNGLYCOSYLATED TANDEM REPEATS OF TUMOR MUC1 ARE THE	
CHEMOATTRACTIVE REGIONS	64
FIGURE 7: CHEMOTAXIS TO MUC1 100MER CAN BE BLOCKED BY THE ADDITION OF ANTI-MUC1	1
ANTIBODY	65
FIGURE 8: 100MER MUC1 IS CHEMOTACTIC FOR HUMAN CD1C ⁺ PERIPHERAL BLOOD DC	66
FIGURE 9: UNDERSTANDING THE EFFECTS OF MUC1 BINDING TO PRRS ON DC FUNCTION	71
FIGURE 10: TUMOR MUC1 INDUCES THE MATURATION AND CYTOKINE PRODUCTION OF HUMA	١N
PERIPHERAL BLOOD DC.	
FIGURE 11: HMFG MUC1 ACTIVATES HUMAN DC	80
FIGURE 12: HMFG MUC1 INDUCES HIGH LEVELS OF CYTOKINE PRODUCTION.	81
FIGURE 13: THE REMOVAL OF TERMINAL SIALIC ACIDS FROM TUMOR MUC1 PREVENTS THE	
INDUCTION OF MATURATION AND CYTOKINE PRODUCTION BY DC.	83
FIGURE 14: CD4 ⁺ T CELL PROLIFERATION IN RESPONSE TO HEK MUC1 TREATED DC.	
FIGURE 15: DC THAT HAVE INTERACTED WITH MUC1 FAIL TO INDUCE STRONG TH1 RESPONSES	S IN
T CELLS DESPITE EXPRESSING CO-STIMULATORY MOLECULES.	86
FIGURE 16: 100MER MUC1 BINDS TO THE SURFACE OF MONOCYTE DERIVED DC	94
FIGURE 17: UNLABELED 100MER ENHANCES BINDING OF LABELED 100MER TO HUMAN DC	95
FIGURE 18: PERTUSSIS TOXIN INHIBITS ASCITES MUC1 INDUCED CHEMOTAXIS	96
FIGURE 19: PERTUSSIS TOXIN INHIBITS 100MER MUC1 INDUCED CHEMOTAXIS.	97
FIGURE 20: PSEUDOPODS ARE INDUCED BY 100MER MUC1 BUT NOT HEK MUC1	98
FIGURE 21: 100MER MUC1 INDUCED CA ²⁺ FLUX IN HUMAN DC	100
FIGURE 22: SUMMARY OF EFFECTS OF MUC1 ON HUMAN DC.	105

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I must have something to engross my thoughts, some object in life which will fill this vacuum, and prevent this sad wearing away of the heart.

Dr. Elizabeth Blackwell

I have a great deal of work, what with the housekeeping, the children, the teaching and the laboratory, and I don't know how I shall manage it all.

Dr. Marie Curie, letter to her brother, Jozef

I wanted to start with these quotes from two women who inspired me to go into medicine and science when I was young. The two desires they express, the need to occupy your mind and the need to live your life, are often pitted against one another. However, both of these scientists must have managed a sort of balance and the world is better off because of it. Of all the things that I learned from my mentor Dr. Olja Finn, I think the ability to strike a balance between these two forces is foremost not only because of its importance but also because of its difficulty. Olja, I would like to thank you for your instruction, your optimism, and your love. These have been the most intellectually invigorating years of my life because of your guidance and passion for the scientific process.

I would like to thank my thesis committee, Drs. Russell Salter, Robert Ferris, Pawel Kalinski and Todd Reinhart. You have given me excellent training in your labs and critical input into this project. I would also like to thank the past and present members of the Finn lab. They are what drew me to the lab and have become my second family. I would especially like to thank Drs. Anda Vlad and Dan Graziano who spent a lot of time training me when I first joined the lab. Thanks to Pam Beatty and Dr. Kira Gantt for editorial assistance with my thesis. Finally, to Pam Beatty, Mike Turner, Jessica Kettel and Sean Ryan for sharing a room and their humor with me to keep me going through the tough times.

Finally, I would like to thank my fantastic family. To my siblings, Eamon, Flannery, and Aileen, I can't imagine life without you guys even though through childhood I said I wanted to be an only child. We may be weird, but we are our kind of weird. To my parents, I can simply not say enough. You are both such intelligent, funny, and caring people. I would like to thank both of you for giving me a wonderful education and for encouraging me in all my activities, especially in science. Mom, I want to thank you for your love of learning that you passed on to all of us. Daddy, thank you for teaching me both the realities and the joys of medicine. The love you give each other and our family gives each of us the strength to face whatever lies ahead.

1. Introduction

1.1. Immunosurveillance for tumor cells

1.1.1. Interaction between tumor cells and dendritic cells

Since Coley's observations in the early part of the 20th century, that an immune response to a fulminant bacterial infection can also eliminate an established tumor (1), medicine has been interested in the ability of the immune system to combat cancer. Cells of the innate and the adaptive immune system are capable of not only protecting an organism from external threats, but also controlling the internal health of the body by maintaining normal body homeostasis. Tumors are a double challenge to the immune system. They are both a "foreign" threat presented by the transformed phenotype of the tumor cells, as well as a "self" that has lost normal homeostasis. Although there is extensive evidence for tumor immunity as well as for success of immunotherapy of cancer, there are also many examples where the immune system can contribute to tumor growth. Furthermore, the cancer cells growing in the presence of immune cells can develop ways to circumvent normal immune functions. Dendritic cells, as coordinators of the immune response, are very important in ensuring tumor recognition by the immune system, but they can also be hijacked by the tumor for subversion of the anti-tumor responses. In this section, we will discuss the important role for DC in priming effective immune responses to tumors, the changes in tumor cells that can be recognized by DC leading them to alert the immune system to the presence of the tumor, and finally, how the tumor and the tumor microenvironment can divert DC function from what is good for the immune system to what is beneficial for the tumor.

1.1.2. Basic DC biology

DC are sentinels of the immune system. They are bone marrow derived cells that migrate and reside in virtually every organ of the body. In these peripheral sites they can take up antigens from the extracellular space as well as from dying and dead cells. In the steady state, these DC sample self antigens and after a certain period of time migrate to the draining lymphatics. In the lymph node, DC present antigens acquired in the periphery to cells of the adaptive immune system. The DC presenting self antigens generally do not stimulate an inflammatory response due to thymic negative selection of T cells specific for self antigens with the added protection that the DC lack high expression of co-stimulatory molecules. Due to the low expression of co-stimulatory molecules, self-reactive T cells that do escape negative selection would not be stimulated by these DC to proliferate and respond. Instead, the DC must have been activated in the periphery to express high levels of the appropriate co-stimulatory molecules and cytokines to induce antigen specific T cell activation and proliferation.

DC take up antigens through pinocytosis, phagocytosis and receptor mediated endocytosis. However, on immature DC, the majority of the MHC Class II molecules are not found on the cell surface. Instead they are found in intracellular vesicles in association with the molecules HLA-DM and H2-M that stabilize the Class II molecule in preparation for activation (2). Upon activation, peptide is loaded into the MHC Class II molecules and these complexes traffic to the cell membrane thus greatly increasing the surface concentration and preparing the DC to activate CD4⁺ T cells. Before activation, there is still some MHC Class II on the surface but it most likely contains self peptides and is presented without concomitant increase in co-stimulatory molecules. There is very little MHC Class I on immature DC and the levels also increase on activated DC but largely through new protein synthesis (3).

There are distinct DC subtypes in both mouse and human. In humans, the main two subtypes found in circulation are the myeloid (CD11c⁺CD1c⁺) and the plasmacytoid DC (CD123^{high}, BDCA-2⁺, BDCA-4⁺). There are also DC that are derived *in vitro* from monocytes in humans and from bone marrow cells in mice. In general, *in vitro* derived DC are similar to *in vivo* DC but there are distinct differences in the expression of certain receptors and magnitude of cytokine production (4). In mice, the DC subsets are mainly grouped by their expression of CD11c, CD4, and CD8. There are differences between these subtypes in terms of their ability to induce T helper cell (Th) commitment, produce type I interferons and cross-present antigens (5). However, there is also strong evidence that there is a degree of plasticity in these DC so that they do not always simply induce one type of immune response. DC can respond to endogenous signals such as cytokines but also to signals from molecules from pathogens to tailor the type of stimulation to elicit.

1.1.3. DC cytokine production and T cell priming

The activation and polarization of Th cells into Th1 or Th2 cells is determined by three signals. First, the T cell must be stimulated through its T cell receptor (TCR) binding to the correct peptide in the MHC Class II molecule on the DC surface. This is termed signal one. Second, the T cell must receive co-stimulation through its CD28 molecule binding to CD80 and CD86 on the DC. This is termed signal two. Third, the DC gives a polarizing signal to the Th cell by becoming polarized itself in a reaction to the environment in which the DC was activated (6). This is termed signal three. DC that induce Th1 and Th2 polarization are termed DC1 and DC2, respectively. DC1 polarizing molecules include IL-12, IL-23, IL-27, type I interferons, and surface expression of ICAM-1 (7-9). DC2 polarizing signals include CCL2 and OX40 ligand (10, 11). Toll like receptors (TLRs) have also been implicated in determining the polarization of Th cells. DC that have been stimulated with LPS through TLR4 induce a Th1

response, while DC that have been stimulated with Pam3cys, a bacterial lipoprotein antigen, through TLR2 induce a Th2 response. Although both receptors use similar signaling machinery, they differentially modulate members of the MAP kinase family and hence result in different DC cytokine profiles (12). Activated NK cells have also been identified as strong inducers of DC1 phenotype (13). Conversely, DC that have bound immune complexes through their FcyR do not produce IL-12p70, an important Th1 cytokine, and induced T cells to polarize towards a Th2 phenotype (14). These two examples, NK cells and immune complexes, illustrate that the skewing of Th1 and Th2 subsets towards cell mediated and antibody based immune responses, respectively, gives positive feedback to one pathway and negatively regulates the other pathway. Even without the presence of MHC Class II on the tumor, CD4⁺ T cells, especially in their production of IFN- γ , are important for activating other cells that can kill the tumors (15). Interestingly, evidence exists that DC instruct CD8⁺ T cells how to home back to the original site of antigen capture (16). There are numerous reports that indicate that Th2 type T cell responses predominate over Th1 responses in cancer (17-22). In conclusion, the DC are critical in the formation of a strong helper response.

1.1.4. Need for effective DC in cancer

As discussed above, DC are uniquely able to prime naïve T cells (23). It is known that tumors express a variety of proteins either de novo or in aberrant forms that can be recognized by the adaptive immune system (24). To achieve immune stimulation DC must take up tumor antigens, migrate to the lymph nodes and present these antigens to T cells in an immunostimulatory context. Tumor-derived proteins can also be brought into the lymph node through the afferent lymphatics, where they can be taken up by lymph node resident DC. DC sample antigens in their environment through receptor-mediated endocytosis or receptor independent pinocytosis. These antigens are either soluble products from tumor cells, or apoptotic or necrotic tumor cells. As will be discussed below, the origin of the antigen is critically important. For example, apoptotic and necrotic tumor cells can suppress or enhance DC maturation, respectively (25, 26). Both CD8⁺ and CD4⁺ T cells are required for an effective anti-tumor response (23, 27). Most of the experiments to date suggest that to achieve effective destruction of tumors, DC priming of naïve T cells should result in the activation of CD4⁺ helper T cells of the Th1 type and expansion of CD8⁺ T cells capable of direct tumor cell lysis (CTL) (27). DC elicit this type of immunity best in their fully mature state when they produce inflammatory cytokines such IL-12 and express high levels of co-stimulatory molecules.

Tumor antigen specific T cells are found in many cancer patients providing evidence that a certain level of T cell priming does take place during the growth of the tumor (28). However, since the frequency of such cells is usually low and the cancer progresses in spite of their presence, the whole process of T cell priming is considered to be sub-optimal in cancer patients. A whole new field of research has developed toward understanding the reasons for the lack of sufficient T cell help and how this may be improved by ensuring an optimal DC function. These studies have lead to the development of approaches that use *in vitro* manipulated DC as components of vaccines for cancer (29, 30).

DC are also important in the activation of innate immunity. This activation occurs at the tumor site and can be enhanced by DC maturation or activation in response to endogenous danger signals released by the tumor, molecules such as high mobility group box 1 protein (HMGB-1) or uric acid, which will be discussed in more detail below (31-33). Most notably, DC have been shown to activate NK cells that are central to anti-tumor responses. With many

tumors downregulating MHC class I molecule expression as a means of escape from adaptive immunity, it is important to be able to activate NK cells that do not require class I molecules to exert anti-tumor effects (34). DC-derived IL-12 activates both NK and NKT cells to proliferate, produce IFN- γ , and become cytotoxic effector cells (35, 36). DC can deliver indirectly the "help" message to T cells by inducing NK cell cytokine production (13, 37, 38). Furthermore, DC can enhance and direct the migration of other cells of the innate immune system into the body of the tumor by producing chemokines such as CXCL8, CCL4, CCL17, and CCL22 (39).

1.1.5. DC defects in cancer patients

1.1.5.1. Inhibition of maturation and differentiation

There are a variety of mechanisms underlying tumor escape from immune recognition and destruction (40) and many of these involve subverting DC function. Although cancer is associated with chronic inflammation (25, 41-43), once the tumor is established, patients have widespread immunosuppression with fewer circulating DC (44-47). The loss of DC seems to be more pronounced in the myeloid than in the plasmacytoid DC compartment (46, 47). Removal of the tumor can sometimes restore the number of circulating myeloid DC (44, 46, 47). DC can be found in rapidly growing tumors where they usually do not express co-stimulatory molecules CD80 and CD86 and have reduced T cell stimulatory activity (48-51). Tumors can thwart DC development and function by 1) blocking the development of mature and functional DC; 2) increasing the number of immature DC that cannot upregulate MHC class II, co-stimulatory molecules, and inflammatory cytokine production; and 3) inducing production of Gr-1⁺ immature myeloid cells (myeloid suppressor cells) (40, 52). Tumors make TGF- β , IL-10, PGE₂, VEGF and other molecules that exert their effects on DC and other immune cells (53). For example, PGE₂ through its receptor EP2 inhibits DC differentiation and function (54, 55). The recent observation of an abundant population of cells in cancer patients, termed immature myeloid cells (ImC), has helped explain in part the low number and impaired function of DC in some cancer patients. ImC represent an early stage of myeloid and hence DC differentiation. These cells are also found in mouse models of tumors (40, 56). Tumors alter hematopoiesis by the production of factors that induce ImC (57, 58). ImC express Gr-1, CD11b, and low levels of MHC class II and low to no co-stimulatory molecules (59, 60). The induction of Stat3 in myeloid cells is one of the ways that tumors induce this cell population (61). The presence of ImC is bad for anti-tumor immunity not only because it represents the failed development of DC but, in addition, these cells are capable of suppressing IFN- γ production by CD8+ T cells in an antigen specific manner (44).

Another newly discovered reason for insufficient DC in cancer patients is the VEGFinduced recruitment of immature DC to become endothelial cells (62). This is also of interest for basic DC biology because DC have been considered terminally differentiated cells, which is not supported by this observation. This, along with another recent observation that immature DC can become osteoclasts (63), suggests that under certain conditions, such as those present in cancer patients, immature DC can transdifferentiate into other cell types.

The production of VEGF is another way that cancer cells prevent maturation of DC. VEGF causes dysfunctional maturation of DC (*in vitro* and *in vivo*) through impaired NF- κ B activation (64-66), which can be corrected with antibodies against VEGF (67). Furthermore, activation of Stat3 in tumor cells is implicated in upregulation of IL-10 and VEGF, and impaired maturation of DC resulting in T cell tolerance (68). Tumors also make NO, PGE₂, IL-10, and IFN- α , IL-12 p40 homodimers and TGF- β , all of which can lead to the generation of tolerogenic or regulatory T cells (69, 70). Lastly, tumors can induce the expression of molecules on the DC

that are negative regulators of co-stimulation, such as B7-H1 (71) that selectively induces IL-10 production in resting T cells. It can also induce apoptosis of activated T cells (72).

1.1.5.2. Influence on migration

Because the composition and number of DC at the tumor site is often different from that in normal tissue, it is clear that tumors also alter the ability of DC to migrate to and from the tumor environment. Overall, there is an increase in immature DC within the tumor mass as opposed to mature DC that are rarely found within the tumor. Instead, mature DC are found in the peri-tumoral area (73). There are a number of chemokines produced by tumor cells that can attract immature DC, such as CCL2, CCL3, CCL4, CCL5, CCL7, CCL8, CCL20 and CXCL12. Many of these chemokines are not specific for DC and can attract a variety of immune cells to sites of inflammation (74).

Some tumors are able to selectively attract certain DC subsets. This is clear in the case of ovarian cancer, where there is an increase in plasmacytoid DC at the tumor site. This is thought to occur as a result of the production of CXCL12 (SDF-1) chemokine acting on the CXCR4 receptor on plasmacytoid DC (75). Plasmacytoid DC, in the absence of strong activation through type I interferons or toll receptor ligands, promote development of regulatory CD8⁺ T cells (76). These CD8⁺ T cells display poor secondary proliferation and cytolytic function, due in large part to the production of IL-10. They also inhibit activation of bystander naïve CD8⁺ T cells (76).

1.1.5.3. Suppression of function

Another recently documented mechanism by which DC from cancer patients induce weak T cell activation is altered tryptophan catabolism through IDO (indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase) production. IDO is an enzyme that catabolizes tryptophan in an oxidative reaction. Since tryptophan is an essential amino acid, depletion of tryptophan from the local environment by IDO produced by tumor cells and/or tumor resident DC (77) limits proliferation of immune cells in the tumor area. It has also been postulated that the toxic metabolites of tryptophan catabolism, such as quinolinic acid, kynurenine, and 3-hydroxy-anthranilic acid, may play a role in immunosuppression of T cell proliferation (78-80). Interestingly, tumors have hijacked production of IDO as an immune response inhibitor from normal cells involved in immune response regulation. IDO is expressed in subsets of normal myeloid cells, including mouse CD11c⁺CD8a⁺ DC and plasmacytoid DC, and a significant portion of *in vitro* monocyte-derived human DC (81-83). IDO expression by DC correlates with weak T cell proliferation in mixed leukocyte reactions, enhanced apoptosis, and weak responses by TCR transgenic CD8⁺ T cells (82, 84, 85). This effect can be overcome by the addition of 1-methyl-tryptophan or excess tryptophan *in vitro* (86).

Treatment of DC with IL-10, which is produced by a majority of cancer cells, induces T cell anergy (87, 88). T cell anergy is a state where the T cells become unresponsive to secondary stimulation through the TCR even in the presence of co-stimulatory molecule engagement. Anergic T cells can be generated through the lack of co-stimulation or the presence of regulatory cytokines, such as IL-10, during primary stimulation (89). The preponderance of immature DC in cancer would be expected to block T cell stimulation since they have been shown to induce T cell anergy *in vitro* and *in vivo* (90-92). Finally, the tumor specific T cells interacting with DC at the tumor site may be prevented from forming an effective synapse because of the lack of a proper environment (93). Whereas in the lymph node, the architecture is supportive of cell-cell interactions, the large number of stromal cells and high concentration of collagen and

extracellular matrix molecules at the tumor site can prevent the close interactions needed between immune cells. In addition to these specific mechanisms identified to date, there is also a frequently observed general downregulation of the various components of the antigen processing and presentation machinery in DC under the influence of tumor cells (94-97).

Understanding how tumors drive DC dysfunction is vital since preventing or overcoming the DC dysfunction has the potential to lead to tumor rejection. The goal is to understand what mechanisms that the tumor uses to suppress the endogenous immune response and how these can be manipulated to improve the DC function. Another goal is to understand what are the limits of function for DC that have differentiated in the immunosuppressive environment of the tumor. These are the DC that are called upon to respond to cancer vaccines administered to patients with cancer. Effective use of therapeutic vaccines will involve measures that can overcome tumorinduced DC dysfunction.

1.1.6. Do DC recognize cancer cells as abnormal?

The immune system must discriminate between many different stimuli and determine whether to respond by activation of effector cells or establish a state of tolerance and/or anergy. DC appear to play a pivotal role in these decisions by being able to assess, through a variety of cell surface receptors, different stimuli from the tissue environment, and to process other contextual information such as the molecular characteristics and relative concentration of the stimuli (23, 98). Multiple changes in tumor cell protein profiles occur during carcinogenesis. How these altered proteins and other molecules affect DC and the subsequent tumor specific response is a new and growing area of investigation.

There are several examples of proteins released from tumor cells that are recognized by DC. Stress proteins such as heat shock proteins are released during periods of high cell turnover, as seen during tumor growth. It is known, for example, that DC express CD91 which is ligated by the heat shock protein gp96 released by necrotic cells (99-101). By binding to CD91 and activating DC, gp96 sends a danger signal to the immune system. Similarly, HMGB1 and uric acid are released by necrotic cells and represent internal danger signals. The receptors for HMGB1 on the DC are toll-like receptor 2 (TLR2) and RAGE (receptor for advanced glycated end-products) (31, 102). HMGB-1 function is associated with DNA "bending" and when released from necrotic cells it induces maturation of DC (31). Uric acid, which exists in the extracellular environment in the form of monosodium urate, is also perceived as a danger signal by DC that can then transmit that activation signal to the immune system (103).

Proteins can also be differentially posttranslationally modified in tumor cells compared to normal cells and this difference can alert the DC. For example, due to changes in the levels of various glycotransferases, tumor cells can add fewer and/or different sugars to glycoproteins or oversialylate the sugars that have been successfully added. Lower levels of glycosylation expose peptide epitopes that on normal molecules are hidden by large carbohydrate side chains. Tumor specific carbohydrate moieties, such as the Thomsen-Friedenreich (β -Gal-[1->3]- α -GalNAc-Oserine) antigen (TF), also known as the T antigen, and the Tn antigen (α -GalNAc-Oserine/threonine), are recognized by antibodies as tumor markers. Furthermore, these tumorspecific carbohydrates can bind to and crosslink receptors on the surface of immune cells, especially DC and other cells of the innate immune system.

Recognition by DC of new carbohydrate structures on transformed cells can serve as a danger signal to the immune system. One example is recognition by DC of the MUC1 mucin

that is overexpressed on tumor cells and aberrantly glycosylated with tumor specific sugars such as T and Tn described above. It has been shown that tumor forms of MUC1 bind to receptors on the surface of cells of the innate immune system, such as the mannose receptor, sialoadhesin (Siglec-1), and Gal/GalNAc-specific calcium dependent lectins (104-106). Tumor MUC1 can alter the differentiation of monocytes into DC *in vitro* (107). Monocytes co-cultured with MUC1+ tumors or their supernatants in the presence of GM-CSF and IL-4 become DC that express low levels of co-stimulatory molecules and increased IL-10 production. These DC do not make high levels of IL-12 and induce greater number of IL-4 producing CD4⁺T cells (107).

Gangliosides are another family of molecules aberrantly expressed by cancer cells. Gangliosides are sialic acid-containing glycosphingolipids that are components of the plasma membrane. Gangliosides produced by tumor cells differ from those on normal cells. For example, GM3 is the only ganglioside made by normal melanocytes but melanoma cells produce a wide variety of gangliosides (108, 109). These tumor gangliosides have been shown to bind to siglec receptors (110) and impair DC development and function (111). DC matured in the presence of the ganglioside G(D1a) showed decreased levels of co-stimulatory molecules CD40 and CD80 and impaired production of inflammatory cytokines IL-6, IL-12 and TNF- α and were also poor stimulators of T cell proliferation (112).

1.1.7. Summary

Optimal maturation and function of DC are critically important for the development of strong and long-lasting tumor immunity. It is clear from the examples we discussed above, that certain changes that occur during malignant transformation can serve as danger signals picked up by DC and that the DC respond to these changes. However, a stronger immune response is not always the final outcome. The weakened overall immune response in cancer patients appears to

be mostly a result of mechanisms that a tumor develops to divert the DC away from their proper function. Tumors block DC development and suppress DC maturation. Tumors express chemokines that draw immature DC into the suppressive tumor environment. They can even recruit DC to trans-differentiate into endothelial cells as the tumor promotes angiogenesis. They can also block the expression of MHC molecules and co-stimulatory molecules that are important for the induction of a T cell response. By inducing DC to produces cytokines and molecules that block the type 1 immune response, cancer cells prevent the few tumor-specific T cells that do get stimulated from being effective against the tumor. With such a large arsenal of DC subverting mechanisms, it is clear that the stimulation of the immune system against cancers, through such strategies as those discussed, must occur before the tumor overwhelms the body's ability to protect itself.

1.2. Danger signals and pattern recognition receptors

1.2.1. Recognition of molecular motifs as abnormal

Pattern recognition receptors (PRRs) are germline encoded receptors that bind to specific conserved patterns on molecules (113). Originally, Janeway proposed that these patterns recognized by PRR were specifically from pathogens and that these patterns were not found in endogenous molecules (114). However, a second hypothesis was put forward by Matzinger that these PRRs had evolved to recognize "danger signals" from normal cells that were undergoing stress or abnormal death (115). There is strong evidence that both of these hypotheses are correct and yet not mutually exclusive as several of the PRRs can bind to both pathogen derived molecules and host derived molecules. In either case, DC and cells of the innate immune

system play dual roles as protectors against invaders and normal host homeostasis and hence must be able to recognize the differences and similarities between these two groups.

1.2.2. Families of PRRs and their functions

PRRs are categorized into families based on similarities in their structure. The three major families of PRRS are siglecs, C-type lectins, and Toll-like receptors (TLRs). These receptors are expressed on a variety of cells. Cells of hematopoietic origin express very high levels of PRRs as well as a large diversity of types of receptors. There are certain profiles of receptor expression that are characteristic of cells and can depend upon the state of the cell. For example, DC express higher levels of PRRs than T cells and the different DC subsets express a different group of receptors. Furthermore, most PRRs are exclusively found on either mature or immature DC. The three major families of PRRs will be discussed below.

Siglecs are members of the immunoglobin superfamily (I-type lectins) that bind to sialic acid residues with high specificity. There are at least 11 family members in humans that are expressed on a variety of cells including monocytes, macrophages, NK cells, dendritic cells, B cells, and T cells (116). Siglecs all possess a NH₂ terminal Ig domain which contains the sialic acid carbohydrate recognition domain (CRD) (117). Siglec-1, or sialoadhesin, lacks a cytoplasmic signaling region. However the other members of this family have signaling capabilities and contain immunoreceptor tyrosine-based inhibitory motifs (ITIM) (118). ITIM motifs are mainly found in the families of I-type and C-type lectins and block cell activation by promoting dephosphorylatioin reactions through the inhibitory phosphatases SHP-1 and SHP-2 (119). CD83, which is also known as a marker of mature DC, is also a sialic acid binding receptor, however it is an atypical member of this family (120). The ability of Siglecs to bind

sialic acid is sometimes prevented by masking of the sialic acid binding site by interactions with sialic acid containing proteins on the same cell surface as the siglec (117).

The C-type lectin family is made up of 4 subfamilies: the macrophage mannose receptor (MMR) family, the NK receptor family, the Type II receptor family, and the selectins (121). Ligand binding by <u>C</u>-type lectins is $\underline{C}a^{2+}$ dependent. These receptors bind to carbohydrates through their carbohydrate recognition domains (CRDs). Each receptor and each CRD within their extracellular domain has a specificity of binding to certain types and arrangements of sugars. For example, although the C-type lectins mannose receptor and DC-SIGN can both bind mannose, mannose receptor preferentially binds to single mannose residues while DC-SIGN binds to more complexly configured mannose residues. There is also some evidence that the CRD domains might be able to bind lipids and proteins in addition to carbohydrates (122).

Several members of these families have been shown to function as recognition and endocytic receptors on cells of the innate immune system. Mannose receptor and DEC-205 (CD205) are members of the MMR family and function as endocytic receptors. DC-SIGN and BDCA-2, members of the Type II receptor family are also endocytic. Mannose receptor has been shown to deliver antigens to early endosomes and recycle to the surface whereas the other three receptors deliver proteins to late endosomes. C-type lectins can form oligomers on the cell surface and thereby increase and change the avidity of binding to ligands (123, 124). Mannose receptor can be shed from the cell surface of human monocyte-derived DC, especially immature DC (125). As discussed above, there is a difference in C-type lectin expression between subgroups of DC. For example, there are many more C-type lectins expressed by monocyte derived DC than by circulating DC (126). PRRs can recognize pathogen derived molecules such as β -glucan from fungus and HIV but they can also recognize self molecules (127-131). Mannose receptor can recognize lysosome hydrolases and thyroglobulin (132, 133) and DC-SIGN can bind both ICAM-2 and ICAM-3 (134, 135). Mannose receptor engagement has been implicated in the upregulation of cytokines, lysosomal enzymes, reactive oxygen species, and arachidonic acid metabolites (136). The use of antibodies to these receptors that bind but do not induce signaling can increase the processing and presentation of antigens bound to the antibody and increase the number of antigen specific T cells (137).

Members of the lectin family can also synergize or antagonize another family of pattern recognition receptors, the TLRs (138-142). Toll family members mainly bind to motifs expressed by pathogens and induce strong inflammatory signals to the cells. Lectins and TLRs can bind the same molecules although they might deliver differing signals to the cell. There is a hypothesis that binding to lectins alone induces immunosuppression but that binding to both lectins and TLRs induces immune activation (139, 143). There is also some evidence in macrophages that the combination of the uptake of apoptotic bodies in combination with TLR ligand alone (144, 145).

In human DC the myeloid and the plasmacytoid DC have mutually exclusive expression of several TLRs. Myeloid DC express TLR2, TLR3, TLR4, TLR5, TLR6, and TLR8 while plasmacytoid DC express TLR7 and TLR9 (146). TLR7 and TLR9 are expressed by plasmacytoid DC but are generally not expressed by myeloid DC. Plasmacytoid DC, but not myeloid DC, lack TLR4 and hence do not respond to LPS through that pathway. Most TLRs are expressed on the cell surface, but TLR7 and TLR9 are expressed mainly in endosomes. The intracellular localization of these receptors may have evolved to have better access to virus that replicate within the cell. Signaling through TLRs 3, 7, and 9 can induce cross-presentation in DC but TLR4 and TLR2 do not (147). TLRs signal through two basic pathways. One pathway is via the MyD88 adaptor protein and the second pathway is through the Toll-IL-1 receptor domain-containing adaptor inducing IFN- β (TRIF) molecule and the IFN regulatory factor-3 (IRF-3) transcription factor (148). Both pathways lead to the activation of NF- κ B and its translocation to the nucleus.

1.2.3. PRRs can suppress APC function

Many of these receptors, when appropriately triggered, can induce either proinflammatory or anti-inflammatory signals. One example of this is the mannose receptor, CD206. Mannose receptor has been traditionally known as an important endocytic receptor that greatly enhances the presentation of proteins that it binds by DC. However, mannose receptor can function as a receptor for distorted maturation. When bound by the anti-mannose receptor antibody PAM-1, DC display markers of maturation such as expression of CD83 and migration towards CCL19, a CCR7 ligand. However they make an array of cytokines that render the DC unable to polarize CD4⁺ T cells towards a Th1 response (149, 150). Also, mannose receptor, when bound by *Mycobacteria tuberculosis*, can inhibit LPS induced IL-12 production (151).

Other PRRs have also been implicated in blocking activation of DC through various pathways. The C-type lectin DEC-205 has been used to target antigens for immunization to DC *in vivo*. However, targeting an antigen to DEC-205 on DC resulted in the induction of tolerance to that antigen (152, 153). Also, activation of CD4⁺ T cells with anti-CD3 and anti-CD46, a pattern recognition receptor, induced the differentiation of T cells into Tr1 IL-10 producing T cells (154). Engagement of CD33 (Siglec-3) with anti-CD33 antibody on monocytes and myeloid precursors blocks the generation of DC (155). The addition of antibodies for siglec-8 to

eosinophils results in increased apoptosis (156). All of these examples show that simply binding to a PRR does not result in DC activation and a strong inflammatory response. On the contrary, it seems that PRR signal along a continuum of levels that determine whether the DC will induce Th1, Th2, or T regulatory cells once they reach the lymph node.

1.2.4. Motifs on tumor cells that can be recognized by PRRs

As mentioned above, many of the molecules expressed by tumors are different from normal cells. Also, PRRs can bind to and respond to self proteins. So the question becomes, are there abnormal tumor markers that can bind to PRRs and alert the immune response to tumors. With many of these molecules, the consequences of PRR engagement are still unknown. For example, the tumor antigen MUC1 binds to the mannose receptor and although it is known that this subverts its endocytic processing, it is unknown how this binding changes the phenotype of the DC. However, it is clear that these molecules can either positively or negatively regulate DC activation and that the sum of these tumor molecules will determine the overall response.

Tumor derived molecules can suppress the immune response to tumors as exemplified by gangliosides. Gangliosides are recognized by cells of the innate immune system and function in suppression of the anti-tumor response. Gangliosides are tumor antigens that are sphingolipids and are present on tumors that arise from the neuroectoderm. The pattern of gangliosides shed from normal cells and malignant cells differs significantly(157). Gangliosides can bind to members of the siglec family through their sialic acids (110). Gangliosides have been shown to inhibit the development of human monocytes into DC *in vitro* (112, 158). DC differentiated in the presence of gangliosides have a decreased ability to uptake and present antigen and to stimulate T cells (112, 158). Monocyte activation is also inhibited as well as their ability to stimulate T cells (112). When produced by renal cell carcinomas, gangliosides can induce the degradation of NF- κ B in T cells (159). The ganglioside GD3, can inhibit NK cell cytotoxicity

through its interaction with siglec-7 (160). Interestingly, although many gangliosides were capable of inhibiting the function of PBMCs (161, 162), not all gangliosides inhibited DC differentiation (157). The inhibition of PBMC function was largely dependent upon the carbohydrate side chains and the length of the underlying ceramide structure (161, 162).

Other tumor molecules can activate the immune system. These include heat shock proteins and uric acid. The function of heat shock proteins (HSPs) is to ensure the proper folding of proteins intracellularly. However, when a cell dies, the HSPs are released along with the proteins that are bound to them. HSPs can bind to endocytic receptors, such as CD91, that can activate DC and also increase the uptake of proteins bound to the HSPs. Uric acid is released from cells undergoing necrotic cell death but not apoptosis. Maturation is enhanced by uric acid and in turn enhances the DC's ability to stimulate T cells (32, 163, 164). Further work has shown that tumor cells undergoing rejection have elevated levels of uric acid removing uric acid slowed the rejection process (33).

1.2.5. Summary

DC are poised to sense and respond to their environment through pattern recognition receptors. These receptors bind to a variety of ligands present on pathogens and endogenous molecules. Although there is some controversy as to the evolutionary drive behind these receptors, it is clear that they have the capability to direct the immune response. The three main families of PRRs are siglecs, C-type lectins and TLRs. Their expression is determined by the cell type and cell's state of activation. Sometimes their signaling can synergize and sometimes they antagonize each other. Tumors express molecules that bind to PRRs, however it is not yet known what signal many of these ligand-receptor interaction give to the immune system.

1.3. Chemotaxis

1.3.1. Normal DC chemotaxis

19

Normal trafficking of DC involves the movement of DC into peripheral tissue and upon antigen uptake, the migration of DC to secondary lymphoid tissue to stimulate naïve T cells. DC migration is controlled by chemokines and their receptors as well as adhesion molecules. The array of chemokine receptors expressed by DC changes in response to their maturation state. No one chemokine has been implicated in the movement of DC from the bone marrow to the peripheral tissues and/or how extravasation occurs for DC. However, in mice, it has been shown that immature but not mature DC migrate to a site of inflammation beginning at 6 hours and that this migration is dependent upon ligands for endothelial selectins (165, 166). Chemokine receptors that are on immature DC are down-regulated upon maturation by reduction of receptors at the membrane and by reductions in mRNA expression (167-170). CCR7 is critical for the migration of DC to secondary lymphoid tissue, which produce the CCR7 ligands CCL21 and CCL19, and is only present upon mature DC (168, 169). Another example of a chemokine receptor that is differentially expressed on immature and mature DC is the fMLP receptor, which is only expressed on immature DC. Some receptors are expressed on both immature and mature DC, such as C5aR (171).

Chemoattractants include formyl peptides (172, 173), proteins from the complement pathway(173), lipid metabolites (174), and the chemokine superfamily. Within the chemokine superfamily there are subgroups based on the presence of cysteine motifs: the CXC, CC, C, and CX₃C chemokine subgroups (also known as the α , β , γ , and δ subfamilies, respectively) (175-177). The CXC family is subdivided into ELR (glutamic acid/leucine/arginine) and non-ELR containing groups (178). In general, ELR containing chemokines attract neutrophils while non-ELR CXC chemokines attract lymphocytes (175, 179). Two chemokines have been identified that have mucin-like domains, CXCL16 and CX₃CL1/fractalkine, although the mucin-like

domains are not thought to contribute to their chemotactive properties (178). It is interesting to note that these two chemokine can also act as adhesion molecules in their membrane bound form and when cleaved from the cell surface, they act as chemokines. Finally, the enzyme, TACE, which is known to cleave MUC1 from the cell surface, also acts to cleave CX_3CL1 from the cell surface (180, 181).

Chemokines can generally be thought of as being of two families in terms of function. Homeostatic chemokines are important for the normal homing of DC from the bone marrow to the tissue and then from the tissue to the secondary lymphoid organs. Inflammatory chemokines are induced by microbes or cellular damage and draw cells from the surrounding areas and circulation to sites of damage. Some chemokines belong to both groups and are called "dual function" chemokines (182). Chemokines can bind to glucosaminoglycans, part of the extracellular matrix, that stabilize them for function *in vivo*. Without this binding site, many chemokines fail to function. Chemokine function is also regulated by extracellular proteases such as matrix metalloproteases and elastases (182). Cleavage of chemokines by proteases can lead to antagonist formation, block of function, or enhancement of function. Chemokines can also act as antagonist of other chemokines. For example, ligands for CXCR3 are antagonists for CCR3 (183).

DC constitutively express CCL22 (MDC), CCL15 (MIP- 1γ), and DC chemokine 1 (DC-CK1) (184-186). In response to TLR activation and other inflammatory signals, DC can make CXCL8, CCL3, CCL4, CCL5, and CXCL10 and there seems to be some specificity in which of these are induced depending upon the TLR that is stimulated (170, 187, 188). Mature myeloid DC, but not plasmacytoid DC, can also make high levels of CCL22 and CCL17 (TARC) (39, 189). The production of CCL17, CCL18, CCL19 and CCL22 by mature DC functions to attract

T and B cells (190-192). DC, in general, are excellent chemokine producers and can produce log-fold greater amounts of chemokines than many other cells (189).

1.3.2. Chemokine receptors

Chemokine receptors are G protein-coupled seven-transmembrane receptors. The Nterminus is extracellular and, in addition to the seven transmembrane domains, there are three intracellular loops and three extracellular loops. The C-terminus is intracellular and contains serine and threonine phosphorylation sites. The chemokine receptors can also function in other capacities besides chemotaxis. For example, CCR4 and CCR5 serve as co-receptors for HIV (177). These receptors are usually sensitive to inhibition by pertussis toxin. Amongst chemokine receptors, there is a phenomenon known as heterologous desensitization. This basically means that stimulation through one chemokine receptor can desensitize the cell to stimulation through another chemokine receptor for a period of time (193). Chemokine receptors also undergo homologous desensitization when stimulated. There is also evidence for other receptors affecting chemokine function. For example, Partida-Sanchez et al. showed that CD38 on DC is critical to the function and Ca^{2+} flux of many chemokine receptors (194). There is also a great deal of promiscuity in terms of ligand binding as many of the chemokine receptors have multiple binding partners.

The reception of a chemotactic signal results in the formation of a pseudopod at the leading edge of the cell and a uropod at the retracting edge of the cell (195). While the pseudopod is being formed at the leading edge of the cell, the formation of pseudopods at the lateral edges is repressed. Unstimulated DC lack polarity and although there is a constant movement of the cell membrane termed "membrane ruffling," there are no true pseudopods present. The majority of

studies in eukaryotic cell chemotaxis have been studied in neutrophils. The description below is based on neutrophil chemotaxis but, in general, should be representative of signaling in the DC as well. The leading edge pseudopod is enriched in actin filaments while the uropod is enriched in myosin filaments. Even when actin polymerization is blocked, the chemokine gradient is still recognized as shown by the localization of phosphatidlyinositol-3,4,5-triphosphate and its regulating enzymes at different membrane regions relative to the gradient (196). Although most chemokine receptors are G protein-coupled, the chemokine-chemokine receptor interaction can also activate pathways independent of G proteins such as Ca²⁺ flux, receptor phosphorylation, MAPK pathway activation and STAT pathway activation (197-199). Once a chemotactic signal is received, several proteins that contain a pleckstrin-homology (PH) domain are recruited from the cytosol to the plasma membrane at the leading edge (196, 200, 201). The binding of PH domain containing proteins, such as protein kinase B/Akt, results in the local accumulation of phosphatidylinositol-3,4-bisphosphate and phosphatidylinositol-3,4,5-triphosphate. Rho-family GTPases, especially Rac and Cdc42, play a role in inducing actin polymerization. Myosin is regulated by a kinase, myosin regulatory light chain kinase (MLCK), which is in turn activated by Ca²⁺ and Rho-stimulated kinase (ROCK) (195).

Human myeloid DC express a variety of chemokine receptors summarized in Table 1. The expression of these receptors changes with maturation. Even though some receptors are expressed on both mature and immature DC, this does not always mean that they are functional on both. For example, CXCR4 is on immature and mature myeloid DC but was recently found to only function on immature DC. There are few chemokine receptors that are known to be present and functional on plasmacytoid DC. They respond to a distinct set of cytokines from myeloid DC as they are not typically found in peripheral tissue like myeloid DC. The plasmacytoid DC do not respond to inflammatory chemokines but do respond to the lymph node homing chemokines. One plasmacytoid DC chemokine receptor is ChemR23. ChemR23 is also expressed on human myeloid DC but not on Langerhans cells. ChemR23 is bound by the chemokine chemerin and can induce the trans-endothelial migration of plasmacytoid and myeloid DC (202). Another chemokine receptor on the plasmacytoid DC is CXCR4 and plasmacytoid DC respond to its ligand CXCL12.

Chemokine Receptors on Immature DC	Chemokine Receptors on Mature DC
CXCR1 (170, 203)	CXCR4 (170, 205)
CXCR2 (203)	CXCR5 (190)
CXCR4 (170, 203-206)	CCR2 (213)
CCR1 (170, 203, 204, 206)	CCR4 (184)
CCR2 (170, 203, 204)	CCR7 (168-170, 214, 215)
CCR3 (204, 206)	Platelet-activating factor receptor (PAFR)
CCR4 (170, 204)	(174)
CCR5 (170, 203-206)	C5aR (171)
CCR6 (169, 207-212)	
Platelet-activating factor receptor (PAFR)	
(174)	
Formyl peptide receptor (171)	
C5aR (171)	

Table 1: Chemokine receptor expression on human dendritic cells

1.3.3. Modulation of DC chemotaxis by tumors

The effects of tumors on DC migration was briefly discussed in section 1. In addition to the chemokines discussed there, chemerin that attracts plasmacytoid DC, was initially discovered in tumor cells. It is not known if chemerin acts *in vivo* at the tumor site but this is likely to be the case (216).

DC chemotaxis could also be downregulated at tumor sites. Several cytokines and prostaglandins can inhibit DC migration. DC exposed to IL-10, IL-4 and the prostaglandin PG(D)₂ did not upregulate CCR7 and failed to respond to inflammatory chemokines (217-219). Furthermore, having more DC at a tumor site might seem to be helpful to the anti-tumor immune response since they could ingest and present tumor-derived antigens, but this is not always true. In fact, when the potent DC chemokine CCL20 (MIP-3 α) was transfected into a tumor cells that were transplanted into rats, the tumors actually grew faster despite a huge influx in immature DC (220). Without a strong activating signal, these DC remained immature and failed to induce a strong anti-tumor response. CCL2 and CCL5 have also been implicated in drawing immune cells towards tumors and contributing to tumor growth (221-223).

1.3.4. Self proteins as chemotactic factors

Although all of the classical chemokines are in reality "self" proteins, they are distinctly different from the chemotactic factors discussed here. Classical chemokines are small (~ 8kDa), dependent upon cysteine residues, and bind to traditional chemokine receptors. However, self protein chemoattractants have a variety of structures and bind to receptors that may not be be considered part of the chemokine receptor family or may serve another well known function. An example of this is norepinephrine and its receptor α_{1b} -adrenergic receptor. Norepinephrine and its receptor are traditionally thought of as neurotransmitters, however, α_{1b} -adrenergic receptor is also expressed on immature DC and norepinephrine can induce both chemokinesis and
chemotaxis (224). Many of these self protein chemokines have been identified recently and to illustrate the variety amongst this group, several interesting examples are discussed below.

 β -defensing are anti-microbial peptides that can also act as chemokines. They are recognized by CCR6. CCR6 is present on immature DC, resting memory CD4⁺ T cells and some B cells. At concentrations approximately 10-100 fold lower than their effective microbicidal concentratioin (μ M), β -defensing can induce chemotaxis of CCR6+ cells (210). Tyrosyl tRNA synthetase has also been reported to be chemotactic for neutrophils (225, 226) Other aminoacyl tRNA sythetases have also been found to be chemotactic for immature DC, activated monocytes, and T cells (227, 228). Interestingly these aminoacyl tRNA synthetases can also be targets of antibodies in autoimmune diseases. CCR5 has been identified as the receptor for histidyl tRNA synthetase (227, 228) and CCR3 has been identified as the receptor for asparaginyl tRNA synthetase (228). Two other autoantigens, the retinal autoantigen S-Antigen, and the interphotoreceptor retinoid binding protein, involved in uveitis were demonstrated to be chemotactic for immature DC and lymphocytes. These antigens work through CXCR5 and CXCR3 or CXCR3, respectively (229). FRPL1 (formyl peptide receptor-like 1) has been identified as a receptor for serum amyloid A, which is a chemoattractant for leukocytes (230-233).

1.3.5. Summary

DC chemotaxis is critical to DC function. DC normally circulate from the bone marrow, through the blood stream to peripheral tissue and, upon activation or steady state maturation, to the secondary lymphoid tissues. DC make large amounts of chemokines, including inflammatory chemokines, when stimulated with pro-inflammatory triggers. They also express a variety of canonical chemokine receptors, although the expression profile of these receptors

26

changes drastically upon DC maturation. Self proteins, which do not fit into one of the classical chemokine families, have been shown capable of attracting cells. Tumors can also alter DC chemotaxis although it is unclear yet whether the chemotactic factors that they release differ from chemokines found under normal conditions.

1.4. MUC1

1.4.1. MUC1 biochemistry and cell biology

1.4.1.1. MUC1 genetics

The human mucin 1, MUC1, is located on the long arm of chromosome 1 (1q21-24) and is 4-7 kb in length. It is also known as polymorphic epithelial mucin (PEM), peanut reactive urinary mucin (PUM), and episialin. The gene is polymorphic mainly in the region of variable number of tandem repeats (VNTR) in the extracellular portion of MUC1 within exon 2. Amongst the human alleles, the length of this repeat region ranges from approximately 25 to 125 repeats of 60 bp (234, 235). There is also some variation in the actual repeat sequence within individual repeat domains (236). MUC1 contains 7 exons. The major form of MUC1 uses all 7 exons although splice variants do exist (237). There is a large amount of variation in the tandem repeat region in mammals, however there is great conservation in the transmembrane domain and cytoplasmic tail. This conservation suggests that these regions are critical to the normal function of MUC1.

There is some instability in chromosome 1 in cancer patients. At 1q21 there is a significant increase in chromosomal alterations in cancer cells. These alterations include alterations at 1q42-43 and 1q 33-35 in the region of the MUC1 gene (238). There are also alterations in the introns of MUC1 (239) as well as the exons (240, 241). These alterations in exons can lead to different splice variants of MUC1 (240, 241).

The control of MUC1 gene expression is not clearly defined although several critical regions have been identified within the promoter region. Two DNase I hypersensitivity sites (DHS) were identified in the 5' region in both humans and MUC1 transgenic mice (242). In the 5' region there are binding sites for general transcription factors such as SP1 and AP-1 as well as an E box that function in the regulation of MUC1 (243, 244). Indole-3- carbinol, a chemical known to have a chemopreventive effect for cancer, down-regulates MUC1 gene and protein expression (245). Erb-B2, as a homodimer, has been implicated as an inhibitor of MUC1 expression (246, 247). This is especially interesting because the activation of the proto-oncogene Erb-B2 occurs in c-Neu tumors and many breast cancers. Erb-B2 is the target of antibody based therapy in humans although there is no data at present to suggest what the effects of this therapy has on MUC1 expression.

There are also possible consensus sequences for hormone receptor binding. In fact, in human endometrium there is regulation of MUC1 expression during different phases of endometrial growth and during embryo implantation (248). Similarly, in the rabbit, the levels of the rabbit homologue of MUC1 were increased by progesterone in the endometrium although progesterone did not affect the level of expression of rabbit MUC1 in the cervix (249). There are conflicting reports on whether tamoxifen, a selective estrogen receptor modulator, can inhibit MUC1 expression in cancer cells (250-252) Estradiol was found to increase MUC1 expression as measured by [³H] glucosamine incorporation into MUC1 (251, 252). Phorbol myristate acetate (PMA), a phorbol ester and protein kinase C activator, was also able to induce MUC1 expression which was inhibitable by bisindolylmaleimide, a protein kinase C inhibitor (251).

Several other inducers of MUC1 expression in the cytokine families have been defined. Tumor necrosis factor- α (TNF- α) and interferon- γ (IFN- γ) have both been shown to induce MUC1 expression through a κ B binding site in the MUC1 promoter (253-255). IFN- α could also increase MUC1 expression although not to the level that IFN- γ could induce (255). There is also a STAT-binding element in the promoter (253, 256). IFN- γ and IL-6, by activating STATs, are able to increase MUC1 expression (256). Furthermore, in many cancer cells there is constitutive activation of members of the STAT family. In particular, STAT3 is often constitutively activated and has been shown to up-regulate MUC1 expression (257). IL-7 and IL-15 have recently been observed to upregulate MUC1 expression in primary human T cells (258).

1.4.1.2. MUC1 structure

MUC1 is transcribed as a single messenger RNA and further translated as a single protein chain. Upon protein synthesis, the large single chain is cleaved near the C-terminus of the protein at a Gly-Ser protein bond (259). Mutagenesis of this site does not affect overall MUC1 expression at the cell surface but it does block the cleavage of the initial MUC1 protein chain in the endoplasmic reticulum (259). The two proteins remain associated despite the lack of covalent linkage between the two sub-units. The tandem repeat region is contained within the larger N-terminal fragment that is also the majority of the protein in the extracellular region. The C-terminal fragment is significantly smaller and contains the transmembrane and cytoplasmic tail regions. The extracellular portion of the C-terminal fragment is only 65 a.a. in length. The overall structure of MUC1 as it is expressed on the cell surface is shown in Figure 1.

There are several MUC1 splice variants. The splice variant MUC1/Y, which contains the transmembrane and cytoplasmic portions of MUC1 but very little of the extracellular domain, can bind to two other splice variants of MUC1, MUC1/SEC and MUC1/REP. MUC1/REP and MUC1/SEC are made up of the extracellular domain of MUC1 without the transmembrane and

cytoplasmic domains (260). The interaction between MUC1/Y and MUC1/SEC leads to phosphorylation of the cytoplasmic tail of MUC1/Y and changes in cell morphology (260). Splice variants of MUC1 are also overexpressed on cancer cells and can affect tumorigenesis. MUC1/Y overexpression is correlated with increased tumorigenic potential of DA3 mouse mammary epithelial cells (261).

The majority of the tandem repeats of MUC1 are comprised of the sequence PDTRPAPGSTAPPAHGVTSA. The secondary structure of the tandem repeat region is a polyproline β -turn helix-like formation. Within each repeat there is a hydrophilic region (PDTRPAP) with 2 β -helices and a hydrophobic region (262, 263). The structure of the tandem repeat region is very rigid and not affected by the number of repeats present (264).



Figure 1: The structure of normal MUC1.

The cytoplasmic tail is colored purple followed by the transmembrane domain colored green. The extracellular non-VNTR region (pink) contains sites for possible *N*-linked glycosylation (N). The VNTR region (blue) has a high concentration of *O*-linked carbohydrates represented by the circles and lines. The N-terminal domain is colored tan.

The allelic variation in the number of repeats within the VNTR region has been associated with several diseases. Shorter alleles have been associated with gastric cancer and its premalignant condition incomplete intestinal metaplasia, and *H. pylori* infection (265-267).

Longer alleles have been associated with susceptibility to acne and with complete intestinal metaplasia of the stomach (266, 268). Individuals heterozygous in the MUC1 VNTR region have a lower incidence of chronic atrophic gastritis and intestinal metaplasia, which are premalignant conditions for gastric adenocarcinoma (266).

Shedding of the extracellular portion of MUC1 occurs in cancer cells and in uterine cells during the receptive phase of implantation. Several enzymes have been implicated as the MUC1 "sheddase". In rabbit endometrium, a transmembrane metalloprotease, a disintegrin, and metalloprotease (ADAM) 9 may be responsible for localized MUC1 loss during implantation (269). In a human uterine cell line, TNF- α induced MUC1 shedding. This shedding was partially mediated through protein kinase C (PKC) and was inhibited by a metalloprotease inhibitor, a TNF- α protease inhibitor (TAPI) and tissue inhibitor of metalloprotease (TIMP)-3 but not by TIMP-1 or a variety of serine, threonine or aspartyl protease inhibitors (254). Phorbol 12-mystirate 13-acetate also induced MUC1 shedding which was inhibited by TAPI as well as by TIMP-3 (270). The enzyme responsible for these effects was identified as tumor necrosis factor-a converting enzyme (TACE)/ADAM 17 (270). The tyrosine phosphatase inhibitor vanadate was also found to increase MUC1 shedding even in TACE deficient cells. This activity was blocked by TIMP-2 and TIMP-3 but not by TIMP-1. The enzyme responsible for this MUC1 sheddase activity is the membrane-type matrix metalloprotease 1 (MT1-MMP) (271).

1.4.1.3. MUC1 signaling

The intracellular cytoplasmic tail of MUC1 contains several tyrosines that can be phosphorylated and contribute to intracellular signaling (272-275). Of the seven intracellular tyrosines, Y(20), Y(46), Y(60) and Y(29) were activated by the binding of anti-CD8 antibody to

a fusion protein of the CD8 extracellular region with the MUC1 cytoplasmic tail (276). This same fusion protein was used to show that phosphorylation of MUC1 results in the activation of ERK1/2, but not SAPK/JNK, or ERK5 (277). Y(20) and Y(60) are required for efficient endocytosis of MUC1 from the cell surface (278).

When the tyrosines in the MUC1 tail are phosphorylated they are potential binding sites for the SRC homology 2 (SH2) domains of many kinases including c-Src and Grb2/SOS (279, 280). Src phosphorylates Y(46) and the Y(20) site can be phosphorylated by ζ -associated protein 70 (ZAP-70) (280, 281). The association of Src with MUC1 blocks the binding of another kinase, GSK3 β . Once Src phosphorylates MUC1, MUC1 has increased binding to β catenin (280). The cytosolic tail of MUC1 can associate with glycogen synthase kinase 3 β (GSK3 β) and β -catenin (282, 283). GSK3 β phosphorylates a serine (S(44)) near the β -catenin binding site which decreases β -catenin binding to MUC1 (283).

MUC1 expressed in Jurkat and primary T cells becomes phosphorylated upon TCR engagement (281). Upon phosphorylation, MUC1's cytoplasmic tail associates with lck tyrosine kinase. Knocking down MUC1 expression in T cells with small interfering RNA (siRNA) leads to inhibition of downstream signaling upon TCR activation including lower level of Ca^{2+} flux and ERK1/2 phosphorylation (281). This leads to lower levels of expression of CD69, less proliferation and decreased IL-2 production by the T cell (281).

In other cell types, MUC1 has been shown to act through other signaling pathways as well. Transfection of MUC1 into fibroblasts resulted in an increase in activated Akt and Bad which was mediated through the activation of phophoinositide-3-kinase upstream. Furthermore, in these cells, MUC1 prevented apoptosis and increased expression of the anti-apoptotic protein Bcl-XL (284). MUC1 can associate with all members of the erbB family of receptors and the

addition of erbB ligands induce MUC1 cytoplasmic tail phosphorylation (285). This pathway results in the activation of ERK1/2. MUC1 can associate and co-immunoprecipitates with adenomatous polylposis coli (APC) (286). APC downregulates β -catenin signaling and is decreased in colon and breast carcinomas. The interaction between APC and MUC1 is increased by the addition of epidermal growth factor and is increased in cancerous and metastatic cells compared to normal breast tissue (286). MUC1⁺ cells may also be more sensitive to FasL induced apoptosis by an upregulation of Fas expression on their cell surface in response to FasL (287). Finally, upon binding intracellular adhesion molecule-1 (ICAM-1), signaling through MUC1 causes Ca²⁺ flux in the cell. This MUC1-ICAM-1 signal involves a Src family kinase, lipid rafts, and phospholipase C but not MAP kinase (288).

1.4.1.4. Function of MUC1

The normal role of MUC1 is not clear although the role of mucins in general has been hypothesized to be to protect the epithelial cells from damage or pathogens. However, many studies have been done to look at the function of eukaryotic homologues of MUC1. MUC1 homologues in eukaryotes such as *Leishmania major* and *Trypanosoma cruzi* show that these mucins are involved with attachment and invasion (289). In *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*, the MUC1 homologue is critical for pseudohyphal differentiation and invasive growth (290).

A study of the expression of mouse Muc1, which shares homology with human MUC1 in the cytoplasmic tail and transmembrane domain but very little with the extracellular domain, in embryos showed that Muc1 expression was correlated with the epithelial differentiation of many organs such as the lung, pancreas, and salivary glands (291). Muc1 synthesis also increased with time indicating that mouse Muc1 expression is controlled both temporally and spatially. In the hamster, the MUC1 homologue was downregulated by squamous cell differentiation (292).

33

There are pathologies present in the mucl null mice that lack the murine homologue of human MUC1. These mice, when kept in non-barrier animal facilities, have significant fetal loss during the post-implantation period. This is accompanied by a large number of necrotic decidual cells in the uterus (293). There is controversial evidence that Mucl null mice, also in non-barrier facilities, had a propensity to develop blepharitis and conjunctivitis (294, 295). Mucl null mice had a slower rate of cell growth in tumors induced by the polyoma middle T antigen (296). In a mouse model of cystic fibrosis, Mucl was shown to play an important role in intestinal blockage caused by mucus. In the Mucl null/cystic fibrosis mouse, there was less obstruction and these animals showed better survival on solid foods (297). Furthermore, mucl knockout mice show decreased uptake and absorption of cholesterol from the intestine and a decrease in the formation of gall stones (298, 299). The lower reproductive tract of Mucl null mice was more susceptible to infections, mainly caused by opportunistic pathogens, when kept in normal animal husbandry. However, the endometrium of mucl null mice was better at attaching to blastocyst than wild type endometrium (300).

In humans MUC1 is expressed by a vast number of tissues, usually in the ductal epithelial cells. A few examples are listed below. MUC1 is expressed normally in the distal convoluted tubules and in the collecting ducts of the kidney (301). It is expressed by the parotid and submandibular and minor salivary (302, 303). MUC1 is expressed throughout the entire tracheobronchial epithelium and the collecting ducts in the lung but not in the submucosal glands or bronchioles (304, 305). MUC1 is expressed by the mucous cells in the epithelial layer of the stomach and neck of the antrum and in the body of the stomach in the pyloric and oxynthic glands (306, 307). MUC1 is expressed by the stratified squamous epithelia of the conjuctiva and cornea of the eye (308).

There are some data that provide clues to the role of MUC1 in humans. MUC1 is expressed around areas of ulceration in the gut suggesting that it may play a role in either wound healing or ulceration (309). MUC1 has also been associated with epithelial cell differentiation in humans in organs such as the lungs (310). MUC1 may also be selectively expressed during erythropoeisis in humans indicating that it participates not only in the formation of epithelial cells but also hematopoetic cells (311) MUC1 transfection into MUC1 negative cell lines was associated with reduced cell cohesion and enhanced migration on type I collagen coated surfaces as well as altered cell morphology when grown in three-dimensional type I collagen gels (312, 313). MUC1 has also been implicated in regulating the stress response to reactive oxygen species by upregulating anti-oxidant enzymes (314).

1.4.1.5. MUC1 glycosylation

MUC1 is heavily glycosylated in normal tissue. The VNTR region contains five possible sites of *O*-linked glycosylation. In normal MUC1, these sites are glycosylated as MUC1 passes through the Golgi compartment and further glycosylated upon recycling of MUC1 form the cell surface, back through the Golgi compartment. There are also sites of *N*-linked glycosylation in the extracellular portion of MUC1 near the transmembrane domain. The level of glycosylation of MUC1 in normal cells is so extensive that the peptide backbone of the VNTR region is hidden.

Glycotransferases and glycosidases add or remove carbohydrate residues, respectively, and the levels of these enzymes within a cell varies during differentiation and malignant transformation. The presence of carbohydrates on a molecule not only serves as a possible ligand for receptors but it also changes the overall physical properties, such as charge and mass, of the protein. Normal MUC1 has a larger proportion of core-2 based *O*-glycans (Gal β 1,3GalNAc-β1,6GlcNAc) and tumor MUC1 has a greater portion of core-1 based *O*-glycans(Galβ1,3GalNAc) (315).

The addition and structure of oligosaccharides changes drastically in malignant cells (316). There is a general increase in certain residues such as the Tn antigen (GalNAc), the T antigen, (Gal β 1-3GalNAc), sialyl-Tn, and the Lewis blood group antigens (316). The alterations occur because of alterations in the profile of glycotransferases and sialyltransferases within the Golgi compartment of the cancer cells. These changes in the pattern of carbohydrate residues occurs in diseases that put patients at high risk for cancer as well. Colonic and intestincal epithelia from patients with inflammatory bowel disease show increased levels of the Tn and T antigens, a decrease in sulfation, and an overall increase in the sialylation of surface proteins (317). The addition of carbohydrates to MUC1 induces a more rigid and extended structure to the peptide backbone (263, 318). Furthermore, there is some evidence that the carbohydrate residues and the peptide backbone can form hydrogen bonds that can also alter the conformation of the molecule (318). The addition of glycosylation to MUC1 can protect the peptide backbone amine groups from solvent exchange.

To study the complex process of glycosylation, several fusion proteins and truncated forms of the MUC1 VNTR region have been used. Using a probe of six tandem repeats containing a secretory signal and a tag for purification, Hanisch *et al.* were able to study the carbohydrate side chains added to MUC1 by a variety of tumor cells (319). In general, no glycans containing more than two sialic acids or modified with sulfate or phosphate were found with any of the tumor cell lines tested (319). Also, there was a tendency to a higher density of glycans, although of shorter length, on tumor cell expressed MUC1 than lactating milk MUC1 (319). However, each cell line had a unique pattern of glycans expressed. Using enzymes from the lysates of pancreatic tumor cells, only two out of the five sites were glycosylated *in vitro* (GV<u>T</u>SA and GS<u>T</u>AP) although this does not rule out that other sites are glycosylated *in vivo* (320). The addition of GalNAc to these sites was very dependent upon the primary amino acid sequence and the relative position of the glycosylated amino acid within the repeat. The addition of monosaccharides or disaccharides to serines/threonines in the repeat can enhance or block the addition of sugars to the other possible sites of glycosylation (321). In MUC1 derived from human milk, the use of all 5 potential sites of glycosylation per repeat can be found (322).

MUC1 glycosylation affects its presentation to the adaptive immune system by DC. Truncation of O-glycans on MUC1 inhibits the cell surface expression of MUC1 and upregulates its recycling through clathrin-mediated endocytosis (323). When comparing synthetic unglycosylated MUC1 to forms glycosylated by tumor cells, DC, in both mouse and human, were only capable of degrading the unglycosylated MUC1 (324). The main sites of cleavage, likely by the protease cathepsin L, for the synthetic 100mer unglycosylated form were at the His-Gly (PA<u>HG</u>VT) and at the Thr-Ser (GV<u>TS</u>AP) residues within the repeat. If short sugars such as Tn (GalNAc) or T antigens (Gal β 1-3GalNAc) are present, they are not removed although they do block the cleavage sites if they are joined to residues adjacent to the cleavage sites. This last point explains why the tumor forms are not degraded by DC and is in accordance with several other papers (105, 325-327) looking at MUC1 processing by DC. Several groups have attempted to immunize against these carbohydrate antigens alone and are successful at generating antibody responses but no T cell responses (328, 329). In general, the addition of these tumor specific glycans to the MUC1 backbone proved to be a better vaccine than the glycans alone or glycans bound to a non-specific peptide backbone (330). To generate a T cell response, the carbohydrate antigen needs to be bound to a peptide capable of binding within the MHC clefts.

Complexly tumor glycosylated MUC1 is not processed for presentation on MHC Class II and fails to stimulate CD4⁺ T cells (325). Unglycosylated MUC1 and MUC1 with short sugars, such as Tn, can elicit anti-MUC1 CD4⁺ T cell responses (325, 327). As MUC1 becomes more glycosylated, the ability of DC to stimulate MUC1 specific CTL decline (326). However, unlike for MHC Class II presentation, highly glycosylated MUC1 was able to be processed and presented on MHC Class I, albeit at low levels (325, 326). Natural antibodies to MUC1 from patients with breast cancer were more reactive to MUC1 with short glycans than to the completely unglycosylated MUC1. However, upon vaccination with the unglycosylated form, the predominant MUC1 specific antibodies were to the unglycosylated form (331).

These carbohydrate antigens on MUC1 have been shown to play a role in carcinogenesis. The loss of sialyl Lewis X epitopes on MUC1 has been implicated in allowing tumor emboli to pass through the vasculature without binding to endothelial cells (332) The use of the inhibitor benzyl-N-acetyl-alpha-D-galactosamine, an inhibitor of O-linked glycosylation, in a temporal manner causes the loss of sialic acid residues followed by T antigen residues from newly produced MUC1. This loss increases the MUC1⁺ cells adherence to Type I collagen (333). Blocking extension of carbohydrate branching on mucins has been shown to increase the binding of cancer cells to a macrophage cell line and peritoneal murine macrophages (106).

Sialic acid residues can be added to both *O*-linked and *N*-linked glycans. They add a negative charge to the protein and hence can alter the binding capabilities of the protein. Sialic acids can also be recognized as ligands for receptors such as the siglec and selectin families of receptors. Sialylation can terminate the ability of a receptor to bind a protein such as with the galectin family of receptors. The addition of sialic acid terminates the ability to add further sugars to the carbohydrate chain and thus it is classified as a terminal sugar. An increase in the

cell surface levels of $\alpha 2$,6-sialylation increased binding of cancer cells to collagen, decreased cell-cell adhesion, and increased invasion capacity (334). Increased sialylation on colon cancer mucins was associated with a more metastatic potential (335, 336). The use of disaccharides as decoys for carbohydrate forming reactions in tumor cells lowered the level of sialic acid on surface proteins and made the tumor cells more susceptible to attack by immune cells (337). The sialyl-Tn antigen, when overexpressed by transfection of cells with sialyltransferase-6-GalNAc I, decreased cell growth and adhesion and increased cell migration (338). Sialylated core-1 based glycans on MUC1, but not core-2 based glycans, increased tumor cell growth in MUC1 transgenic mice but interestingly, not in wild type mice (339).

Mucin binding to receptors is dependent upon the sugars present as well as the peptide back bone (340). MUC1 binds to ICAM-1, sialoadhesin, and mannose receptor through the combination of the peptide backbone and carbohydrate side chains (341). Glycosylation can also alter the presentation of MUC1 on MHC molecules. This alteration can affect presentation in two ways. One, the combined carbohydrate-peptide epitope can be recognized by glycoepitope specific T cells (327). Secondly, the addition of a glycans can alter the conformation of the peptide and how it sits in the binding cleft of the MHC molecule. Glycosylation of MUC1 also affects antibody binding to MUC1 (342).

1.4.1.6. Summary

MUC1 is a large transmembrane protein expressed by a wide variety of human tissues. The expression of MUC1 is regulated by a number of transcriptional pathways. It is translated as a single protein that is cleaved into two pieces that remain in association after cleavage. Once in the membrane, MUC1 signals through tyrosines found in its cytoplasmic tail. It associates with kinases that contain SH domains, especially of the Src family of kinases. MUC1 can also be shed from the cell surface through the actions of enzymes such as TACE. Little is known about how MUC1 functions normally in humans but studies with the MUC1 homologues in other species suggest that it plays a role in epithelial and hematopoeitic differentiation, reproduction, protection from pathogens and stress responses. Normal MUC1 is heavily *O*- and *N*glycosylated in its extracellular region and the pattern of glycosylation changes between cell types and during differentiation or malignant transformation. The aberrantly glycosylated MUC1 protein expressed by tumor cells is recognized by receptors and can serve as additional targets for the anti-tumor response. However, it is not known what the effects of MUC1 binding to these receptors are and how they affect the body.

1.4.2. MUC1 as a tumor antigen

MUC1 was first identified as a tumor associated antigen through the isolation of MUC1 specific T cells from the draining lymph nodes of pancreatic cancer patients (343). Tumor associated antigens are proteins that are expressed in normal tissues but are normally not exposed to the immune system either because they are expressed in a sequestered location, have extremely low levels of expression, or are expressed differently in tumor cells. Because MUC1 is expressed on so many human tumors, it is a good target for cancer immunotherapy. Through the attempts to target the immune response to MUC1, it has also become clear that MUC1 plays a function in promoting cancer cell growth and adhesion. Although many groups have tried to immunize against MUC1, it is becoming clear that the abnormal expression of MUC1 and many other tumor antigens occurs very early in carcinogenesis and that effective therapies to target tumor antigens will need to occur prior to symptomatic disease.

1.4.2.1. MUC1 expression by cancers

Even though immune responses to MUC1 are considered to be beneficial for cancer patients, the expression of MUC1 on tumors is usually correlated with a worse prognosis. The

level of expression of MUC1 on the surface of cells is increased in virtually every adenocoarcinoma. For example, increased expression of MUC1 in colon cancer, invasive ductal carcinomas of the pancreas, invasive cholangiocarcinomas of the liver, renal cell carcinoma, gastric cancer, adenocarcinomas of the esophagus, and gall bladder cancer correlates with a worse prognosis (344, 345), (346, 347). These mucins often have an increase in the carbohydrate antigens Tn, T and sialyl-Tn antigens with a decrease in Type 3 core O-glycans and O-acetyl-sialic acid. Furthermore, MUC1 expression is correlated with increased invasive and metastatic behavior. This is demonstrated by invasive ductal carcinomas of the pancreas and invasive cholangiocarcinomas of the liver which both show invasive growth and a poor prognosis and high levels of MUC1 expression. However, MUC1 and its sialylated epitopes are usually not expressed on the less pathogenic intraductal papillary mucinous tumors of the pancreas or bile duct cystadenocarcinomas of the liver (344). In addition, only invasive cases of mucinous cystic neoplasm of the pancreas express MUC1. Their non-invasive counterparts generally lack MUC1 expression (348, 349). The loss of polarity of MUC1 is also correlated with a more metastatic phenotype and poorer prognosis (348, 350, 351). Another characteristic of MUC1 expression is its association with a less differentiated phenotype when expressed by lymphoid malignancies such as plasmacytomas (352). Finally, there are high levels of MUC1 found circulating in pancreatic cancer patients as well as many patients with other types of cancers (353). When the circulating MUC1 was found in conjugation with anti-MUC1 antibodies in patients with breast cancer, thus indicating an anti-MUC1 response had been at least partially generated, these patients had a better rate of survival (354). MUC1 expression in colon cancer was associated with lymphocytic infiltrate (355). These studies show that MUC1

plays a role in tumor growth and malignancy and hints to a possible role in immune modulation and tumor invasion.

In some premalignant states there appears to be changes in MUC1 expression. In Crohn's disease, an inflammatory disorder of the gut, there is little change in MUC1 expression between affected and unaffected areas of the small intestine (356). However, there is an increase in MUC1 in the serum of patients with interstitial lung disease, especially when the disease is active and MUC1 is expressed by premalignant lesions in the lung (304, 357). Another inflammatory bowel disease with an increased risk of cancer is ulcerative colitis. Some patients with ulcerative colitis develop antibodies to MUC1 (358, 359). MUC1 is upregulated in Barrett's esophagus, a premalignant condition of the esophagus, as well as in dysplastic tissue in the esophagus (360). MUC1 expression is correlated with high-grade dysplasia in colorectal cancer (361, 362). Since MUC1 is available to the immune system in these early lesions, it is clear that an immune response to MUC1 is being shaped at these early time points. To effectively alter this response, therapies would have to be targeted at these early lesions.

1.4.2.2. Targeting MUC1 through immunization

Immune responses to MUC1 can be generated in other conditions, especially during lactation and pregnancy. MUC1 specific MHC Class I restricted CTLs and CD4⁺ T cells can be generated *in vitro* from the T cells of multiparous women but not from normal donors suggesting that pregnancy results in a natural immunization against MUC1 (363, 364). This is particularly relevant because pregnancy and lactation have been associated with a lower risk for breast cancer. MUC1 antibody levels are increased in non-pregnant women compared to pregnant women although MUC1 serum levels were increased in the pregnant women compared to the non-pregnant women indicating that some of the anti-MUC1 antibodies in pregnant women may

be bound to MUC1 in circulation (365). Lactating women also have significantly higher levels of the anti-MUC1 IgG isotype compared to non-lactating women (365). An interesting case report has been noted where a woman with breast cancer had high levels of B- and T-cell epitopes and she survived this cancer. Subsequently, she became pregnant and developed fulminant lymphocytic mastitis, an inflammation of the breast tissue. This patient's breast tissue expressed similar epitopes to the tumor in terms of MUC1 and had circulating anti-MUC1 antibodies and MUC1 specific CTL. This suggests that in the right circumstance, a cancer can prime a strong anti-MUC1 response and that this can result in survival as well as a long lasting memory response (366). Together these data indicate that anti-MUC1 immune responses can be generated in healthy individuals and points towards the hypothesis that a strong anti-MUC1 immune response can prevent tumor growth.

Several epitopes recognized by cancer patients have been identified within the MUC1 protein. One HLA-A2 restricted epitope is from the leader sequence of MUC1 (LLLLTVLTV) and stimulates CD8⁺ T cells in patients with multiple myeloma (367, 368). Some other HLA restricted epitopes are from the VNTR region (STAPPVHNV and STAPPHGV) (368-370). Epitopes have been identified in the degenerate repeats present in the terminal regions of the VNTR domain including the HLA-A2 epitope SAPDNRPAL which is very similar to the VNTR epitope SAPTRPAP (371). When HLA-A2+ DC were transfected with total RNA from a breast cancer cell line and used to stimulate T cells, four immunodominant peptides were found. Two were from the tumor antigen Her-2/neu and two were from MUC1 including the epitope STAPPVHNV from the tandem repeat region and the epitope LLLLTVLTV from the leader sequence (372). The identification of these epitopes not only points towards good epitopes for

vaccination but also indicates that there are several target regions within the MUC1 molecule for vaccination.

Several formulations of vaccines have been developed against MUC1. These vaccines have been tested in normal mice, MUC1 transgenic mice and humans. Different forms of MUC1 used in trials include MUC1 fused to the carbohydrate mannan (373-376), MUC1 KLH (377), DNA vaccines (378) and vaccinia virus expressing MUC1 (379). Tumor cells transfected with different adjuvants (380) as well as tumor cells fused with dendritic cells have also been tested (381, 382). Consistently in MUC1 transgenic mice, the administration of MUC1 without a strong inflammatory signal such as with a weak adjuvant or as irradiated tumor cells results in weak antibody responses and little to no detectable T cell responses (383, 384). This is true in the immunization of human cancer patients as well (377).

The level of tolerance to MUC1 in the MUC1 transgenic mouse is elevated compared to wild-type mice (384). This tolerance is largely in the CD4⁺ T cell compartment as shown by the administration of wild-type CD4⁺ cells primed *in vitro* and then administered to MUC1 transgenic mice. These recipient mice showed increased survival when challenged with a MUC1⁺ tumor (385). Still, with a strong enough vaccine in the MUC1 transgenic mice, both antibody class switching and CTLs can be generated (379, 384). The key elements for tumor rejection of the B16.MUC1 tumor (a melanoma transfected with MUC1) were CD4⁺ T cells, FasL, lymphotoxin (LT) α , CD40, CD40L, and CD28 (381, 386). Perforin, $\delta\gamma$ T cells, IL-4, IL-10, IL-12 or TNFR-I were not absolutely required although NK cells seemed to play a role in rejection (386). Two subsets of NKT cells have recently been shown to recognize MUC1 and to lyse MUC1⁺ targets after expansion in the presence of MUC1 (387). However, even with a good vaccine there are elements within the tumor site that can suppress an active immune response. In

a MUC1 transgenic model of spontaneous pancreatic cancer, infiltrating $CD8^+$ T cells become cytolytically anergic and are tolerized to MUC1 (388). These studies show that an effective immune response to MUC1 requires several arms of the immune system to be activated and that even with activation, the tumor can develop mechanisms to suppress the immune response.

1.4.2.3. MUC1 in tumorigenesis

As briefly mentioned above, MUC1 has also been suggested to function in tumorigenesis in humans. To study this role and the possible tolerance to MUC1 in humans, a mouse model of MUC1 expression was developed. The MUC1 transgenic mouse expresses human MUC1 under the control of the human MUC1 promoter. MUC1 expression in the MUC1 transgenic mouse is very similar to the expression pattern in humans. MUC1 also undergoes similar changes in polarity and glycosylation during tumorigenesis. Experiments in these mice, injecting MUC1⁺ tumors into MUC1 transgenic and wild type mice, show that MUC1⁺ tumors grew in the transgenic mice but not in wild type mice. This indicates that there is a level of tolerance that exists in these mice (389).

Another way MUC1 can affect tumorigenesis is through altering intracellular signaling, conferring resistance to apoptosis, and modulating adhesion or migration. A model of spontaneous breast cancer formation in MUC1 transgenic mice showed that MUC1 can potentiate the signaling through MAP kinases of epidermal growth factor (EGF) in lactating mammary glands (390). Tumors that arise in multiparous mice from this study show a tumor specific co-immunoprecipitation between MUC1 and β -catenin. Also, in uniparous mice, MUC1 decreased postlactational apoptosis, increased whey acidic protein expression (a protein normally downregulated with postlactational apoptosis) and resulted in aberrant pErk2 activation (390). Overexpression of MUC1 in fibroblasts and epithelial cells induces anchorage independent

growth and confers tumorigenicity (391, 392) Furthermore, the cytoplasmic tail of MUC1 complexed with β -catenin and γ -catenin can be found in the nucleus (391, 393-395). MUC1 can activate anti-apoptotic pathways and the loss of MUC1 expression in cancer cell lines through siRNA knock down results in increased sensitivity to genotoxic drugs (396). MUC1 is localized to the tips of filipodial protrusions of MCF-7 breast cancer cells in association with the protein ezrin which may indicate that it plays a role in migration (397). Tumor MUC1 enhances binding of cells to extracellular matrix proteins and normal human lung tissue in vitro most likely through the unglycosylated VNTR region (398). MUC1 localization to the generalized or basal surfaces of cells indicates a more invasive phenotype of cell (399).

1.4.2.4. Summary

MUC1 is overexpressed by over 80% of human tumors in a non-polarized fashion. The changes in the level, localization, and glycosylation of MUC1 enable the immune system to discern normal MUC1 expression from abnormal MUC1 expression. Human cancer patients have immune responses to MUC1 but they are weak and ineffective. However, immune responses to MUC1 can be generated in non-cancer patients and there is some evidence that conditions associated with decreased risk of cancer, such as pregnancy and lactation, immunize against MUC1 naturally (400). To increase the immune response to MUC1 in cancer patients, several vaccines have been developed. However, eliciting an effective immune response against tumors is difficult and further complicated by the fact that the immune system of cancer patients is suppressed. Furthermore, MUC1 contributes to tumorigenesis and since it is present on premalignant lesions, the immune response to MUC1 has been shaped by the tumor long before the patient has symptomatic disease. It is still not known if MUC1 actually contributes to the immune suppression of the anti-MUC1 response or to the general anti-tumor response.

1.4.3. MUC1 and the immune system

MUC1 is a very complex molecule that can function on the cells expressing it both by signaling itself and perhaps through binding to receptors. With the large amount of effort that has gone into creating a MUC1 cancer vaccine, especially ones using DC, it will be important to know if MUC1 can bind and alter the function of cells in the immune system. MUC1 has also been found on cells on the immune system and may function in normal as well as malignant settings.

1.4.3.1. MUC1 and human pathogens

MUC1 has been shown to interact with human pathogens. *Helicobacter pylori* has been shown to colonize areas in the stomach with incomplete intestinal metaplasia that express MUC1 but not MUC2 (401). *H. pylori* is capable of binding to both MUC1 and MUC5AC (402). Furthermore, MUC1 from bovine milk inhibits a neuraminidase sensitive strain of rotavirus (403). Human milk fat mucin binds rotavirus and inhibits its growth both *in vitro* and *in vivo* and this inhibition is dependent upon sialic acid (404). Similarly, the human milk fat mucin can bind S-fimbriated *Escherichia coli* and prevent *E.coli* adhesion to epithelial through its sialic acid residues (405). These examples illustrate that MUC1 can bind to pathogens and alter the growth of these bacteria. Thus, MUC1 contributes to host defense by preventing bacterial growth and invasion.

1.4.3.2. MUC1 and T cells

MUC1 is expressed on T cells that are activated *in vivo* or *in vitro* although it is not expressed at all by resting T cells (275). The level of MUC1 protein expressed by these T cells is much lower than the amount of MUC1 expressed by either normal epithelial cells or cancer cells. The glycosylation of T cell MUC1 has a greater abundance of core-2 based structures

compared to core-1 based structures, making T cell MUC1 more similar to normal epithelial MUC1 than MUC1 expressed by cancer cells (275). This expression has recently been shown to be induced by both IL-7 and IL-15. (258). MUC1 can also be upregulated on T cells by IL-12 but is unaffected by IL-2, IL-4, IL-5, IL-10, IL-13 or TNF- α (406). When DC make IL-7, they can induce MUC1 expression on T cells and the MUC1 is expressed in a polarized fashion opposed to the DC-T cell interface (258). The crosslinking of MUC1 on the T cell surface may inhibit T cell proliferation (406). When T cells are stimulated by the chemokine RANTES (CCL5) they polarize and MUC1 localizes to the leading edge of the T cell unlike other mucin-like molecules that localize to the uropod (275).

Although it seems that MUC1 expression is a marker of activated T cells, it can also block T cell function when soluble. These studies have used tumor-like forms of MUC1 and hence the reason activated T cell expression does not result in suppression may be because T cell MUC1 is more highly glycosylated. At the same time, MUC1 from cancer patients' ascites fluid or synthetic unglycosylated MUC1 repeats can inhibit the proliferation of T cells in vitro. This inhibition was overcome by the addition of IL-2 or anti-CD28 antibody (407). MUC1 from tumor supernatants has been shown to block T cell proliferation and activation in response to PHA stimulation (408). These T cells maintained low levels of IL-2R and the suppression could not be overcome by exogenous IL-2 or IFN- γ (408). MUC1 expressed by tumor cells can also inhibit NK cell lysis of K562 cells and is able to bind both cell types (409). Purified CD4⁺ T cells treated with colon cancer mucin (mainly composed of MUC1 and MUC2) and stimulated with PMA or anti-CD3 antibody produced lower levels of IL-2, bound less anti-CD28 antibody, and produced less IFN- γ (410).

1.4.3.3. MUC1 and antigen presenting cells

Since the antigen presenting cells in the body are crucial to the development of the anti-MUC1 immune response, it is critical to understand the effects MUC1 may have on these cells. It has been shown that MUC1 can bind to receptors expressed on these cells (104, 105). MUC1 can bind to sialoadhesin (Siglec-1) on macrophages that are infiltrating breast cancers (104). Sialoadhesin lacks a signaling domain, but mannose receptor, the second receptor on APC that can bind MUC1 does have diverse signaling capabilities as described above. Hiltbold et al. has shown that tumor MUC1 from ascites fluid can bind to mannose receptor on human DC. This interaction results in the uptake of MUC1 into early endocytic vesicles. However, the strong avidity of MUC1 binding to mannose receptor results in a block in processing. MUC1 fails to be transported to the late endosomes to be proteolyzed and instead recycles back out to the cell surface. This mechanism prevents MUC1 presentation in MHC Class II molecules. Despite blocking its own processing, MUC1 did not block the processing of other proteins (105). Blocking the mannose receptor greatly reduced the uptake of MUC1 but did not totally eliminate it suggesting that MUC1 can bind to DC through one or more other receptors. It is not known what effect MUC1 has on these cells.

There is controversial evidence that MUC1 is expressed by human dendritic cells. One group has shown that MUC1, as recognized by the BC2 antibody (directed against the VNTR region) and the CT1 antibody (directed against the cytoplasmic tail), is expressed on "activated" human blood DC, monocytes, and monocyte derived DC (273). This group has also shown that the mouse homologue of MUC1 is expressed by murine splenic DC (273). Another group agrees that MUC1 is expressed on monocyte and monocyte-derived DC but not on blood DC, thymic DC or tonsillar DC (411). Cloosen *et al.* also found MUC1 on DC in the synovial fluid of patients with rheumatoid arthritis, which is especially interesting because this is also a site of *in*

vivo T cell MUC1 expression (275, 411). MUC1 may also be expressed on follicular DC in the MALT (412). However, work done in our lab has shown that MUC1 as recognized by the HMFG-1 antibody is not expressed by either blood DC nor monocyte derived DC (data not shown). All groups are in agreement that MUC1 is expressed by bone marrow derived DC generated from the human MUC1 transgenic mice. MUC1 has also been reported to be expressed by neutrophils but only in the cytoplasm (413).

Work done by D. Lopez *et al.* examined the possible immunomodulatory effects of MUC1/SEC, a secreted form of MUC1 that contains the extracellular portion of MUC1 with a unique sequence in the C-terminal region, VSIGLSFPMLP. They have identified some tumor preventative effects of this peptide sequence although it is unclear how this peptide functions (414). However, it does not function in immunocompromised mice, thus suggesting a role for the immune system in the anti-tumor effects. Further work done by this lab has suggested that MUC1/SEC recruits three to four times as many macrophages to the tumor site and may be able to induce the expression of the chemokine CCL2 by tumor cells (415).

Many tumor-derived molecules have recently been shown to affect the differentiation of monocytes into dendritic cells. Monti *et al.* have shown that MUC1 has this affect as well. When monocytes are co-cultured with MUC1⁺ tumor cells, the DC that are formed make IL-10 but no IL-12 and do not reach full activation even with CD40 ligation (107). They implicate the sialylated glycoepitopes on MUC1 as playing a role in this deviation. Despite displaying a regulatory DC phenotype, these DC do upregulate the chemokine receptor CCR7, which indicates that these DC could migrate to the lymph node and interact with naïve T cells. Accordingly, when cultured with T cells, these DC show diminished ability to induce T cell proliferation and induce T cells to produce greater amounts of IL-4 and lesser amounts of IFN- γ

(107). This T cell cytokine profile indicates that DC that have differentiated in a MUC1 rich environment drive naïve $CD4^+$ T cells away from a Th1 phenotype and towards a Th2 phenotype. As mentioned above, this is a phenotype that is often displayed by cancer patients.

1.4.3.4. Summary

MUC1 is expressed by some cells of the immune system in activated states. It is not clear what role MUC1 plays on these cells. In the case of T cells, the form of MUC1 expressed is similar to normal MUC1. The addition of the secreted form of MUC1 to a cancer cell line induced influx of immune cells through a mechanism that induces the production of CCL2. Most importantly, MUC1 can alter the development of DC from monocytes. It is unclear how MUC1 accomplishes this alteration but its effects on the DC skew their ability to produce cytokines towards IL-10 and away from IL-12. These effects block the development of Th1 cells and presumably would have this effect *in vivo* in cancer patients. These studies suggest that MUC1 has distinct effects on the immune system but the mechanisms and breadth of these effects are not fully characterized.

1.5. Statement of the problem

MUC1 binds to members of the PRR family that are expressed by cells of the immune system, especially APCs. This interaction is known to prevent processing of MUC1 and to prevent the differentiation of DC from monocytes (105, 107). Furthermore, the stroma surrounding MUC1⁺ tumors displays an interesting pattern of DC migration with larger numbers of immature DC within the tumor site and more mature DC in the peri-tumoral area. At this point in time, it was not known whether MUC1 might attract DC to the tumor site, like it is predicted to do for fibroblasts (416), and whether the interaction of MUC1 with receptors on the DC might affect their function and stimulatory capacity. These issues are important to

understand because MUC1 is expressed on early pre-malignant lesions. Therefore, if MUC1 is affecting DC function and migration, the MUC1⁺ tumor would be capable of directing and controlling the anti-tumor immune response long before the disease becomes symptomatic.

We hypothesized that this might be happening, based on what had been learned about anti-MUC1 immunity in cancer patients and designed studies in this dissertation to test this hypothesis. Our results show that MUC1, as we hypothesized, induces the migration of DC and suppresses their function. This work suggests that the tumor MUC1 interacts with DC in the body and alters their function. It has strong implications that MUC1 present on early premalignant lesions can contribute to tumor-induced immunosuppression and argues for early targeting of tumor antigens through prophylactic vaccination. It also suggests that chemotactic forms of MUC1, when co-administered with a strong adjuvant, will be a superior vaccine compared to the use of non-chemotactic forms.

2. Human Tumor Antigen MUC1 is Chemotactic for DC

Some of the contents of section 2 have been modified from article "Human tumor antigen MUC1 is chemotactic for immature dendritic cells and elicits maturation, but does not promote Th1 type immunity." Copyright (2005), with permission from "The American Association of Immunology". Copyright permission is on file with Casey A. Carlos. Some of the work shown in this chapter was done in collaboration with the laboratory of Dr. Joost J. Oppenheim at the National Cancer Institute.

2.1. Introduction

Tumor stroma is critical for the growth of cancer cells and, in fact, the stromal tissue can often make up a larger proportion of the tumor mass than the tumor cells. The cells that comprise the stroma are thought to be recruited by factors derived from the cancer cells. Tumor stroma cells include fibroblasts, immune cells, and endothelial cells. There is a level of selection amongst cells. For example, not all immune cells or subtypes of fibroblasts are found at the tumor. This variety indicates that the tumor-derived chemoattractive factors are selectively produced (417). Some of the chemokines produced by tumor cells are CCL2, CCL3, CCL4, CCL5, CCL7, CCL8, CCL20 and CXCL12 (418). What is interesting and different about the immune cells at the tumor site is that there is not a common distribution among cells. For example, macrophages are not distributed to the same areas as dendritic cells and T cells are not found in the same region as NK cells.

DC are part of the tumor stroma and are also found within many tumors (74). A functional DC would be advantageous to the development of an anti-tumor response if the DC could take up and present tumor antigens. However, despite the close proximity of the DC to tumors cells and tumor antigens, these DC fail to elicit strong anti-tumor responses in most patients. The lack of response comes from a tumor induced defect in DC function or from a failure of the DC to migrate to the lymph node. Both of these issues probably play a role in late tumor growth. Also, there is a preponderance of immature DC within the tumor mass with the more mature DC located in the peritumoral area. This differential distribution is not unexpected as immature and mature DC express different chemokine receptors (170). Yet, it is not known which chemokines determine these differences.

MUC1, a human tumor antigen expressed by over 80% of human tumors, has been shown to be chemotactic and chemokinetic for human lung and skin fibroblasts (416). Platelet-derived growth factor, fibroblast growth factor, and fibronectin were also chemotactic for these cells and the migration towards MUC1 was comparable to migration to these proteins (416). Fibroblasts are part of the tumor stroma and hence MUC1⁺ tumors could attract fibroblasts to the tumor site through MUC1. To date, the effects of MUC1 on the migration of other cells that make up the tumor stroma has not been examined. Here we show that the tumor antigen MUC1 is chemotactic for immature human DC. MUC1 was not chemotactic for other cells of the immune system including monocytes, lymphocytes, NK cells and mature DC. The circulating form of MUC1 found in cancer patients and a synthetic form containing only the peptide backbone of the VNTR region were both chemotactic. The addition of sugars to the serines and threonines of MUC1 through *O*-glycosylation blocked DC chemotaxis indicating that only regions with low to no sugars added, i.e. tumor-like forms, of MUC1 attract DC. The chemotactic effect could also be blocked by an antibody to MUC1. These results show that the expression of tumor MUC1 by pre-malignant and malignant cells attracts immature DC. The presence of DC at the tumor site could be a good thing if the DC function and are activated by the danger signals at the tumor site such as uric acid from necrotic cells. However, if the DC fail to activate, this could lead to the induction of tolerance and/or anergy to the tumor antigens. This scenario would lead to tumor progression and a failure of tumor immunosurveilance.

2.2. Materials & Methods

2.2.1. Reagents

All chemokines and cytokines were obtained from the NIH cytokine repository or Peprotech (Rocky Hill, NJ) unless otherwise noted. Reagents were purchased from Sigma Aldrich (St. Louis, MO) unless otherwise noted. Anti-MUC1 antibody MF11 used in the chemotaxis blocking studies was obtained from ISOBM TD-4 International Workshop on Monoclonal Antibodies against MUC1 (419). It is specific for the PPAH sequence in the 20 amino acid-long MUC1 tandem repeat sequence GVTSAPDTRPAPGSTAPPAH.

2.2.2. Chemotaxis assay

Cells were resuspended in chemotaxis medium (RPMI 1640 media containing 1% bovine serum albumin, 25 mM HEPES, pH 8.0) at $1-5 \times 10^6$ cells/ml. Chemokines diluted in chemotaxis medium were placed in the lower wells of a microBoyden chemotaxis chamber (Neuroprobe,

Cabin John, MD). When primary leukocytes were analyzed, five-micrometer polycarbonate membranes were placed over the chemokines. Lymphocytes required that the membranes be precoated with 50 μ g/ml of fibronectin. After the micro-chemotaxis chamber was assembled, 50 μ l of cells were placed in the upper wells. The filled chemotaxis chambers were incubated in a humidified CO₂ incubator for 90 minutes (monocytes, immature human DC) or 3 hours (lymphocytes, NK cells). After incubation the membranes were removed from the chemotaxis chamber assembly followed by gently removing cells from the upper side of the membrane. The cells on the lower side of the membrane were stained using Rapid Stain (Richard Allen, Kalamazoo, MI). The number of migrated cells in three high-powered fields (x200) was counted by light microscopy after coding the samples. In many cases counting was computer assisted using the BIOQUANT program (R & M Biometrics, Nashville TN). Additional chemotaxis experiments done with CD1c⁺ DC were conducted similarly but with chemotaxis plates (5.7 mm diameter, 30 ml, 5 µm pores; Neuroprobe, Gaithersburg, MD.) Results are expressed as the mean value of the migration of triplicate samples with the standard deviation shown by bars.

2.2.3. MUC1 antigen preparations.

MUC1 100mer synthetic peptide (GVTSAPDTRPAPGSTAPPAH) x 5 represents five unglycosylated tandem repeats from the variable number of tandem repeats (VNTR) region comprising most of the extracellular domain of MUC1. MUC1 100mer was synthesized on a Chemtech 200 automated peptide synthesizer (Advanced ChemTech, Inc., Louisville, KY) with N-(9-fluorenyl)methoxycarbonyl chemistry and purified by high-pressure liquid chromatography (HPLC) at the University of Pittsburgh Cancer Institute Peptide Synthesis Facility. MUC1 Tn-100mer is a glycosylated 100mer peptide that was prepared as described previously (321, 327). It contains 15 GalNAc residues bound to the threonines in VTSA regions and serines and threonines in GSTA regions of the tandem repeat sequence GVTSAPDTRPAPGSTAPPAH

(glycosylated residues indicated in bold), consistent with the site-specificity of the recombinant glycosyltransferase rGalNAc-Ts used to glycosylate the peptide. Ascites MUC1 was purified from ascitic fluid obtained from cancer patients and characterized as previously described (420). Generation and purification of recombinant tumor forms MCF-7 MUC1 and HEK MUC1 was described previously (319). In brief, a mammalian episomal expression vector pCEP-PU (421) encoding six tandem repeats of MUC1 (120mer peptide) under the control of the cytomegalovirus promoter was used to transfect the breast cancer cell line MCF-7 and the EBVtransformed human embryonic kidney cell line 293/EBNA (obtained from the American Type Culture Collection.) This vector contains the secretory signal peptide of BM40, an extracellular matrix protein also known as SPARC or osteonectin, followed by a hexa-histidine sequence and a Myc tag used for affinity purification of the MUC1 protein produced by the transfected cells. HEK MUC1 and MCF-7 MUC1 were purified from the conditioned supernatant of confluent cell layers by passage through a Ni²⁺-nitrilotriacetic acid Superflow column (Quiagen, Hilden, Germany). They were further purified by HPLC on a C8 silica column (Vydac 208TP1015; MZ Analysentechnik, Mainz, Germany). Quality of purified recombinant MCF-7 MUC1 and HEK MUC1 were checked by SDS-PAGE followed by blotting onto a nitrocellulose membrane. Peptides were detected with an anti-myc monoclonal antibody (319) (Santa Cruz Biotechnology, Inc., Santa Cruz, CA.) Specific O-glycosylation profiles were determined by hydrazinolysis and normal phase chromatography of 2-aminobenzamide-labeled glycans as previously described (319). All MUC1 peptides were tested for LPS with the limulus amebocyte lysate assay and found to have <0.05 EU/ml by Cambrex (Cambrex Bio Science Walkersville, Inc., Walkersville, MD.)



Figure 2: MUC1 forms used in these studies.

100mer MUC1 has 5 repeats and lacks *O*-linked glycosylation. Tn-100mer MUC1 has 5 repeats and a single sugar, GalNAc, added to 3 out of 5 possible sites of *O*-linked glycosylation/repeat. HEK MUC1, and similarly MCF-7 MUC1 (not shown), contains 6 repeats. HEK MUC1 has an average of 4 out of 5 possible glycosylation sites used and has a high density of terminal sialic acid residues. Ascites MUC1 is approximately 120 repeats in length and contains regions similar to each of the 3 forms shown above because of heterogeneity in the addition of carbohydrate side chains *in vivo*.

2.2.4. DC and T cell isolation and purification.

Primary human leukocytes were isolated from fresh normal donor leukapheresis packs under an approved human subjects protocol as previously reported (422). For NK cell purification, nylon wool column separation was used. In some studies, percoll purified lymphocytes, monocytes, or NK cells were cultured at 1 x 10^6 cell/ml in RPMI 1640 (Bio Whittaker, MD) containing 10% fetal bovine serum (HyClone, Logan, UT) and 2 mM glutamine, 100 U/ml penicillin and streptomycin (Quality Biologicals, Gaithersburg, MD), with 100 U/ml of

recombinant human IL-2 for 16 hours or 7 days in a 5% CO₂ humidified tissue culture incubator. Human imDC were generated from purified human peripheral blood monocytes (>95%) as previously described (209) and their phenotype confirmed by flow cytometry. Immature DC were CD1a⁺(Ab clone H1149), CD14⁻ (Ab clone M5E2), CD40^{low} (Ab clone 5C3), CD83⁻ (Ab clone HB15_ε), CD86^{low} (Ab clone 2331(FUN-1)), HLA-DR^{medium} (Ab clone G46-6 (L243)). Mature DC were generated by culturing imDC with 1 µg/ml of LPS (Sigma L-9764) for 48 hours. The phenotype of mDC was CD83^{high}, CD86^{high}, HLA-DR^{high}. Human CD1c⁺ DC were immunomagnetically purified with BDCA-1/CD1c microbeads (Miltenvi Biotec, Auburn, CA) from primary human leukocytes as previously described (423). In brief, percoll purified mononuclear cells were washed and resuspended in 2mM EDTA containing 0.5% heat inactivated fetal bovine serum (Invitrogen, Grand Island, NY). Cells were incubated with anti-CD19 microbeads and anti-CD1c-biotin antibody. Cells were then washed and passed through a column to remove CD19⁺ B cells. The remaining cells were then incubated with strepavidinmicrobeads for 15 minutes. Cells were washed and passed through a second magnetic column to capture $CD1c^+$ cells. This purification resulted in >90% $CD11c^+$ cells that were also uniformly phenotypically immature being HLA-DR^{low}, CD83⁻, and CD86^{low}.

2.3. Results

2.3.1. Tumor antigen MUC1 is chemotactic for immature DC.

Using a highly purified form of tumor MUC1 obtained from the ascitic fluid of cancer patients (ascites MUC1) we set up chemotaxis assays with immature myeloid DC. We found that ascites MUC1 induced migration of imDC (Fig 3A). Ascites MUC1 is large in size (over 100 tandem repeats on average) and presents to the DC a wide variety of unglycosylated, as well as complex glycosylated epitopes in the tandem repeat and the N-terminal region (420). To

determine what may be the nature of the epitope responsible for the chemotactic activity, we examined two well-characterized recombinant MUC1 molecules made by the cell lines MCF-7 (breast cancer cell line) and HEK293/EBNA (EBV-transformed human embryonic kidney cell line). MCF-7 MUC1 has a lower overall level of glycosylation compared to other breast cancer cell lines, with a large number of polylactosamine-type *O*-glycans with neutral and fucosylated sugars. HEK MUC1 has a greater density of carbohydrates with a high number of glycans terminating in sialic acid residues (319). Both fucosylation and sialylation can drastically change the binding affinity of ligands to receptors and influence the masking or exposure of epitopes (424). As shown in Figure 3B, the less glycosylated MCF-7 MUC1 was chemotactic for imDC while the more glycosylated and sialylated HEK MUC1 was not. Because unlike ascites MUC1, the recombinant molecules are composed of only tandem repeats and lack the N-terminal segment, we concluded that the chemotactic activity seen in the native and the recombinant forms resides in the tandem repeat region of MUC1.

2.3.2. Tumor MUC1 is not chemotactic for other cells of the immune system.

Since most chemokines attract a variety of cells, we also tested to see whether MUC1 was chemotactic for other cells of the immune system. Most importantly, we tested mature DC. Mature DC did not migrate to either MUC1 100mer or Tn-100mer (Fig. 4A). This fits with most chemotactic responses for the DC because the majority of chemokine receptors expressed on immature DC are downregulated or fail to function once the DC is mature. Lymphocytes and monocytes were also tested and neither cell type migrated in response to either ascites MUC1 or 100mer MUC1 (Fig 4B & 4C).



Figure 3: Tumor forms of MUC1 are chemotactic for immature myeloid DC.

For A and B, concentrations of MUC1 in the lower chamber are shown on the x-axis. Increasing concentrations of A) ascites MUC1 and B) MCF-7 MUC1 and HEK MUC1 were added to the lower chamber. Immature human monocyte-derived DC were then added to the upper wells. After 90 minutes, the numbers of DC in the bottom chambers were counted and triplicate wells were averaged. Data shown are representative of three independent experiments.



Figure 4: MUC1 does not induce chemotaxis of mature DC, lymphocytes, or monocytes.

Chemotaxis experimtents were conducted as described in Material & Methods section. A, 100mer and Tn-100mer MUC1 do not induce chemotaxis of mature human DC. B, Ascites MUC1 and 100mer MUC1 do not induce chemotaxis of human lymphocytes. C, Ascites MUC1 and 100mer MUC1 do not induce chemotaxis of human monocytes.
We also tested NK cell chemotaxis. Similar to lymphocytes and monoctyes, NK cells were not attracted to MUC1 (Figure 5). The data clearly show that MUC1 is only chemotactic for immature DC. This result is unusual since the known chemokine receptors are expressed by multiple cell types within this group and hence MUC1 should induce migration of more than one of these cell types if it is binding to a characterized chemokine receptor.

2.3.3. The MUC1 chemotactic function is carried out by its peptide backbone

Because our data show that MUC1 with fewer sugars had better chemotactic activity (ascites MUC1 and MCF-7 MUC1), we repeated the chemotactic assays with two synthetic MUC1 peptides. Although the purity of ascites MUC1 and MCF-7 MUC1 preparations was high and documented by several analytical methods (319, 420) there remained a small possibility that some chemokine might have contaminated the preparations and is responsible for the chemotactic activity. Therefore we used the synthetic unglycosylated 100mer MUC1 peptide and the same 100mer peptide containing a single GalNAc (Tn) attached to fifteen of the possible twenty-five serines and threonines (Tn-100mer) on the five repeats of the MUC1 tandem repeat backbone. The unglycosylated 100mer MUC1 induced chemotaxis but the Tn-100mer MUC1 did not (Figure 6). This indicates that the unglycosylated peptide backbone is responsible for the chemotactic effect. Furthermore, it shows that this chemotactic activity can be blocked by glycosylation. Some of the other glycosylated MUC1 forms were chemotactic such as ascites MUC1 and MCF-7 MUC1. The discrepancy is likely due to the greater heterogeneity in the glycosylation of these forms compared to Tn-100mer. Tn-100mer is glycosylated *in vitro* using recombinant glycosyltransferases.



Figure 5: MUC1 100mer is not chemotactic for human NK cells.

NK cells were purified from PBMCs and used in chemotaxis studies as described in Materials and Methods. Concentration of 100mer MUC1 or SDF-1 α are shown on the *x*-axis. SDF-1 α was used as a positive control for NK cell migration. Data shown are average of 3 chambers with standard deviations and is representative of three independent experiments.



Figure 6: The unglycosylated tandem repeats of tumor MUC1 are the chemoattractive regions.

This provides great uniformity in the glycosylation of the tandem repeats, such that all three potential glycosylation sites on each repeat are occupied by sugar leaving very few unglycosylated peptide segments. MCF-7 MUC1, on the other hand, retains chemotactic activity due to less uniform *in vivo* glycosylation from one repeat to another. This leaves repeats that are either unglycosylated or under glycosylated and exposes larger unglycosylated peptide segments.

In Figure 7 we show that the chemotactic effect was specific for the MUC1 peptide sequence and could be blocked with an antibody against MUC1, MF11, but not by a control antibody. MF11 antibody is specific for the peptide epitope PPAH in the MUC1 tandem repeat sequence GVTSAPDTRPAPGSTA<u>PPAH</u>. This further confirms that the VNTR peptide

Chemotaxis experiments were conducted as described in Materials and Methods. Unglycosylated 100mer MUC1 and glycosylated Tn-100mer MUC1 were added in increasing concentrations in the lower chamber of the chemotaxis apparati. Data shown are representative of 3 separate experiments.

backbone is responsible for the chemotactic effects of MUC1 and suggests that the PPAH region is part of or close to the chemotactic region of MUC1.



Figure 7: Chemotaxis to MUC1 100mer can be blocked by the addition of anti-MUC1 antibody.

MUC1 100mer (100 ng/ml) was added to the lower chamber with an antibody specific for the unglycosylated form of MUC1, MF11, or an isotype control antibody. CM, control media. Data shown are representative of three independent experiments.

There are a number of differences between in vitro derived DC and DC in vivo. DC

2.3.4. MUC1 is chemotactic for human peripheral blood DC

directly purified from the blood have a lower level of expression of PRRs, a less robust production of cytokines, and a lower sensitivity to activating signals compared to DC generated *in vitro*. Since the circulating DC are the cells that will be predicted to move from the blood to the MUC1⁺ tumors, we tested the ability of human peripheral blood DC to migrate towards MUC1.



Figure 8: 100mer MUC1 is chemotactic for human CD1c⁺ peripheral blood DC.

As shown in Figure 8, CD1c⁺ DC from the peripheral blood of normal donors did migrate to 100mer MUC1. However, similar to the reduced ability of these cells to respond to activating signals, these DC did not migrate in large numbers. There was a statistically significant level of migration compared to control media and 100 ng/ml, which is the same concentration of 100mer MUC1 that attracts monocyte-derived DC. From these data, it appears that circulating DC need the same concentration of MUC1 to react but upon receiving this signal, they do not migrate as readily.

2.3.5. MUC1 is chemotactic not chemokinetic for immature human DC

 $[\]text{CD1c}^+$ DC were purified from PBMCs of normal donors as described in Materials & Methods. 100mer MUC1 was added to the bottom chamber in the concentrations shown. Cells in lower chamber were counted after 90 minutes and triplicate wells were averaged. CM: control media. *, p < 0.028 compared to control media. Results shown are representative of five independent experiments with different normal donors.

Some molecules are able to increase the random movement of cells. This induced random movement is termed chemokinesis and, unlike chemotaxis, it is not dependent upon a concentration gradient. However, in *in vitro* chemotaxis assays, increased chemokinesis can result in apparent chemotaxis because of an increased random movement across the transwell membrane. To differentiate chemokinesis from chemotaxis, a checkerboard analysis is used. In this experimental set-up increasing concentrations of the chemokine in question are added to both the bottom and top chambers of the chemotaxis apparatus. If the chemokine is truly chemotactic, cells will migrate to the bottom chamber only in the presence of a concentration gradient. This migration shows that the chemotactic effect observed is not due to a simple increase in chemokinetic activity of the DC. As shown in Table 2, the use of a checkerboard analysis confirms that MUC1 is chemotactic and not simply chemokinetic, and hence, a chemokine to immature human DC.

Lower chamber	Upper chamber (ng/ml)			
(ng/ml)	0	1	10	100
0	34.5 (2.6) ^a	36.7 (3.5)	36.7 (3.8)	40.7 (4)
1	52.3 (10)	42.2 (6.3)	45 (2.8)	51.2 (5.1)
10	80.7 (5.5)	61.7 (3.3)	43 (5.2)	44.8 (4.3)
100	105.7 (15)	64.8 (7.4)	49 (9.2)	45.8 (9)

 Table 2: Checkerboard Analysis of MUC1 Induced Chemotaxis.

^aData shown are average (standard deviation) and representative of three separate experiments

2.3.6. Discussion

The consequence of MUC1 hypoglycosylation and overexpression on tumor cells has been explored in a variety of disease related situations (425). This includes alteration of the adhesive capabilities of tumor cells, the suppression of T cell function, and alterations in the *in vitro* generation of DC (107, 407, 426-428). This is the first time that MUC1 has been shown to be chemotactic for immature DC. Although certain chemokines have been identified that contain mucin domains (429, 430), no chemotactic regions have previously been described within those domains. Our experiments showing that chemotaxis is induced by peptide epitopes that are only exposed on the tumor-derived molecule suggest that MUC1, which is a secreted as well as a transmembrane molecule, may be acting as a tumor specific chemokine.

Prior studies have shown that there is a large number of DC at sites of MUC1⁺ tumors (431, 432). Our results suggest that the overexpression of the tumor form of MUC1 may be the signal that brings those imDC from the circulation to the tumor site. Unlike the structure of normal MUC1, the unglycosylated peptide backbone of tumor MUC1 has a characteristic shape and highly stable tandem repeat structure that may be highly effective at binding receptors on DC (262, 433, 434). Efforts are underway to identify this receptor. However, because MUC1 is a complex molecule with many epitopes that could potentially interact with not one but several receptors on DC, the identity of the receptor(s) may be difficult to determine.

DC migration induced by the chemotactic stimulus from MUC1 has similarities to DC migration during inflammation rather than the steady state migration. It is the pro-inflammatory chemokines that characteristically induce migration in only the immature DC population. Immature DC express chemokine receptors such as CCR1, CCR5, and CXCR2 and are primed to respond to pro-inflammatory chemokines such as CCL2 (MCP-1), CCL5 (RANTES), and CXCL8 (IL-8). Upon maturation, they down-regulate these receptors and instead up-regulate other receptors, such as CCR7, which are required for migration toward the secondary lymphoid tissues (178, 435). Underglycosylated MUC1 is produced only by abnormal cells, and hence it

should not be encountered during normal DC migration in healthy tissues. More likely, when MUC1⁺ pre-malignant cells or small tumors are growing and have not yet gained the mutations to make large amounts of other chemokines, such as CXCL8 (IL-8) and CXCL1-3, MUC1 can attract immature DC (436).

The stroma that surrounds the tumor cells is critical to the survival of malignant cells. That stroma includes cells fibroblasts, cells of the immune system, angiogenic cells and extracellular matrix proteins (437). Tumor derived molecules such as basic fibroblast growth factor, VEGF, PDGF, epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR) ligands, and various cytokines play a role in stromal formation (437). The data shown here and previous work showing that MUC1 can be chemotactic for fibroblasts (416) indicate that MUC1 can be one of the players in the formation of this desmoplastic tissue that promotes tumor growth and survival.

3. Human Tumor Antigen MUC1 induces maturation of DC and prevents effective induction of Th1 type cells

Some of the contents of section 3 have been modified from article "Human tumor antigen MUC1 is chemotactic for immature dendritic cells and elicits maturation, but does not promote Th1 type immunity." Copyright (2005), with permission from "The American Association of Immunology". Copyright permission is on file with Casey A. Carlos.

3.1. Introduction

Unique molecular patterns expressed by pathogens are recognized by antigen presenting cells through pattern recognition receptors (PRRs) such as Toll-like receptors (438), C-type lectins (121), and I-type lectins (117). Immature dendritic cells (imDC) respond to signals from the PRRs by undergoing maturation and turning on the production of specific sets of cytokines typical for individual receptors and the pathogens they recognize. While it has been assumed

that these receptors evolved to signal the presence of invaders from the outside, i.e. pathogens, there is evidence that PRRs also recognize some self molecules suggesting that they may have evolved to alert the immune system to changes in the body that threaten the integrity of the organism that might require its involvement (439).

A tumor is an example of an invader from within and although derived from the host, tumor cells display molecular patterns that distinguish them from normal cells. The presence of tumor specific immune responses in cancer patients are clear evidence that the immune system has been alerted to the presence of the tumor, but the progressive growth of the tumor suggests that the process of immune activation is not usually carried out successfully.

We have studied the ability of dendritic cells to signal to the adaptive immune system the presence of malignant epithelial cells expressing abnormal forms of an epithelial cell glycoprotein MUC1. This molecule is normally expressed on the apical surfaces of ductal epithelial cells and in the lumen of the ducts (thus, outside of the body) but gains access to the inside of the body during epithelial cell transformation and the growth of epithelial adenocarcinomas (425). The extracellular portion of MUC1 is largely composed of a region of multiple tandem repeats of a 20 amino acid sequence. On normal epithelia, MUC1 is expressed at low levels and is complexly *O*-glycosylated, but on tumor cells it is greatly overexpressed and markedly hypoglycosylated with more simple and shorter chains. Reduced glycosylation exposes the peptide backbone resulting in novel peptide epitopes as well as novel truncated carbohydrate epitopes characteristic of tumor cells, such as T (Gal-GalNAc-*O*-Ser/Thr), Th (GalNAc-*O*-Ser/Thr), and sialyl-Tn (NeuAc-GalNAc-*O*-Ser/Thr) (440). We have published previously that MUC1, either purified from tumor cells or synthesized as a long synthetic tandem repeat peptide with and without *O*-linked carbohydrates, can bind to immature DC and be

internalized through an active endocytic process (105). In a subsequently published study we addressed what type of epitopes, peptides and/or glycopeptides, are generated and could be presented by the DC that bind these different forms of MUC1 and we showed that both peptides and glycopeptides can be found bound to MHC-Class II (327). It is unclear what effects MUC1 binding, through its glycans, has on the DC and whether MUC1 gives an activating signal similar to *Escherichia coli* or a suppressive signal like apoptotic bodies (Figure 9).



Figure 9: Understanding the effects of MUC1 binding to PRRs on DC function.

In this chapter, we describe an unexpected finding that MUC1 bearing short sialylated carbohydrates, which we previously showed binds and is internalized by DC (327), induces DC activation and maturation phenotypically similar to that induced by LPS. Both molecules induce an increased expression of CD40, CD80, CD86 and CD83. Importantly, whereas LPS treated immature DC (imDC) turn on production of proinflammatory cytokines, DC exposed to tumor

forms of MUC1 produce IL-6, TNF- α , and IL-10, but extremely low levels of IL-12. When naïve T cells are stimulated with allogeneic DC that were exposed to MUC1, they produce higher levels of IL-13 and IL-5 compared to T cells activated with LPS treated DC, which make low levels of these cytokines and high levels of IFN- γ .

Th1 type immunity is considered to be important in tumor rejection (441). DC that have interacted with MUC1 would not be expected to induce a strongly polarized Th1 response either against MUC1 itself or other antigens simultaneously expressed on MUC1+ tumors. High levels of aberrantly glycosylated MUC1 are expressed on all human adenocarcinomas as well as on the known pre-malignant lesions, precursors to some of these tumors (442). Our data show a remarkable ability of dendritic cells to be alerted to the existence of tumors by the ability of some antigens, like MUC1, to subvert their function and prevent development of efficient Th1 type anti-tumor immunity.

3.2. Materials and Methods

3.2.1. Reagents.

Human GM-CSF and IL-4 were obtained from Schering-Plough, Kenilworth, NJ. All other chemokines and cytokines were obtained from the NIH cytokine repository or Peprotech (Rocky Hill, NJ). Reagents were purchased from Sigma Aldrich (St. Louis, MO) unless otherwise noted. Anti-MUC1 antibody MF11 used in the chemotaxis blocking studies was obtained from ISOBM TD-4 International Workshop on Monoclonal Antibodies against MUC1 (419). It is specific for the PPAH sequence in the 20 amino acid-long MUC1 tandem repeat sequence GVTSAPDTRPAPGSTAPPAH. Monoclonal antibodies used to phenotype DC were purchased from BD Biosciences (San Diego, CA), unless otherwise indicated.

3.2.2. MUC1 antigen preparations.

MUC1 100mer synthetic peptide (GVTSAPDTRPAPGSTAPPAH) x 5 represents five unglycosylated tandem repeats from the variable number of tandem repeats (VNTR) region comprising most of the extracellular domain of MUC1. MUC1 100mer was synthesized on a Chemtech 200 automated peptide synthesizer (Advanced ChemTech, Inc., Louisville, KY) with N-(9-fluorenyl)methoxycarbonyl chemistry and purified by high-pressure liquid chromatography (HPLC) at the University of Pittsburgh Cancer Institute Peptide Synthesis Facility. MUC1 Tn-100mer is a glycosylated 100mer peptide that was prepared as described previously (321, 327). It contains 15 GalNAc residues bound to the threonines in VTSA regions and serines and threonines in GSTA regions of the tandem repeat sequence GVTSAPDTRPAPGSTAPPAH (glycosylated residues indicated in bold), consistent with the site-specificity of the recombinant glycosyltransferase rGalNAc-Ts used to glycosylate the peptide. Ascites MUC1 was purified from ascitic fluid obtained from cancer patients and characterized as previously described (420). Human milk fat globule (HMFG) MUC1 was purified from human milk as previously described (322). Generation and purification of recombinant tumor forms MCF-7 MUC1 and HEK MUC1 was described previously (319). In brief, a mammalian episomal expression vector pCEP-PU (421) encoding six tandem repeats of MUC1 (120mer peptide) under the control of the cytomegalovirus promoter was used to transfect the breast cancer cell line MCF-7 and the EBVtransformed human embryonic kidney cell line 293/EBNA (obtained from the American Type Culture Collection.) This vector contains the secretory signal peptide of BM40, an extracellular matrix protein also known as SPARC or osteonectin, followed by a hexa-histidine sequence and a Myc tag used for affinity purification of the MUC1 protein produced by the transfected cells. HEK MUC1 and MCF-7 MUC1 were purified from the conditioned supernatant of confluent cell layers by passage through a Ni²⁺-nitrilotriacetic acid Superflow column (Quiagen, Hilden,

Germany). They were further purified by HPLC on a C8 silica column (Vydac 208TP1015; MZ Analysentechnik, Mainz, Germany). Quality of purified recombinant MCF-7 MUC1 and HEK MUC1 were checked by SDS-PAGE followed by blotting onto a nitrocellulose membrane. Peptides were detected with an anti-myc monoclonal antibody (319) (Santa Cruz Biotechnology, Inc., Santa Cruz, CA.) Specific O-glycosylation profiles were determined by hydrazinolysis and normal phase chromatography of 2-aminobenzamide-labeled glycans as previously described (319). The major sialylated glycans on HEK MUC1 were chemically desialylated by treatment of the fusion protein with 0.1M aqueous trifluoroacetic acid for 1 hour at 80°C followed by drying in a vacuum centrifuge (unpublished observations.) Sialidase treatment of HEK MUC1 was accomplished with Clostridium perfringens sialidase (Biolabs) using 5 units in a total volume of 50 µl of reaction buffer (0.1 M sodium acetate, pH 5.5) for 18 hours at 37°C. The effectiveness of desialylation was checked by gel electrophoresis and desalted on a NAP-5 column. All MUC1 peptides, with the exception of HMFG MUC1, were tested for LPS with the limulus amebocyte lysate assay and found to have <0.05 EU/ml by Cambrex (Cambrex Bio Science Walkersville, Inc., Walkersville, MD.)

3.2.3. DC and T cell isolation and purification.

Primary human leukocytes were isolated from fresh normal donor leukapheresis packs under an approved human subjects protocol as previously reported (422). In some studies, percoll purified lymphocytes or monocytes were cultured at 1 x 10^6 cell/ml in RPMI 1640 (Bio Whittaker, MD) containing 10% fetal bovine serum (HyClone, Logan, UT) and 2 mM glutamine, 100 U/ml penicillin and streptomycin (Quality Biologicals, Gaithersburg, MD), with 100 U/ml of recombinant human IL-2 for 16 hours or 7 days in a 5% CO₂ humidified tissue culture incubator. Human imDC were generated from purified human peripheral blood monocytes (>95%) as previously described (209) and their phenotype confirmed by flow cytometry. Immature DC were CD1a⁺(Ab clone H1149), CD14⁻ (Ab clone M5E2), CD40^{low} (Ab clone 5C3), CD83⁻ (Ab clone HB15 ϵ), CD86^{low} (Ab clone 2331(FUN-1)), HLA-DR^{medium} (Ab clone G46-6 (L243)). Mature DC were generated by culturing imDC with 1 µg/ml of LPS (Sigma L-9764) for 48 hours. The phenotype of mDC was CD83^{high}, CD86^{high}, HLA-DR^{high}. Human CD1c⁺ DC were immunomagnetically purified with BDCA-1/CD1c microbeads (Miltenyi Biotec, Auburn, CA) from primary human leukocytes as previously described (423). In brief, percoll purified mononuclear cells were washed and resuspended in 2mM EDTA containing 0.5% heat inactivated fetal bovine serum (Invitrogen, Grand Island, NY). Cells were incubated with anti-CD19 microbeads and anti-CD1c-biotin antibody. Cells were then washed and passed through a column to remove CD19⁺ B cells. The remaining cells were then incubated with strepavidin-microbeads for 15 minutes. Cells were washed and passed through a second magnetic column to capture CD1c⁺ cells. This purification resulted in >90% CD11c⁺ cells that were also uniformly phenotypically immature being HLA-DR^{low}, CD83⁻, and CD86^{low}.

CD4⁺ T cells were purified from peripheral blood mononuclear cells using the CD4⁺ T cells isolation kit (Miltenyi Biotec.) In brief, non-CD4⁺ T cells were removed by labeling cells with a cocktail of biotinylated monoclonal antibodies to CD8, CD14, CD16, CD19, CD36, CD56, CD123, TCR γ/δ and glycophorin A and then mixing labeled cells with anti-biotin microbeads. Labeled cells were removed by passing cells through a magnetic separation column were the labeled cells became trapped in a magnetic field. The negative cells contained in the column effluent were > 90% CD4⁺CD3⁺ by flow cytometry. The CD4⁺ positive fraction was then labeled with CD45RO microbeads (Miltenyi Biotec) and depleted of CD45RO⁺ cells by magnetic separation.

3.2.4. Assessment of DC phenotype and cytokine production.

DC phenotype was assessed by flow cytometry. In brief, cells were washed and counted prior to incubation with normal mouse serum (Jackson Laboratory, Bar Harbor, ME) for 15 minutes at 4 °C to block non-specific Fc receptor binding. Cells were then stained with specific antibodies for 30 minutes at 4 °C in the dark and washed extensively prior to fixation in 1% paraformaldehyde solution. Cytometry was performed with either a Becton Dickenson FACScaliber cytometer or LSR II cytometer. Flow data was analyzed using CellQuest software.

DC supernatants were collected and stored at -80°C until testing. Cytokines were measured with the Luminex multiplex system (Luminex Corp., Austin, TX) (443). Luminex DC and T cell isolation and purification. Luminex combines the principle of a sandwich immunoassay with the fluorescent-bead-based technology allowing multiplex analysis of several different analytes in a single microtiter well (444). Microspheres were obtained from BioSource (Camarillo, CA) to measure a panel of DC cytokines (IL-12p70, IL-10, IL-6, IL-1 β , and TNF- α). Assays were performed in 96-well microplate format according to the protocol by BioSource International. A filter-bottom, 96-well microplate (Millipore, Billerica, MA) was blocked for 10 minutes with PBS/BSA. To generate a standard curve, five-fold dilutions of appropriate standards were prepared in media diluent. Standards and supernatants were pipetted at 50 µl/well in duplicate and mixed with 50 μ l of the mixture. The microplate was incubated for 1 h at room temperature on a microplate shaker. Wells were then washed three times with washing buffer using a vacuum manifold. Phycoerythrin (PE)-conjugated secondary antibody was added to the appropriate wells and the wells were incubated for 45 minutes in the dark with constant shaking. Wells were washed twice, assay buffer was added to each well, and samples were analyzed using the Bio-Plex suspension array system, (Bio-Rad Laboratories, Hercules, CA).

3.2.5. MLR and assessment of T cell cytokine production.

1 x 10^5 allogeneic CD4⁺CD45RO⁻ T cells were co-cultured with $1x10^4$ DC per well in complete RPMI in triplicate in a 96-well plate. On day 6, the plates were spun down and supernatants collected. Cytokines in the supernatants were measured by Luminex as described above for assessment of DC cytokine production, with a panel of microspheres specific for T cell cytokines IL-5, IL-4, IL-13, IL-10 and IFN- γ , (BioSource).

3.3. Results

3.3.1. Tumor forms of MUC1 induce cell surface maturation markers on DC.

The observation that tumor MUC1 is chemotactic for immature DC raised the question of the immunological consequences of the interaction of MUC1 with the DC once they are recruited from peripheral blood to the tumor site. To model this *in vitro*, we purified myeloid DC from PBMCs of normal donors and exposed them to various forms of MUC1. LPS treatment served as the positive control for DC activation and maturation. DC were immature at the time of purification and responded strongly to LPS by upregulation of surface markers CD83, CD80, CD86, CD40, and MHC Class II (Figure 10A and data not shown). No change in the expression of these markers was seen upon interaction with the chemotactic forms, the unglycosylated 100mer MUC1, Tn-100mer MUC1, or MCF-7 MUC1 (data not shown). However, HEK MUC1, the form without chemotactic activity, but with high levels of sugars and terminal sialic acid residues, induced increased expression of all the maturation markers (Figure 10A).



Figure 10: Tumor MUC1 induces the maturation and cytokine production of human peripheral blood DC.

 CD1c^+ human myeloid DC were purified from the peripheral blood mononuclear cells of normal donors. A) Expression of maturation and co-stimulatory makers CD40, CD80, CD83 and CD86 on peripheral blood DC. DC were untreated or treated with 1 µg/ml of LPS or 50 µg/ml of HEK MUC1 for 18 hours prior to staining. B) Cytokine production by LPS DC at 18 hours as measured by multiplex analysis. C) Cytokine production by untreated DC and HEK MUC1 treated DC at 18 hours as measured by multiplex analysis. For B & C, triplicate wells were averaged and standard deviations were calculated. Results are representative of 3 independent experiments with different donors.

Our observation that tumor MUC1 can activate and mature DC, thus presumably making them more potent antigen presenting cells, appeared to be in contrast to several reports that terminal sialic acid residues on other tumor derived molecules and on mucins from other organisms have immunosuppressive effects on DC and T cells (111, 160, 445). Since upregulation of maturation markers does not always guarantee an immunostimulatory DC (446), we also examined the production of cytokines by DC that have interacted with various forms of MUC1 and compared them to the DC activated and matured by LPS. We were especially interested in the production of cytokines that would make the DC effective in priming naïve CD4⁺ T cells to become Th1 cells. Culture supernatants were collected from DC left untreated or treated with LPS or tumor MUC1. The presence of various cytokines was assessed by multiplex analysis with Luminex. LPS treated DC produced high levels of TNF- α , IL-6, IL-10, and IL-1 β and a low but detectable level of IL-12p40 that correlated with increasing concentrations of LPS (Figure 10B). We found that human CD1c⁺ DC isolated directly from peripheral blood produced approximately 100 fold lower amounts of IL-12p40 then monocytederived DC, even when treated with large amounts of LPS with and without other DC maturation signals, such as CD40L (Figure 10B and unpublished data). Tumor MUC1 treated DC produced lower overall levels of cytokines than LPS treated DC but significantly greater amounts of IL-6, TNF- α , and IL-10 than untreated DC (Figure 10C). IL-12p40 expression by tumor MUC1 treated DC was extremely low. Different donors differed in the overall magnitude of response but not in the profile of cytokines produced.

3.3.2. HMFG MUC1 from human milk activates DC

MUC1 is shed into human milk from lactating mammary glands. It is likely that the MUC1 shed from lactating breast tissue is more similar to tumor MUC1 than normal MUC1 because these epithelial cells are rapidly growing and shedding MUC1. This form of MUC1 also

has high levels of sialylation on its glycans. Therefore we tested whether this highly sialylated form of MUC1, this time directly derived from a human source instead of a tumor cell, could activate human DC.



Figure 11: HMFG MUC1 activates human DC.

CD1c⁺ DC were purified as previously described and left untreated or treated with HMFG MUC1 (50 µg/ml) or LPS (1 µg/ml, data not shown) for 18 hours. Purple histogram, untreated DC; Green histogram, HMFG MUC1 treated DC. Results shown are representative of three separate experiments.

As shown in Figure 11, HMFG MUC1 clearly activated the immature DC. Although we can not completely rule out that there is not LPS contamination of this protein, because we were not able to test the protein for LPS due to the low amount of available protein, is is likely that the response we see is due to MUC1 and its sialic acid residues. The cytokine production (Figure

12) and DC activation elicited by this form was even stronger than HEK MUC1. This indicates that a larger molecule of MUC1 with more repeats may be able to induce even stronger signaling to the DC, perhaps by crosslinking a greater number of receptors. It also raises the interesting point that MUC1 may play a role both in the immune response to MUC1 generated by lactation as well as in the newborns that ingest forms of MUC1 like HMFG MUC1.



Figure 12: HMFG MUC1 induces high levels of cytokine production.

Supernatants from DC treated as in Figure 11 were collected and cytokine concentrations were measured by Luminex. Results shown are representative of three independent experiments.

3.3.3. Terminal sialic acid residues on MUC1 induce altered DC maturation

Sialylation has been shown to be important in many receptor-ligand interactions (117, 424) and thus we tested its involvement in MUC1 induced DC maturation and cytokine production. We show in Figure 13A that desialylation of HEK MUC1 [(S-) HEK MUC1]

through chemical removal of terminal sialic acids, abolished its ability to increase expression of maturation markers. Removal of sialic acid residues with bacterial sialidase, although not as complete as chemical removal, also inhibited the ability of HEK MUC1 to induce up-regulation of maturation markers (Figure 13A). Combined with the data above, these data suggested that *in vivo*, imDC could be attracted to the tumor site through the chemotactic activity of the unglycosylated peptide epitopes on the tumor MUC1 tandem repeats and then through the interaction with the sialylated carbohydrate epitopes, acquire a more mature phenotype, i.e. up-regulate their cell surface levels of antigen presenting and co-stimulatory molecules. Similar to the results that we saw for upregulation of maturation markers, the induction of cytokine production was dependent upon the terminal sialic acids and with the more efficient desialylation, with TFA treatment, the better the prevention of cytokine induction (Figures 13B&C).



Figure 13: The removal of terminal sialic acids from tumor MUC1 prevents the induction of maturation and cytokine production by DC.

CD1c⁺ human myeloid DC were purified from the peripheral blood mononuclear cells of normal donors. DC were treated with 50 µg/ml of HEK MUC1, TFA chemically desialylated HEK MUC1, or sialidase treated HEK MUC1 for 18 hours prior to flow analysis. Filled histogram, HEK MUC1 DC, thick line upper panels, TFA treated HEK MUC1; thick line lower panels, sialidase treated HEK MUC1. B) Cytokine production by HEK MUC1 DC and TFA desialylated HEK MUC1 DC at 18 hours as measured by multiplex analysis. C) Cytokine production by HEK MUC1 DC and sialidase treated HEK MUC1 DC at 18 hours as measured by multiplex analysis. Results shown are representative of 3 independent experiments with different donors.

3.3.4. MUC1-"matured" DC fail to promote T cell commitment to Th1

Since DC showed increased levels of cytokine production and co-stimulatory molecules upon interaction with tumor MUC1, we examined how effective these DC would be in stimulating and polarizing naive CD4⁺ T cells. Interestingly, as shown in Figure 14, the proliferation induced by untreated, LPS treated and HEK MUC1 treated DC was very similar despite the distinct differences between the levels of co-stimulatory molecules and cytokines expressed by these groups of DC. It is unclear why there is no difference.



Figure 14: CD4⁺ T cell proliferation in response to HEK MUC1 treated DC.

Human $CD1c^+ DC$ were treated with nothing, LPS (1µg/ml) or HEK MUC1 (50 µg/ml) for 12 hours prior to washing and co-culture with T cells. 1 x 10⁴ DC were added per well and the number of cells added per well are indicated in the legend. On day 4 of mixed leukocyte reaction, H³-thymidine was added for 18 hours to measure proliferation. At end of incubation, cells were lysed and incorporated thymidine was measured by β -emission. Results shown are averages of triplicate wells with standard deviations and are representative of 3 independent experiments.

However, there are sharp differences in the cytokine production of these T cells despite the lack of difference in proliferation. As shown in Figure 15, T cells stimulated with untreated immature allogeneic DC produced low levels of IL-5, IL-13 and IFN- γ , indicating that they did not have the capacity to skew the development of CD4⁺ T cells towards either Th1 or Th2 phenotype. LPS treated DC were fully capable of inducing Th1 T cells that produce IFN- γ and repressing IL-5 and IL-13 producing T cells (data not shown). HEK MUC1 treated DC did not skew CD4+ T cells towards either Th1 or Th2 type but instead induced IL-5, IL-13 as well as IFN- γ producing T cells and suppressed IL-2 production. IL-4 and IL-10 were not significantly induced in any of these experiments (unpublished observations). As in the previous experiments, desialylation of tumor MUC1 blocked the induction of T cell cytokine production compared to the sialylated form of MUC1 (Figure 15).

3.3.5. Discussion

Overexpression of MUC1 and its glycosylation with sialylated core-type glycans are seen on a large number of human cancers (447, 448). Our data, shown in chapter 2, suggest that the hypoglycosylated MUC1 draws immature DC to the tumor site where they could pick up tumor antigens for presentation to T cells in the lymph node. In this chapter we show that through interactions with the highly sialylated MUC1, these DC acquire a surface phenotype of activated and matured DC that are fully expected to promote T cell activation and to skew the response to the Th1 type important for tumor rejection. On a closer examination, however, these DC show instead a state of semi-maturation, produce IL-6 and TNF- α that have been implicated in tumor metastasis and progression, and in the lymph node do not support T cell commitment to Th1. In



Figure 15: DC that have interacted with MUC1 fail to induce strong Th1 responses in T cells despite expressing co-stimulatory molecules.

 CD1c^+ DC were treated with nothing, HEK MUC1 (50 µg/ml), or [S-] sialidase treated HEK MUC1 (50 µg/ml) for 12 hours before washing and plating with naïve CD4⁺ T cells from either the same donor (syngeneic or syn.) or an unrelated donor in triplicate wells. Cell free supernatants from day 6 mixed leukocyte reactions were collected and cytokine levels were measured by Luminex. Supernatants from DC or T cell cultured alone did not produce significant levels of any of the cytokines tested. Graph shown is representative of three independent experiments.

fact, the production of TNF- α and IL-6 have both been linked to cancer and in some cases to a worse clinical prognosis (447-449). Both TNF- α and IL-6 are also keys to the migration of cells through endothelium and hence could ease the escape of metastatic cells from the tumor site. Therefore, imDC that are drawn to the MUC1⁺ tumor could, through the production of these cytokines, enhance the local immunosuppression and increased tumor invasion.

In addition, these DC promote expansion of T cells that produce large amounts of IL-13, another cytokine that has been implicated in preventing immunosurveillance of tumors and

facilitation of tumor outgrowth by repressing the function of tumor specific CTLs (450, 451). IL-13 has been implicated in facilitating the growth and spread of tumors by direct effects on tumor cells expressing the IL-13 receptor, type II IL-4 R (450). IL-13 also contributes to the stimulation of ImCs to produce TGF- β (452). STAT-6, a downstream mediator of IL-13 signaling, has also been identified as a pivotal player in metastatic disease (453).

Our experiments with sialic acid removal suggest that receptors that signal the DC to mature in response to MUC1 are likely to be sialic acid recognizing receptors of the I-type lectin family known as siglecs (117). MUC1 has been shown to bind to siglec-1/sialoadhesin, but since sialoadhesin lacks a signaling motif, it could not be responsible for the effects that we see (104). The identification of the responsible receptor(s) awaits further data on the expression of various receptors on human circulating DC and reagents for their characterization. HEK MUC1 has tandemly repeated sialic acids in both α 2-3 and α 2-6 linkages that are predicted to bind to more than one member of the sialic acid binding receptor family confounding their identification (454).

There has been little information to date on factors produced by malignant or premalignant cells that can affect fully differentiated DC. Tumor MUC1, along with other tumor derived molecules, has recently been shown to inhibit the differentiation of monocytes into DC *in vitro* (107) and it was suggested that this may contribute to the maintenance of tumor immunosuppression. More importantly, the data presented here show that even normally differentiated DC that encounter abnormal cells expressing MUC1 will be affected and help start the process of tumor-induced DC dysfunction.

Understanding interactions between tumor antigens and the immune system will help in predicting the potential of certain immunotherapeutic approaches. For example, in choosing the

87

form of MUC1 antigen to use in a cancer vaccine, one can select epitopes that maintain beneficial interactions with DC and eliminate those that negatively affect their function. In the case of MUC1⁺ tumors, it has to be taken into consideration that cancer patient's T cells are continuously exposed to DC that have interacted with MUC1 in the tumor environment. Therefore, a cancer vaccine administered in the therapeutic setting may not be able to substantially and qualitatively change the ongoing immune response. A more promising scenario would thus be to use the vaccine in a prophylactic setting to elicit a desired immune response and not allow the tumor to determine the fate of tumor specific T cells.

4. Characterization of the MUC1 chemotactic receptor

Some of the contents of section 3 have been modified from article "Human tumor antigen MUC1 is chemotactic for immature dendritic cells and elicits maturation, but does not promote Th1 type immunity." Copyright (2005), with permission from "The American Association of Immunology". Copyright permission is on file with Casey A. Carlos. Some of the work shown in this chapter was done in collaboration with the laboratory of Dr. Joost J. Oppenheim at the National Cancer Institute.

4.1. Introduction

Classical chemokine receptors are seven transmembrane G protein-linked receptors. They are expressed selectively on certain cell types but are generally each expressed on many cell types. They often respond to more than one ligand although it is not known if different ligands generate different responses. Signaling through these receptors results in the activation of several pathways. Some of these pathways are dependent upon G proteins and some are independent, such as Ca^{2+} flux and activation of the MAP kinase pathway (197-199). Chemokine receptors become inhibited by the addition of pertussis toxin and their function can be modulated by the addition of other chemokines or by prior exposure to its own ligand.

Members of this family include the receptors for the canonical C, CC, CXC, and CX_3C subgroups of chemokines but also for chemokines outside these families such as the C5a receptor.

MUC1 mucin is a human tumor antigen that has been shown to be chemotactic for human fibroblasts and immature DC (416). MUC1 is normally heavily glycosylated and sequestered on the apical surface of ductal epithelial cells. However, when MUC1 is expressed by tumor cells it loses its polarized expression and becomes hypoglycosylated. The lower level of glycosylation exposes the peptide backbone of the tandem repeat region of MUC1, termed the variable number of tandem repeats region or VNTR. The VNTR makes up the majority of the extracellular portion of MUC1, can be shed from the surface of tumor cells, and is found in the circulation of cancer patients. We have identified that the VNTR region is responsible for the chemotactic effects of MUC1. Furthermore, there must be very low to no glycans added to the VNTR to retain the chemotactic effect. From this study, it is clear that tumor MUC1 can attract immature DC and that MUC1⁺ tumors would also be predicted to induce DC migration. This is one of the first examples of a tumor antigen inducing DC chemotaxis.

Other studies done with tumor MUC1 have shown that MUC1 can interact with immature DC in a second way. Highly sialylated tumor MUC1 induces distorted DC maturation leading to a block in the DC's ability to induce Th1 cell polarization (Chapter 3 of this thesis). Because of this secondary effect, the chemotactic effects of MUC1 could add to the pool of DC that become dysfunctional once they reach the MUC1⁺ tumor. Therefore, it is important to identify the receptor responsible for MUC1 induced chemotaxis. MUC1 was shown to not have a chemotactic effect on other cells of the immune system. This lack of effect is interesting and puzzling because most known chemokine receptors are expressed on multiple types of immune

cells. The only known chemokine receptor that is uniquely expressed on immature DC is CCR6. However, cells transfected with CCR6 failed to migrate to MUC1 (J.J. Oppenheim, personal communication). This result means that to date there are no receptors that are expressed in the pattern with which we see the effects of MUC1.

To help resolve this issue and because this MUC1 chemotactic receptor may as yet be unknown, we decided to study the basic function of the MUC1 chemotactic receptor. First, the binding of 100mer MUC1 was measured through the use of a fluorescently tagged form of MUC1. Next, since most chemokine receptors are G protein-coupled receptors that are pertussis toxin sensitive, we tested the ability of pertussis toxin to block MUC1 induced chemotaxis. Chemotaxis also requires the formation of pseudopods and can induce Ca^{2+} flux. Live cell microscopy was used to analyze the effects of chemotactic and non-chemotactic forms of MUC1 on DC morphology and intracellular Ca^{2+} levels.

4.2. Materials and Methods

4.2.1. Reagents

All chemokines and cytokines were obtained from the NIH cytokine repository or Peprotech (Rocky Hill, NJ) unless otherwise noted. Reagents were purchased from Sigma Aldrich (St. Louis, MO) unless otherwise noted.

4.2.2. Chemotaxis assay

Cells were resuspended in chemotaxis medium (RPMI 1640 media containing 1% bovine serum albumin, 25 mM HEPES, pH 8.0) at 1-5 x10⁶ cells/ml. Chemokines diluted in chemotaxis medium were placed in the lower wells of a microBoyden chemotaxis chamber (Neuroprobe, Cabin John, MD). When primary leukocytes were analyzed, five-micrometer polycarbonate membranes were placed over the chemokines. After the micro-chemotaxis chamber was assembled, 50 μ l of cells were placed in the upper wells. The filled chemotaxis chambers were incubated in a humidified CO₂ incubator for 90 minutes (immature human DC). After incubation the membranes were removed from the chemotaxis chamber assembly followed by gently removing cells from the upper side of the membrane. The cells on the lower side of the membrane were stained using Rapid Stain (Richard Allen, Kalamazoo, MI). The number of migrated cells in three high-powered fields (x200) was counted by light microscopy after coding the samples. In many cases counting was computer assisted using the BIOQUANT program (R & M Biometrics, Nashville TN). Results are expressed as the mean value of the migration of triplicate sample with the standard deviation shown by bars.

4.2.3. DC isolation and purification.

Primary human leukocytes were isolated from fresh normal donor leukapheresis packs under an approved human subjects protocol as previously reported. Human imDC were generated from purified human peripheral blood monocytes (>95%) as previously described (209) and their phenotype confirmed by flow cytometry. Immature DC were CD1a⁺(Ab clone H1149), CD14⁻ (Ab clone M5E2), CD40^{low} (Ab clone 5C3), CD83⁻ (Ab clone HB15 ϵ), CD86^{low} (Ab clone 2331(FUN-1)), HLA-DR^{medium} (Ab clone G46-6 (L243)). Mature DC were generated by culturing imDC with 1 µg/ml of LPS (Sigma L-9764) for 48 hours. The phenotype of mDC was CD83^{high}, CD86^{high}, HLA-DR^{high}. Human CD1c⁺ DC were immunomagnetically purified with BDCA-1/CD1c microbeads (Miltenyi Biotec, Auburn, CA) from primary human leukocytes as previously described (423). In brief, percoll purified mononuclear cells were washed and resuspended in 2mM EDTA containing 0.5% heat inactivated fetal bovine serum (Invitrogen, Grand Island, NY). Cells were incubated with anti-CD19 microbeads and anti-CD1c-biotin antibody. Cells were then washed and passed through a column to remove CD19⁺ B cells. The remaining cells were then incubated with strepavidin-microbeads for 15 minutes. Cells were washed and passed through a second magnetic column to capture CD1c⁺ cells. This purification resulted in >90% CD11c⁺ cells that were also uniformly phenotypically immature being HLA- DR^{low} , CD83⁻, and CD86^{low}.

4.2.4. Assessment of DC phenotype and cytokine production.

DC phenotype was assessed by flow cytometry. In brief, cells were washed and counted prior to incubation with normal mouse serum (Jackson Laboratory, Bar Harbor, ME) for 15 minutes at 4 °C to block non-specific Fc receptor binding. Cells were then stained with specific antibodies for 30 minutes at 4 °C in the dark and washed extensively prior to fixation in 1% paraformaldehyde solution. Cytometry was performed with either a Becton Dickenson FACScaliber cytometer or LSR II cytometer. Flow data was analyzed using CellQuest software.

4.2.5. Fluorescent tagging of MUC1 and binding studies

100mer MUC1 was fluorescently tagged with the fluorochrome AlexaFlour[®] 488 using a protein labeling kit from Molecular Probes (Eugene, OR). In brief, 100mer peptide was reconstituted in water at a concentration of 2 mg/ml. 1 M sodium bicarbonate was added to rasie the pH of the solution and AlexaFluor[®] 488 was added and mixed with 100mer MUC1 for 1 hour at room temperature. Conjugated 100mer-fluorochrome was purified from unlabeled peptide and unconjugated fluorochrome by separation based on size on a resin column. The first fluorescent dye front representing the conjugated peptide was collected. The concentration of peptide-fluochrome conjugate was measured using the DC protein Assay from Bio-Rad (Hercules, CA).

Binding studies were done with monocyte-derived DC obtained as described above. Using various concentrations of AlexaFluor 488-100mer peptide conjugated and control peptides, cells were incubated on ice for 0, 5, 10 and 15 minutes prior to fixation with 1% paraformaldehyde. Data from fixed cells were collected by flow cytometry using the Becton Dickenson LSR II cytometer and analyzed using CellQuest software.

4.2.6. Live cell microscopy and Ca²⁺ flux

Day 5 human monocyte derived DC were plated on Vitrogen® collagen (Cohesion Technologies, Inc., Palo Alto, CA) coated glass coverslips (Fisher Scientific, Pittsburgh, PA) overnight. The following day, coverslips were placed in a continuous flow chamber system. Images were captured using a Nikon Eclipse 2000E (Nikon Inc., Melville, NY), equipped with a water-cooled Hamamatsu Orca 2 ER camera (Hamamatsu, Tokyo, Japan) and a 40x 1.45NA plan apochromat objective. The software used was MetaMorph (Universal Imaging, Inc., Downingtown, PA). Images were collected at multiple stage positions at 30 second intervals. Peptides were injected as a single bolus into the closed chamber system via an airlock. For Ca2+ flux experiments, cells on coverslip were washed and Fura-2 AM (Molecular Probes, Eugene, OR) in PBS (5 µg/ml) was added to coverslip for 30 minutes. Cells were then washed with fresh media and added to a continuous flow chamber system.

4.3. Results

4.3.1. 100mer MUC1 is capable of binding to immature human DC

Although previous work done in our lab had established that 100mer and ascites MUC1 can bind to the surface of immature monocyte-derived DC (105), we decided to confirm the binding of 100mer MUC1 to the surface of these cells. 100mer MUC1 was fluorescently labeled with the fluorochrome AlexaFluor® 488 and used to label Day 6 monocyte-derived DC. DC were kept on ice during labeling to ensure that no peptide was endocytosed during surface labeling.



Figure 16: 100mer MUC1 binds to the surface of monocyte derived DC.

Fluorecently labeled 100mer MUC1 was added at a concentration of 1 μ g/ml for 10 minutes to Day 6 monocyte DC on ice. At the end of 10 minutes, DC were washed once with FACS buffer and fixed. Purple histogram, unlabeled DC; Green histogram, AlexaFluor® 488 conjugated 100mer MUC1. Results shown are representative of three separate experiments with independent donors

As shown in Figure 16, 100mer MUC1 binds to the surface of the DC. To test for specific binding of 100mer, we attempted to block the binding of fluorescently tagged 100mer MUC1with unlabeled 100mer MUC1. However, as shown in Figure 17, the addition of fifty fold excess unlabeled 100mer MUC1 did not block the binding of labeled 100mer MUC1and, in fact, reproducibly enhanced the binding of 100mer MUC1 to the DC. There is no conclusive reason behind this enhanced binding but we hypothesize, and have some preliminary data, that suggests there could be homotypic binding of 100mer MUC1 to itself. However, this hypothesis has not been fully tested.



Figure 17: Unlabeled 100mer enhances binding of labeled 100mer to human DC.

Binding study was done as described for Figure 18. AlexaFluor® 488-100mer MUC1 was added at a concentration of 10 μ g/ml ± 500 μ g/ml of unlabeled 100mer MUC1 for 10 minutes prior to a wash with FACS buffer and fixation. Purple histogram, unlabeled cells; Green histogram, AlezaFluor® 488-100mer MUC1; Pink histogram, AlexaFluor® 488-100mer MUC1 plus 50-fold excess unlabeled 100mer MUC1. Results shown are representative of 3 independent experiments.

Since the majority of chemokine receptors are G protein-linked receptors that are

4.3.2. The MUC1 chemotactic receptor is a G protein-coupled receptor

sensitive to inhibition by pertussis toxin, we looked at the effect of pertussis toxin on MUC1induced chemotaxis. Pertussis toxin functions by catalyzing the ADP-ribosylation of the guanine nucleotide regulatory protein that functions in the receptor-mediated inhibition of adenylate cyclase. The lack of inhibition of adenylate cyclase results in the potentiation of cyclic AMP signaling. As shown in Figure 18, the migration induced by ascites MUC1 was sensitive to pertussis treatment thus implicating one or several G-protein-linked receptors in this process.



Figure 18: Pertussis toxin inhibits ascites MUC1 induced chemotaxis.

Chemotaxis chambers were set up as described in Material & Methods in the presence or absence of indicated concentrations of pertussis. *, p<0.001. There were no significant differences between control media, CM, and pertussis treated cells.

Chemotaxis mediated by the synthetic 100mer MUC1 was also sensitive to pertussis inhibition (Figure 19). The behavior of these two peptides continues to be the same indicating that the chemotactic receptor for 100mer MUC1 and ascites MUC1 is the same and binds to the unglycosylated VNTR region for each. Thus, similar to other chemokine receptors, the MUC1 chemotactic receptor is a G protein-linked receptor.





Chemotaxis chamber were set up as described in Materials & Methods in the presence or absence of pertussis toxin. 100mer MUC1 was used at a concentration of 100 ng/ml and RANTES was used at a concentration of 50 ng/ml.

4.3.3. Chemotactic but not non-chemotactic forms of MUC1 induce pseudopods on human DC

Pseudopods are formed at the leading edge of a cell after it receives a chemotactic signal.

Pseudopods contain a large number of actin fibers and concentrate the chemotactic receptor to the pseudopodial portion of the membrane. To examine if pseudopods are formed in response to 100mer MUC1 we conducted microscopy using a live cell apparatus. Cells were plated on coverslips and placed in a closed chamber. Fresh media was washed over the cells during the course of the experiment and the temperature of the cells was maintained at 37°C to keep the cells alive and functional. 100mer MUC1 or HEK MUC1 was added to the chamber and serial photographs were taken of the coverslip over a span of approximately thirty minutes. Images from a single stage position were then combined into a movie. The movies of the DC response to 100mer and HEK MUC1 are included with this dissertation on CD-ROM (100mer MUC1.avi
and HEK MUC1.avi). From Figure 20 one can clearly see that by sixteen minutes, the cells that have been treated with 100mer MUC1 have formed large pseudopodial protusions and have drastically changed shape compared to time zero. In contrast, DC that were treated with HEK MUC1, which is not chemotactic, fail to produce pseudopods and look quite similar at sixteen minutes to their appearance at time zero.



0 minutes

16 minutes

Figure 20: Pseudopods are induced by 100mer MUC1 but not HEK MUC1.

Closed chamber live microscopy was conducted as described in Materials and Methods. 100mer MUC1 or HEK MUC1 were injected at time zero and cells were observed for 30 minutes.

Within a gradient the dominant pseudopod, formed at the leading edge of the cell, inhibits the formation of pseudopods on other regions of the membrane. Although a true pseudopod and uropod, opposite the pseudopod, cannot be seen in these cells because of a lack of chemotactic gradient, there are clearly pseudopodial protrusions. It is likely that without a gradient, pseudopods are formed in all directions. There is also a possibility that the pseudopod-like structures seen in this experiment are a form of targeted antigen uptake. Proteins that bind to receptors on the DC surface and be recognized may also be able to up-regulate its own ingestion by the DC.

4.3.4. 100mer MUC1 induces DC Ca²⁺ flux

Most chemokine receptors respond to ligand binding through a variety of signaling pathways. One of the most common pathways results in a flux in the concentration of intracellular calcium ions. Because this is a common pathway, we sought to determine whether the MUC1 chemotactic receptor induced Ca^{2+} flux similar to other chemokine receptors. Day 6 monocyte-derived DC were labeled with fura-2AM dye prior to live cell microscopy. Live cell microscopy was conducted as described in section 4.3.3. Fura-2AM is an ultraviolet (UV) excitable fluorescent probe for Ca^{2+} . As shown in Figure 21 and in the movie accompanying this dissertation (Calcium flux.avi), 100mer MUC1 induced Ca^{2+} flux.



Figure 21: 100mer MUC1 induced Ca²⁺ flux in human DC.

Day 6 monocyte-derived DC were plated on coverslips and loaded with fura-2AM prior to assembly of the closed chamber microscopy apparatus. 100mer MUC1 was injected and UV light was used to excite the fura-2AM. The time (hours:minutes:seconds) after injection of 100mer MUC1 is shown in the lower right hand corner. On the left is the differential interference contrast (DIC) image and on the left is the image in fluorescence.

The Ca^{2+} flux can be seen as an increase in the blue intensity in the cells. In the movie of these cells, the level of blue emission changes with time. The flux is seen as a switch in the cell color from purple to blue and back again. With a strong signal, all the cells can be synchronized in their Ca^{2+} flux. This was not the case for 100mer MUC1 treated DC. Again, as seen best in the movie, each individual cell fluxed independent of the next cell. The lack of synchronization indicates that either the response to MUC1 is weaker than for other stimuli, such as LPS, or that it may take more time to generate the signal necessary for Ca^{2+} flux from MUC1 binding.

4.4. Discussion

This study has shown that the MUC1 chemotactic receptor can preliminarily be classified as part of the greater chemokine family of G protein-coupled receptors. Its function is inhibitable by pertussis toxin and its signaling results in the formation of pseudopods and Ca^{2+} flux. This classification is important because it greatly restricts the group of receptors that are candidates for the MUC1 chemotactic receptor. The characteristics stated above and its expression on immature DC but not mature DC, lymphocytes, NK cells, or monocytes, fit closely the characteristics of CCR6 receptor. This possibility has already been tested and CCR6 is not the MUC1 chemotactic receptor. Therefore, it is most likely an orphan receptor expressed on the DC, which still needs to be defined.

100mer MUC1 can bind to the surface of the DC. However, the binding was not inhibitable by the addition of unlabeled 100mer MUC1. This result is very unusual and we have considered two possibilities. The less interesting one is that there was unbound fluorochrome in the purified fluorochrome-conjugated 100mer MUC1 that was able to bind to the unlabeled 100mer MUC, thus increasing the overall fluorescence of the cell. We ruled that out because any unconjugated fluorochrome should bind to cellular proteins with equal affinity as to the unlabeled protein. Since the unconjugated fluorochrome is added at the same concentration to both groups of cells, there should be no increase in fluorescence in the presence of unlabeled 100mer peptide. The second scenario is that 100mer MUC1 is capable of a homotypic interaction. In this case, unlabeled MUC1 could bind both to the receptor and to the labeled MUC1 and hence increase the overall binding of labeled MUC1 to the cell surface. This hypothesis is supported by other work done in our lab showing that the MUC1 dependent binding of tumor cells to collagen was also increased in the presence of soluble 100mer MUC1 (P. Ciborowski, personal communication).

The ability of pertussis toxin to block the DC chemotaxis shows that the MUC1 chemotactic receptor is a G protein-linked receptor. G protein-linked receptors have been extensively studied and, as mentioned above, most chemokine receptors belong to this family. Based on this, MUC1 chemotaxis receptor would be expected to similarly use other signaling pathways common to chemokine receptors. It will be interesting and relevant to analyze tyrosine phosphorylation especially of members of the MAP kinase and STAT pathways to see if they are modified by MUC1 binding.

The formation of a pseudopod is a complicated process. It contains a large concentration of actin filaments and usually the uropod, at the opposite end, contains a large number of myosin filaments. The live microscopy experiments show pseudopod formation in response to 100mer MUC1 but, because of the inability to set up a true concentration gradient, the pseudopods were formed in all directions. For this same reason, a clearly defined uropod could not be seen. It may also be possible that these membrane arms are extending in a form of targeted antigen uptake. In either case, there were distinct differences between the chemotactic forms of MUC1 and the non-chemotactic forms. Hence, it will be important to study the cell morphology in a concentration gradient and also to determine if the morphological changes seen in DC are similar to the change seen in fibroblasts.

The identification of the MUC1 chemotactic receptor is important for cancer immunotherapy. A tumor specific chemokine has a potential to be exploited and blocked to prevent DC dysfunction. This preventative measure would help maintain a healthy pool of circulating DC that are not drawn into the suppressive environment of the tumor. Conversely, a chemokine receptor that draws cells specifically to the tumor site could be used to target cytolytic cells or transfected and activated cells to the tumor site. Finally, the injection of chemotactic forms of MUC1 with an adjuvant may be a more effective MUC1 vaccine than forms that are not chemotactic. All of these issues must be considered in the formulation of MUC1 targeted cancer vaccines.

5. Summary

The work described in this dissertation has elucidated the effects of the tumor antigen MUC1 on human DC. Previous work has shown that glycosylated MUC1 can bind to the mannose receptor and enter early endocytic vesicles. These vesicles fail to fuse with late endosomes and hence tumor MUC1 fails to be processed and presented on MHC Class II molecules although it does get presented on a small number of MHC Class I molecules. Here we broaden the role of MUC1 in altering the immune response to MUC1 and tumors in general. We show that the unglycosylated VNTR region of MUC1 is chemotactic to immature DC but not to other cells of the immune system. Through the expression and shedding of MUC1, tumors can induce the immature DC, which should be the start of the anti-tumor response, into the immunosuppressive environment of the tumor. After the DC is at the tumor site, the sialylated epitopes on MUC1 induce DC maturation. However, this maturation does not induce a strong production of IL-12. IL-12 is a critical cytokine for the support of Th1 polarization and

accordingly the MUC1 treated DC fail to activate Th1 cells. Instead they induce naïve T cells to produce IL-13 and IL-5. Both of these cytokines have been shown to promote the growth of tumors. Finally, the chemotactic receptor for MUC1 has been classified as a typical chemokine receptor. The receptor has the mechanisms, such as pertussis toxin sensitivity, the formation of pseudopods, and Ca^{2+} flux, of other chemokine receptors but, the signaling on only immature DC of all the cell types tested, does not fit with any of the known chemokine receptors. The identity of this receptor and its mechanisms could be used to modulate the chemotactic effects of MUC1⁺ tumors. These conclusions are illustrated in Figure 22.

It is interesting to note that the induction of an immune response with semi-mature DC in mice corresponded very well to the human cancer immune response. A semi-mature DC population was attained by treating immature DC with TNF- α and were indistinguishable from LPS treated DC in terms of cell surface markers but differed in their cytokine production. These DC, when loaded with peptide and injected into mice induced CD4⁺ T cell tolerance and a partially activated CD8⁺ T cells with some cytolytic function. Even when the CD4⁺ T cells are stimulated by mature but not truly activated DC, they fail to induce Th1 polarization (455). MUC1 induces TNF- α production by DC, a phenotype similar to this semi-mature DC, and in patients with MUC1⁺ tumors, this is the type of immune response found (456).

Since MUC1 is shed from the tumor cell surface, it could also affect the general immune status of cancer patients. Proteins that enter the afferent lymphatics can reach the lymph node and be taken up by resident dendritic cells for presentation (457). In fact, MUC1 has been shown to bind to sialoadhesin, which is highly expressed on macrophages in the lymph node. The lymph node could, through this mechanism, become a depot for MUC1 and its immunosuppressive effects. Efficient and strong T helper cell responses are an absolute

104

requirement for the establishment of a strong and lasting anti-tumor response. However, as we have shown here, in the presence of MUC1, these responses will be difficult to generate.



Figure 22: Summary of effects of MUC1 on human DC. iDC=immature DC and mDC=mature DC.

This work has also shown the importance of glycosylation, in general, and sialic acid, more specifically, in signaling the immune system. Groups that have studied free oligosaccharides from human milk have shown that the acidic fractions *in vitro* increase the number of $CD3^+CD4^+$ and $CD3^+CD8^+$ T cells that produce IFN- γ and also the number of $CD3^+CD8^+$ T cells that produce IL-13 (458). In addition, the acidic fraction increased the number of $CD3^+CD4^+CD25^+$ T cells. We have shown here that MUC1 isolated form human milk fat is capable of inducing DC semi-maturation. Perhaps the addition of sialic acid to proteins is a broad mechanism for inducing IL-13 production and suppressing a strong Th1 immune response.

In conclusion, although the targeting of MUC1 for immunotherapy is still a promising new therapy for cancer, the work shown here suggests that the forms of MUC1 and the timing of MUC1 vaccines must be considered very carefully. Pre-malignant lesions express MUC1 meaning that at very early points in the growth of tumors, MUC1 is already influencing the immune response to MUC1 and tumors as a whole. Therefore, a prophylactic cancer vaccine will be the most effective approach for anti-MUC1 cancer vaccines. It would have a chance to elicit a strong Th1 and CTL response prior to their exposure to MUC1 in the tumor cell environment. The chemotactic effects of MUC1 should be of benefit to a cancer vaccine. The use of 100mer MUC1 to draw into the vaccination site immature DC from the circulation, in combination with a strong adjuvant, would be predicted to be a strong vaccine. Even better would be the combination of the chemotactic 100mer MUC1 with the Tn-100mer MUC1 with an adjuvant, as this vaccine would target both peptide and glycopeptide specific T cells. However, even though there is a large concentration of sialylated epitopes on tumor MUC1, the sialylated forms of MUC1 should not be used in vaccines because of their immunomodulatory effects on DC.

APPENDIX. PUBLICATIONS

- Vlad, A.M., J.C. Kettel, N.A. Alajez, C.A. Carlos and O.J. Finn. 2004. MUC1 immunobiology: from discovery to clinical applications. *Adv Immunol* 82:249.
- **Carlos, C.A.** and O.J. Finn. 2004. Prophylactic cancer vaccines-a new vision. *Enhancer* 2(2):2-6.
- Oppenheim, J. J., H. F. Dong, P. Plotz, R. R. Caspi, M. Dykstra, S. Pierce, R. Martin, C. Carlos,O. Finn, O. Koul, and O. M. Z. Howard. 2005. Autoantigens act as tissue specific chemoattractants. *J Leukoc Biol* 77:854.
- Carlos, C.A. and O.J. Finn. 2005. Dendritic cells in human cancer, in <u>Dendritic Cells</u>, 2nd ed. M.B. Lutz, N. Romani, and A. Steinkasserer, eds. Wiley Verlag Publishing, Weinheim, Germany, *in press*.
- Carlos, C.A., H.F. Dong, O.M.Z. Howard, J.J. Oppenheim, F.-G. Hanisch, and O.J. Finn. 2005. Human tumor antigen MUC1 is chemotactic for immature dendritic cells and elicits maturation, but does not promote Th1 type immunity. *J Immunol 175:1628*.

BIBLIOGRAPHY

- 1. Coley, W. B. 1991. The treatment of malignant tumors by repeated inoculations of erysipelas. With a report of ten original cases. 1893. *Clin Orthop Relat Res:3*.
- 2. Boes, M., A. Cuvillier, and H. Ploegh. 2004. Membrane specializations and endosome maturation in dendritic cells and B cells. *Trends Cell Biol* 14:175.
- 3. Guermonprez, P., J. Valladeau, L. Zitvogel, C. Thery, and S. Amigorena. 2002. Antigen presentation and T cell stimulation by dendritic cells. *Annu Rev Immunol* 20:621.
- 4. Peiser, M., R. Wanner, and G. Kolde. 2004. Human epidermal Langerhans cells differ from monocyte-derived Langerhans cells in CD80 expression and in secretion of IL-12 after CD40 cross-linking. *J Leukoc Biol* 76:616.
- 5. Pulendran, B. 2005. Variegation of the immune response with dendritic cells and pathogen recognition receptors. *J Immunol* 174:2457.
- 6. Kalinski, P., C. M. Hilkens, E. A. Wierenga, and M. L. Kapsenberg. 1999. T-cell priming by type-1 and type-2 polarized dendritic cells: the concept of a third signal. *Immunol Today 20:561*.
- 7. Trinchieri, G. 2003. Interleukin-12 and the regulation of innate resistance and adaptive immunity. *Nat Rev Immunol 3:133*.
- 8. Kadowaki, N., S. Antonenko, J. Y. Lau, and Y. J. Liu. 2000. Natural interferon alpha/beta-producing cells link innate and adaptive immunity. *J Exp Med* 192:219.
- 9. Salomon, B., and J. A. Bluestone. 1998. LFA-1 interaction with ICAM-1 and ICAM-2 regulates Th2 cytokine production. *J Immunol 161:5138*.
- 10. Ohshima, Y., L. P. Yang, T. Uchiyama, Y. Tanaka, P. Baum, M. Sergerie, P. Hermann, and G. Delespesse. 1998. OX40 costimulation enhances interleukin-4 (IL-4) expression

at priming and promotes the differentiation of naive human CD4(+) T cells into high IL-4-producing effectors. *Blood* 92:3338.

- 11. Kapsenberg, M. L. 2003. Dendritic-cell control of pathogen-driven T-cell polarization. *Nat Rev Immunol 3:984*.
- 12. Agrawal, S., A. Agrawal, B. Doughty, A. Gerwitz, J. Blenis, T. Van Dyke, and B. Pulendran. 2003. Cutting edge: different Toll-like receptor agonists instruct dendritic cells to induce distinct Th responses via differential modulation of extracellular signal-regulated kinase-mitogen-activated protein kinase and c-Fos. *J Immunol 171:4984*.
- Mailliard, R. B., Y. I. Son, R. Redlinger, P. T. Coates, A. Giermasz, P. A. Morel, W. J. Storkus, and P. Kalinski. 2003. Dendritic cells mediate NK cell help for Th1 and CTL responses: two-signal requirement for the induction of NK cell helper function. *J Immunol 171:2366*.
- 14. Anderson, C. F., M. Lucas, L. Gutierrez-Kobeh, A. E. Field, and D. M. Mosser. 2004. T cell biasing by activated dendritic cells. *J Immunol* 173:955.
- 15. Corthay, A., D. K. Skovseth, K. U. Lundin, E. Rosjo, H. Omholt, P. O. Hofgaard, G. Haraldsen, and B. Bogen. 2005. Primary antitumor immune response mediated by CD4+ T cells. *Immunity 22:371*.
- Calzascia, T., F. Masson, W. Di Berardino-Besson, E. Contassot, R. Wilmotte, M. Aurrand-Lions, C. Ruegg, P. Y. Dietrich, and P. R. Walker. 2005. Homing phenotypes of tumor-specific CD8 T cells are predetermined at the tumor site by crosspresenting APCs. *Immunity 22:175.*
- 17. Shurin, M. R., L. Lu, P. Kalinski, A. M. Stewart-Akers, and M. T. Lotze. 1999. Th1/Th2 balance in cancer, transplantation and pregnancy. *Springer Semin Immunopathol* 21:339.
- 18. Sato, M., S. Goto, R. Kaneko, M. Ito, S. Sato, and S. Takeuchi. 1998. Impaired production of Th1 cytokines and increased frequency of Th2 subsets in PBMC from advanced cancer patients. *Anticancer Res* 18:3951.
- 19. Bellone, G., A. Turletti, E. Artusio, K. Mareschi, A. Carbone, D. Tibaudi, A. Robecchi, G. Emanuelli, and U. Rodeck. 1999. Tumor-associated transforming growth factor-beta and interleukin-10 contribute to a systemic Th2 immune phenotype in pancreatic carcinoma patients. *Am J Pathol* 155:537.

- 20. Pellegrini, P., A. M. Berghella, T. Del Beato, S. Cicia, D. Adorno, and C. U. Casciani. 1996. Disregulation in TH1 and TH2 subsets of CD4+ T cells in peripheral blood of colorectal cancer patients and involvement in cancer establishment and progression. *Cancer Immunol Immunother 42:1*.
- Tendler, C. L., J. D. Burton, J. Jaffe, D. Danielpour, M. Charley, J. P. McCoy, M. R. Pittelkow, and T. A. Waldmann. 1994. Abnormal cytokine expression in Sezary and adult T-cell leukemia cells correlates with the functional diversity between these T-cell malignancies. *Cancer Res* 54:4430.
- 22. Yamamura, M., R. L. Modlin, J. D. Ohmen, and R. L. Moy. 1993. Local expression of antiinflammatory cytokines in cancer. *J Clin Invest 91:1005*.
- 23. Banchereau, J., and R. M. Steinman. 1998. Dendritic cells and the control of immunity. *Nature 392:245.*
- 24. Mocellin, S., S. Mandruzzato, V. Bronte, M. Lise, and D. Nitti. 2004. Part I: Vaccines for solid tumours. *Lancet Oncol* 5:681.
- 25. Vakkila, J., and M. T. Lotze. 2004. Inflammation and necrosis promote tumour growth. *Nat Rev Immunol* 4:641.
- 26. Sauter, B., M. L. Albert, L. Francisco, M. Larsson, S. Somersan, and N. Bhardwaj. 2000. Consequences of cell death: exposure to necrotic tumor cells, but not primary tissue cells or apoptotic cells, induces the maturation of immunostimulatory dendritic cells. *J Exp Med 191:423*.
- 27. Mailliard, R. B., S. Egawa, Q. Cai, A. Kalinska, S. N. Bykovskaya, M. T. Lotze, M. L. Kapsenberg, W. J. Storkus, and P. Kalinski. 2002. Complementary dendritic cellactivating function of CD8+ and CD4+ T cells: helper role of CD8+ T cells in the development of T helper type 1 responses. *J Exp Med 195:473*.
- 28. Boon, T., and P. van der Bruggen. 1996. Human tumor antigens recognized by T lymphocytes. *J Exp Med* 183:725.
- 29. Finn, O. J., and G. Forni. 2002. Prophylactic cancer vaccines. *Curr Opin Immunol* 14:172.

- 30. Finn, O. J. 2003. Cancer vaccines: between the idea and the reality. *Nat Rev Immunol 3:630*.
- 31. Messmer, D., H. Yang, G. Telusma, F. Knoll, J. Li, B. Messmer, K. J. Tracey, and N. Chiorazzi. 2004. High mobility group box protein 1: an endogenous signal for dendritic cell maturation and Th1 polarization. *J Immunol 173:307*.
- 32. Shi, Y., J. E. Evans, and K. L. Rock. 2003. Molecular identification of a danger signal that alerts the immune system to dying cells. *Nature* 425:516.
- 33. Hu, D. E., A. M. Moore, L. L. Thomsen, and K. M. Brindle. 2004. Uric acid promotes tumor immune rejection. *Cancer Res* 64:5059.
- 34. Fernandez, N. C., A. Lozier, C. Flament, P. Ricciardi-Castagnoli, D. Bellet, M. Suter, M. Perricaudet, T. Tursz, E. Maraskovsky, and L. Zitvogel. 1999. Dendritic cells directly trigger NK cell functions: cross-talk relevant in innate anti-tumor immune responses in vivo. *Nat Med 5:405*.
- 35. Kodama, T., K. Takeda, O. Shimozato, Y. Hayakawa, M. Atsuta, K. Kobayashi, M. Ito, H. Yagita, and K. Okumura. 1999. Perforin-dependent NK cell cytotoxicity is sufficient for anti-metastatic effect of IL-12. *Eur J Immunol 29:1390*.
- 36. Fujii, S., K. Shimizu, M. Kronenberg, and R. M. Steinman. 2002. Prolonged IFNgamma-producing NKT response induced with alpha-galactosylceramide-loaded DCs. *Nat Immunol 3:867*.
- Kalinski, P., A. Giermasz, Y. Nakamura, P. Basse, W. J. Storkus, J. M. Kirkwood, and R. B. Mailliard. 2005. Helper role of NK cells during the induction of anticancer responses by dendritic cells. *Mol Immunol* 42:535.
- van den Broeke, L. T., E. Daschbach, E. K. Thomas, G. Andringa, and J. A. Berzofsky. 2003. Dendritic cell-induced activation of adaptive and innate antitumor immunity. *J Immunol* 171:5842.
- 39. Penna, G., M. Vulcano, S. Sozzani, and L. Adorini. 2002. Differential migration behavior and chemokine production by myeloid and plasmacytoid dendritic cells. *Hum Immunol* 63:1164.

- 40. Gabrilovich, D. 2004. Mechanisms and functional significance of tumour-induced dendritic-cell defects. *Nat Rev Immunol 4:941*.
- 41. Lotze, M. T. 1997. Future directions for recombinant interleukin-2 in cancer: a chronic inflammatory disorder. *Cancer J Sci Am 3 Suppl 1:S106*.
- 42. Daniel, D., N. Meyer-Morse, E. K. Bergsland, K. Dehne, L. M. Coussens, and D. Hanahan. 2003. Immune enhancement of skin carcinogenesis by CD4+ T cells. *J Exp Med* 197:1017.
- 43. Coussens, L. M., and Z. Werb. 2001. Inflammatory cells and cancer: think different! *J Exp Med 193:F23*.
- 44. Almand, B., J. R. Resser, B. Lindman, S. Nadaf, J. I. Clark, E. D. Kwon, D. P. Carbone, and D. I. Gabrilovich. 2000. Clinical significance of defective dendritic cell differentiation in cancer. *Clin Cancer Res* 6:1755.
- 45. Wojas, K., J. Tabarkiewicz, M. Jankiewicz, and J. Rolinski. 2004. Dendritic cells in peripheral blood of patients with breast and lung cancer--a pilot study. *Folia Histochem Cytobiol* 42:45.
- 46. Della Bella, S., M. Gennaro, M. Vaccari, C. Ferraris, S. Nicola, A. Riva, M. Clerici, M. Greco, and M. L. Villa. 2003. Altered maturation of peripheral blood dendritic cells in patients with breast cancer. *Br J Cancer* 89:1463.
- 47. Hoffmann, T. K., J. Muller-Berghaus, R. L. Ferris, J. T. Johnson, W. J. Storkus, and T. L. Whiteside. 2002. Alterations in the frequency of dendritic cell subsets in the peripheral circulation of patients with squamous cell carcinomas of the head and neck. *Clin Cancer Res* 8:1787.
- 48. Troy, A., P. Davidson, C. Atkinson, and D. Hart. 1998. Phenotypic characterisation of the dendritic cell infiltrate in prostate cancer. *J Urol 160:214*.
- 49. Troy, A. J., K. L. Summers, P. J. Davidson, C. H. Atkinson, and D. N. Hart. 1998. Minimal recruitment and activation of dendritic cells within renal cell carcinoma. *Clin Cancer Res* 4:585.
- 50. Enk, A. H., H. Jonuleit, J. Saloga, and J. Knop. 1997. Dendritic cells as mediators of tumor-induced tolerance in metastatic melanoma. *Int J Cancer* 73:309.

- 51. Nestle, F. O., G. Burg, J. Fah, T. Wrone-Smith, and B. J. Nickoloff. 1997. Human sunlight-induced basal-cell-carcinoma-associated dendritic cells are deficient in T cell co-stimulatory molecules and are impaired as antigen-presenting cells. *Am J Pathol* 150:641.
- 52. Kusmartsev, S., and D. I. Gabrilovich. 2002. Immature myeloid cells and cancerassociated immune suppression. *Cancer Immunol Immunother* 51:293.
- 53. Costello, R. T., J. A. Gastaut, and D. Olive. 1999. Tumor escape from immune surveillance. *Arch Immunol Ther Exp (Warsz)* 47:83.
- 54. Sharma, S., M. Stolina, S. C. Yang, F. Baratelli, J. F. Lin, K. Atianzar, J. Luo, L. Zhu, Y. Lin, M. Huang, M. Dohadwala, R. K. Batra, and S. M. Dubinett. 2003. Tumor cyclooxygenase 2-dependent suppression of dendritic cell function. *Clin Cancer Res* 9:961.
- 55. Yang, L., N. Yamagata, R. Yadav, S. Brandon, R. L. Courtney, J. D. Morrow, Y. Shyr, M. Boothby, S. Joyce, D. P. Carbone, and R. M. Breyer. 2003. Cancer-associated immunodeficiency and dendritic cell abnormalities mediated by the prostaglandin EP2 receptor. *J Clin Invest 111:727*.
- 56. Melani, C., C. Chiodoni, G. Forni, and M. P. Colombo. 2003. Myeloid cell expansion elicited by the progression of spontaneous mammary carcinomas in c-erbB-2 transgenic BALB/c mice suppresses immune reactivity. *Blood 102:2138*.
- 57. Bronte, V., P. Serafini, E. Apolloni, and P. Zanovello. 2001. Tumor-induced immune dysfunctions caused by myeloid suppressor cells. *J Immunother* 24:431.
- 58. Serafini, P., C. De Santo, I. Marigo, S. Cingarlini, L. Dolcetti, G. Gallina, P. Zanovello, and V. Bronte. 2004. Derangement of immune responses by myeloid suppressor cells. *Cancer Immunol Immunother* 53:64.
- 59. Almand, B., J. I. Clark, E. Nikitina, J. van Beynen, N. R. English, S. C. Knight, D. P. Carbone, and D. I. Gabrilovich. 2001. Increased production of immature myeloid cells in cancer patients: a mechanism of immunosuppression in cancer. *J Immunol 166:678*.
- 60. Young, M. R., and D. M. Lathers. 1999. Myeloid progenitor cells mediate immune suppression in patients with head and neck cancers. *Int J Immunopharmacol* 21:241.

- 61. Nefedova, Y., M. Huang, S. Kusmartsev, R. Bhattacharya, P. Cheng, R. Salup, R. Jove, and D. Gabrilovich. 2004. Hyperactivation of STAT3 is involved in abnormal differentiation of dendritic cells in cancer. *J Immunol* 172:464.
- 62. Conejo-Garcia, J. R., F. Benencia, M. C. Courreges, E. Kang, A. Mohamed-Hadley, R. J. Buckanovich, D. O. Holtz, A. Jenkins, H. Na, L. Zhang, D. S. Wagner, D. Katsaros, R. Caroll, and G. Coukos. 2004. Tumor-infiltrating dendritic cell precursors recruited by a beta-defensin contribute to vasculogenesis under the influence of Vegf-A. *Nat Med 10:950*.
- 63. Rivollier, A., M. Mazzorana, J. Tebib, M. Piperno, T. Aitsiselmi, C. Rabourdin-Combe, P. Jurdic, and C. Servet-Delprat. 2004. Immature dendritic cell transdifferentiation into osteoclasts: a novel pathway sustained by the rheumatoid arthritis microenvironment. *Blood 104:4029*.
- 64. Gabrilovich, D. I., H. L. Chen, K. R. Girgis, H. T. Cunningham, G. M. Meny, S. Nadaf, D. Kavanaugh, and D. P. Carbone. 1996. Production of vascular endothelial growth factor by human tumors inhibits the functional maturation of dendritic cells. *Nat Med* 2:1096.
- 65. Oyama, T., S. Ran, T. Ishida, S. Nadaf, L. Kerr, D. P. Carbone, and D. I. Gabrilovich. 1998. Vascular endothelial growth factor affects dendritic cell maturation through the inhibition of nuclear factor-kappa B activation in hemopoietic progenitor cells. *J Immunol 160:1224*.
- 66. Ohm, J. E., M. R. Shurin, C. Esche, M. T. Lotze, D. P. Carbone, and D. I. Gabrilovich. 1999. Effect of vascular endothelial growth factor and FLT3 ligand on dendritic cell generation in vivo. *J Immunol 163:3260*.
- 67. Gabrilovich, D. I., T. Ishida, S. Nadaf, J. E. Ohm, and D. P. Carbone. 1999. Antibodies to vascular endothelial growth factor enhance the efficacy of cancer immunotherapy by improving endogenous dendritic cell function. *Clin Cancer Res* 5:2963.
- Wang, T., G. Niu, M. Kortylewski, L. Burdelya, K. Shain, S. Zhang, R. Bhattacharya, D. Gabrilovich, R. Heller, D. Coppola, W. Dalton, R. Jove, D. Pardoll, and H. Yu. 2004. Regulation of the innate and adaptive immune responses by Stat-3 signaling in tumor cells. *Nat Med* 10:48.
- 69. McRae, B. L., R. T. Semnani, M. P. Hayes, and G. A. van Seventer. 1998. Type I IFNs inhibit human dendritic cell IL-12 production and Th1 cell development. *J Immunol 160:4298*.

- 70. Whiteside, T. L., and C. Odoux. 2004. Dendritic cell biology and cancer therapy. *Cancer Immunol Immunother* 53:240.
- 71. Curiel, T. J., S. Wei, H. Dong, X. Alvarez, P. Cheng, P. Mottram, R. Krzysiek, K. L. Knutson, B. Daniel, M. C. Zimmermann, O. David, M. Burow, A. Gordon, N. Dhurandhar, L. Myers, R. Berggren, A. Hemminki, R. D. Alvarez, D. Emilie, D. T. Curiel, L. Chen, and W. Zou. 2003. Blockade of B7-H1 improves myeloid dendritic cell-mediated antitumor immunity. *Nat Med* 9:562.
- 72. Dong, H., and L. Chen. 2003. B7-H1 pathway and its role in the evasion of tumor immunity. *J Mol Med* 81:281.
- 73. Tsuge, T., M. Yamakawa, and M. Tsukamoto. 2000. Infiltrating dendritic/Langerhans cells in primary breast cancer. *Breast Cancer Res Treat 59:141*.
- 74. Vicari, A. P., I. Treilleux, and S. Lebecque. 2004. Regulation of the trafficking of tumour-infiltrating dendritic cells by chemokines. *Semin Cancer Biol 14:161*.
- 75. Zou, W., V. Machelon, A. Coulomb-L'Hermin, J. Borvak, F. Nome, T. Isaeva, S. Wei, R. Krzysiek, I. Durand-Gasselin, A. Gordon, T. Pustilnik, D. T. Curiel, P. Galanaud, F. Capron, D. Emilie, and T. J. Curiel. 2001. Stromal-derived factor-1 in human tumors recruits and alters the function of plasmacytoid precursor dendritic cells. *Nat Med* 7:1339.
- 76. Gilliet, M., and Y. J. Liu. 2002. Generation of human CD8 T regulatory cells by CD40 ligand-activated plasmacytoid dendritic cells. *J Exp Med 195:695*.
- 77. Mellor, A. L., and D. H. Munn. 1999. Tryptophan catabolism and T-cell tolerance: immunosuppression by starvation? *Immunol Today* 20:469.
- 78. Fallarino, F., U. Grohmann, C. Vacca, R. Bianchi, C. Orabona, A. Spreca, M. C. Fioretti, and P. Puccetti. 2002. T cell apoptosis by tryptophan catabolism. *Cell Death Differ 9:1069*.
- 79. Frumento, G., R. Rotondo, M. Tonetti, G. Damonte, U. Benatti, and G. B. Ferrara. 2002. Tryptophan-derived catabolites are responsible for inhibition of T and natural killer cell proliferation induced by indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase. *J Exp Med 196:459*.

- 80. Terness, P., T. M. Bauer, L. Rose, C. Dufter, A. Watzlik, H. Simon, and G. Opelz. 2002. Inhibition of allogeneic T cell proliferation by indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase-expressing dendritic cells: mediation of suppression by tryptophan metabolites. *J Exp Med 196:447*.
- Fallarino, F., C. Vacca, C. Orabona, M. L. Belladonna, R. Bianchi, B. Marshall, D. B. Keskin, A. L. Mellor, M. C. Fioretti, U. Grohmann, and P. Puccetti. 2002. Functional expression of indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase by murine CD8 alpha(+) dendritic cells. *Int Immunol 14:65*.
- Munn, D. H., M. D. Sharma, J. R. Lee, K. G. Jhaver, T. S. Johnson, D. B. Keskin, B. Marshall, P. Chandler, S. J. Antonia, R. Burgess, C. L. Slingluff, Jr., and A. L. Mellor. 2002. Potential regulatory function of human dendritic cells expressing indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase. *Science 297:1867*.
- 83. Munn, D. H., M. D. Sharma, D. Hou, B. Baban, J. R. Lee, S. J. Antonia, J. L. Messina, P. Chandler, P. A. Koni, and A. L. Mellor. 2004. Expression of indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase by plasmacytoid dendritic cells in tumor-draining lymph nodes. *J Clin Invest* 114:280.
- 84. Hwu, P., M. X. Du, R. Lapointe, M. Do, M. W. Taylor, and H. A. Young. 2000. Indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase production by human dendritic cells results in the inhibition of T cell proliferation. *J Immunol 164:3596*.
- 85. Munn, D. H., E. Shafizadeh, J. T. Attwood, I. Bondarev, A. Pashine, and A. L. Mellor. 1999. Inhibition of T cell proliferation by macrophage tryptophan catabolism. *J Exp Med 189:1363*.
- 86. Friberg, M., R. Jennings, M. Alsarraj, S. Dessureault, A. Cantor, M. Extermann, A. L. Mellor, D. H. Munn, and S. J. Antonia. 2002. Indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase contributes to tumor cell evasion of T cell-mediated rejection. *Int J Cancer 101:151*.
- Kubsch, S., E. Graulich, J. Knop, and K. Steinbrink. 2003. Suppressor activity of anergic T cells induced by IL-10-treated human dendritic cells: association with IL-2- and CTLA-4-dependent G1 arrest of the cell cycle regulated by p27Kip1. *Eur J Immunol* 33:1988.
- 88. Steinbrink, K., E. Graulich, S. Kubsch, J. Knop, and A. H. Enk. 2002. CD4(+) and CD8(+) anergic T cells induced by interleukin-10-treated human dendritic cells display antigen-specific suppressor activity. *Blood* 99:2468.

- 89. Macian, F., S. H. Im, F. J. Garcia-Cozar, and A. Rao. 2004. T-cell anergy. *Curr Opin Immunol 16:209*.
- 90. Jonuleit, H., E. Schmitt, G. Schuler, J. Knop, and A. H. Enk. 2000. Induction of interleukin 10-producing, nonproliferating CD4(+) T cells with regulatory properties by repetitive stimulation with allogeneic immature human dendritic cells. *J Exp Med 192:1213*.
- 91. Huang, F. P., N. Platt, M. Wykes, J. R. Major, T. J. Powell, C. D. Jenkins, and G. G. MacPherson. 2000. A discrete subpopulation of dendritic cells transports apoptotic intestinal epithelial cells to T cell areas of mesenteric lymph nodes. *J Exp Med 191:435*.
- 92. Dhodapkar, M. V., R. M. Steinman, J. Krasovsky, C. Munz, and N. Bhardwaj. 2001. Antigen-specific inhibition of effector T cell function in humans after injection of immature dendritic cells. *J Exp Med 193:233*.
- 93. Gretz, J. E., A. O. Anderson, and S. Shaw. 1997. Cords, channels, corridors and conduits: critical architectural elements facilitating cell interactions in the lymph node cortex. *Immunol Rev 156:11*.
- 94. Kudela, P., Z. Schwarczova, J. Sedlak, and J. Bizik. 2001. Conditioned medium from HeLa cells enhances motility of human monocyte-derived dendritic cells but abrogates their maturation and endocytic activity. *Neoplasma 48:382*.
- 95. Gabrilovich, D. I., I. F. Ciernik, and D. P. Carbone. 1996. Dendritic cells in antitumor immune responses. I. Defective antigen presentation in tumor-bearing hosts. *Cell Immunol* 170:101.
- 96. Gabrilovich, D. I., J. Corak, I. F. Ciernik, D. Kavanaugh, and D. P. Carbone. 1997. Decreased antigen presentation by dendritic cells in patients with breast cancer. *Clin Cancer Res* 3:483.
- 97. Whiteside, T. L., J. Stanson, M. R. Shurin, and S. Ferrone. 2004. Antigen-processing machinery in human dendritic cells: up-regulation by maturation and down-regulation by tumor cells. *J Immunol* 173:1526.
- 98. Lanzavecchia, A., and F. Sallusto. 2001. The instructive role of dendritic cells on T cell responses: lineages, plasticity and kinetics. *Curr Opin Immunol 13:291*.

- Gallucci, M. T., R. Lubrano, C. Meloni, M. Morosetti, S. Manca di Villahermosa, P. Scoppi, G. Palombo, M. A. Castello, and C. U. Casciani. 1999. Red blood cell membrane lipid peroxidation and resistance to erythropoietin therapy in hemodialysis patients. *Clin Nephrol* 52:239.
- 100. Binder, R. J., D. K. Han, and P. K. Srivastava. 2000. CD91: a receptor for heat shock protein gp96. *Nat Immunol 1:151*.
- 101. Singh-Jasuja, H., H. U. Scherer, N. Hilf, D. Arnold-Schild, H. G. Rammensee, R. E. Toes, and H. Schild. 2000. The heat shock protein gp96 induces maturation of dendritic cells and down-regulation of its receptor. *Eur J Immunol 30:2211*.
- 102. Park, J. S., D. Svetkauskaite, Q. He, J. Y. Kim, D. Strassheim, A. Ishizaka, and E. Abraham. 2004. Involvement of toll-like receptors 2 and 4 in cellular activation by high mobility group box 1 protein. *J Biol Chem* 279:7370.
- 103. Mellor, A. L., and D. H. Munn. 2004. IDO expression by dendritic cells: tolerance and tryptophan catabolism. *Nat Rev Immunol 4:762*.
- 104. Nath, D., A. Hartnell, L. Happerfield, D. W. Miles, J. Burchell, J. Taylor-Papadimitriou, and P. R. Crocker. 1999. Macrophage-tumour cell interactions: identification of MUC1 on breast cancer cells as a potential counter-receptor for the macrophage-restricted receptor, sialoadhesin. *Immunology* 98:213.
- 105. Hiltbold, E. M., A. M. Vlad, P. Ciborowski, S. C. Watkins, and O. J. Finn. 2000. The mechanism of unresponsiveness to circulating tumor antigen MUC1 is a block in intracellular sorting and processing by dendritic cells. *J Immunol 165:3730*.
- 106. Sakamaki, T., Y. Imai, and T. Irimura. 1995. Enhancement in accessibility to macrophages by modification of mucin-type carbohydrate chains on a tumor cell line: role of a C-type lectin of macrophages. *J Leukoc Biol* 57:407.
- 107. Monti, P., B. E. Leone, A. Zerbi, G. Balzano, S. Cainarca, V. Sordi, M. Pontillo, A. Mercalli, V. Di Carlo, P. Allavena, and L. Piemonti. 2004. Tumor-derived MUC1 mucins interact with differentiating monocytes and induce IL-10highIL-12low regulatory dendritic cell. *J Immunol* 172:7341.
- 108. Portoukalian, J., G. Zwingelstein, and J. F. Dore. 1979. Lipid composition of human malignant melanoma tumors at various levels of malignant growth. *Eur J Biochem* 94:19.

- 109. Tsuchida, T., R. E. Saxton, D. L. Morton, and R. F. Irie. 1989. Gangliosides of human melanoma. *Cancer* 63:1166.
- 110. Rapoport, E., I. Mikhalyov, J. Zhang, P. Crocker, and N. Bovin. 2003. Ganglioside binding pattern of CD33-related siglecs. *Bioorg Med Chem Lett* 13:675.
- 111. Peguet-Navarro, J., M. Sportouch, I. Popa, O. Berthier, D. Schmitt, and J. Portoukalian. 2003. Gangliosides from human melanoma tumors impair dendritic cell differentiation from monocytes and induce their apoptosis. *J Immunol* 170:3488.
- 112. Caldwell, S., A. Heitger, W. Shen, Y. Liu, B. Taylor, and S. Ladisch. 2003. Mechanisms of ganglioside inhibition of APC function. *J Immunol* 171:1676.
- 113. Medzhitov, R., and C. A. Janeway, Jr. 2002. Decoding the patterns of self and nonself by the innate immune system. *Science 296:298*.
- 114. Janeway, C. A., Jr. 1989. Approaching the asymptote? Evolution and revolution in immunology. *Cold Spring Harb Symp Quant Biol 54 Pt 1:1*.
- 115. Matzinger, P. 1994. Tolerance, danger, and the extended family. *Annu Rev Immunol* 12:991.
- 116. Yousef, G. M., M. H. Ordon, G. Foussias, and E. P. Diamandis. 2002. Genomic organization of the siglec gene locus on chromosome 19q13.4 and cloning of two new siglec pseudogenes. *Gene* 286:259.
- 117. Crocker, P. R., and A. Varki. 2001. Siglecs in the immune system. Immunology 103:137.
- 118. Avril, T., H. Floyd, F. Lopez, E. Vivier, and P. R. Crocker. 2004. The membraneproximal immunoreceptor tyrosine-based inhibitory motif is critical for the inhibitory signaling mediated by Siglecs-7 and -9, CD33-related Siglecs expressed on human monocytes and NK cells. *J Immunol* 173:6841.
- 119. Crocker, P. R. 2002. Siglecs: sialic-acid-binding immunoglobulin-like lectins in cell-cell interactions and signalling. *Curr Opin Struct Biol 12:609*.

- Scholler, N., M. Hayden-Ledbetter, K. E. Hellstrom, I. Hellstrom, and J. A. Ledbetter. 2001. CD83 is a sialic acid-binding Ig-like lectin (Siglec) adhesion receptor that binds monocytes and a subset of activated CD8+ T cells. *J Immunol 166:3865*.
- 121. Cambi, A., and C. G. Figdor. 2003. Dual function of C-type lectin-like receptors in the immune system. *Curr Opin Cell Biol* 15:539.
- 122. Figdor, C. G., Y. van Kooyk, and G. J. Adema. 2002. C-type lectin receptors on dendritic cells and Langerhans cells. *Nat Rev Immunol 2:77*.
- 123. Weis, W. I., and K. Drickamer. 1994. Trimeric structure of a C-type mannose-binding protein. *Structure 2:1227*.
- 124. Mitchell, D. A., A. J. Fadden, and K. Drickamer. 2001. A novel mechanism of carbohydrate recognition by the C-type lectins DC-SIGN and DC-SIGNR. Subunit organization and binding to multivalent ligands. *J Biol Chem* 276:28939.
- 125. Jordens, R., A. Thompson, R. Amons, and F. Koning. 1999. Human dendritic cells shed a functional, soluble form of the mannose receptor. *Int Immunol 11:1775*.
- 126. van Kooyk, Y., and T. B. Geijtenbeek. 2003. DC-SIGN: escape mechanism for pathogens. *Nat Rev Immunol 3:697*.
- 127. Bashirova, A. A., T. B. Geijtenbeek, G. C. van Duijnhoven, S. J. van Vliet, J. B. Eilering, M. P. Martin, L. Wu, T. D. Martin, N. Viebig, P. A. Knolle, V. N. KewalRamani, Y. van Kooyk, and M. Carrington. 2001. A dendritic cell-specific intercellular adhesion molecule 3-grabbing nonintegrin (DC-SIGN)-related protein is highly expressed on human liver sinusoidal endothelial cells and promotes HIV-1 infection. *J Exp Med 193:671*.
- 128. Appelmelk, B. J., I. van Die, S. J. van Vliet, C. M. Vandenbroucke-Grauls, T. B. Geijtenbeek, and Y. van Kooyk. 2003. Cutting edge: carbohydrate profiling identifies new pathogens that interact with dendritic cell-specific ICAM-3-grabbing nonintegrin on dendritic cells. *J Immunol* 170:1635.
- 129. van Die, I., S. J. van Vliet, A. K. Nyame, R. D. Cummings, C. M. Bank, B. Appelmelk, T. B. Geijtenbeek, and Y. van Kooyk. 2003. The dendritic cell-specific C-type lectin DC-SIGN is a receptor for Schistosoma mansoni egg antigens and recognizes the glycan antigen Lewis x. *Glycobiology* 13:471.

- 130. Geijtenbeek, T. B., and Y. van Kooyk. 2003. DC-SIGN: a novel HIV receptor on DCs that mediates HIV-1 transmission. *Curr Top Microbiol Immunol* 276:31.
- 131. Ludwig, I. S., A. N. Lekkerkerker, E. Depla, F. Bosman, R. J. Musters, S. Depraetere, Y. van Kooyk, and T. B. Geijtenbeek. 2004. Hepatitis C virus targets DC-SIGN and L-SIGN to escape lysosomal degradation. *J Virol* 78:8322.
- 132. Lee, B., G. Leslie, E. Soilleux, U. O'Doherty, S. Baik, E. Levroney, K. Flummerfelt, W. Swiggard, N. Coleman, M. Malim, and R. W. Doms. 2001. cis Expression of DC-SIGN allows for more efficient entry of human and simian immunodeficiency viruses via CD4 and a coreceptor. *J Virol* 75:12028.
- 133. Martinez-Pomares, L., S. A. Linehan, P. R. Taylor, and S. Gordon. 2001. Binding properties of the mannose receptor. *Immunobiology* 204:527.
- 134. van Kooyk, Y., and T. B. Geijtenbeek. 2002. A novel adhesion pathway that regulates dendritic cell trafficking and T cell interactions. *Immunol Rev 186:47*.
- 135. Geijtenbeek, T. B., R. Torensma, S. J. van Vliet, G. C. van Duijnhoven, G. J. Adema, Y. van Kooyk, and C. G. Figdor. 2000. Identification of DC-SIGN, a novel dendritic cell-specific ICAM-3 receptor that supports primary immune responses. *Cell 100:575*.
- 136. Fraser, I. P., H. Koziel, and R. A. Ezekowitz. 1998. The serum mannose-binding protein and the macrophage mannose receptor are pattern recognition molecules that link innate and adaptive immunity. *Semin Immunol 10:363*.
- 137. Ramakrishna, V., J. F. Treml, L. Vitale, J. E. Connolly, T. O'Neill, P. A. Smith, C. L. Jones, L. Z. He, J. Goldstein, P. K. Wallace, T. Keler, and M. J. Endres. 2004. Mannose receptor targeting of tumor antigen pmel17 to human dendritic cells directs anti-melanoma T cell responses via multiple HLA molecules. *J Immunol* 172:2845.
- 138. Geijtenbeek, T. B., S. J. Van Vliet, E. A. Koppel, M. Sanchez-Hernandez, C. M. Vandenbroucke-Grauls, B. Appelmelk, and Y. Van Kooyk. 2003. Mycobacteria target DC-SIGN to suppress dendritic cell function. *J Exp Med 197:7*.
- 139. Gantner, B. N., R. M. Simmons, S. J. Canavera, S. Akira, and D. M. Underhill. 2003. Collaborative induction of inflammatory responses by dectin-1 and Toll-like receptor 2. *J Exp Med* 197:1107.

- 140. Dzionek, A., Y. Sohma, J. Nagafune, M. Cella, M. Colonna, F. Facchetti, G. Gunther, I. Johnston, A. Lanzavecchia, T. Nagasaka, T. Okada, W. Vermi, G. Winkels, T. Yamamoto, M. Zysk, Y. Yamaguchi, and J. Schmitz. 2001. BDCA-2, a novel plasmacytoid dendritic cell-specific type II C-type lectin, mediates antigen capture and is a potent inhibitor of interferon alpha/beta induction. *J Exp Med 194:1823*.
- 141. Maeda, N., J. Nigou, J. L. Herrmann, M. Jackson, A. Amara, P. H. Lagrange, G. Puzo, B. Gicquel, and O. Neyrolles. 2003. The cell surface receptor DC-SIGN discriminates between Mycobacterium species through selective recognition of the mannose caps on lipoarabinomannan. *J Biol Chem* 278:5513.
- 142. Tailleux, L., O. Schwartz, J. L. Herrmann, E. Pivert, M. Jackson, A. Amara, L. Legres, D. Dreher, L. P. Nicod, J. C. Gluckman, P. H. Lagrange, B. Gicquel, and O. Neyrolles. 2003. DC-SIGN is the major Mycobacterium tuberculosis receptor on human dendritic cells. *J Exp Med* 197:121.
- 143. Ichikawa, H. T., L. P. Williams, and B. M. Segal. 2002. Activation of APCs through CD40 or Toll-like receptor 9 overcomes tolerance and precipitates autoimmune disease. *J Immunol 169:2781*.
- 144. Lucas, M., L. M. Stuart, J. Savill, and A. Lacy-Hulbert. 2003. Apoptotic cells and innate immune stimuli combine to regulate macrophage cytokine secretion. *J Immunol 171:2610*.
- 145. Cvetanovic, M., and D. S. Ucker. 2004. Innate immune discrimination of apoptotic cells: repression of proinflammatory macrophage transcription is coupled directly to specific recognition. *J Immunol* 172:880.
- 146. Jarrossay, D., G. Napolitani, M. Colonna, F. Sallusto, and A. Lanzavecchia. 2001. Specialization and complementarity in microbial molecule recognition by human myeloid and plasmacytoid dendritic cells. *Eur J Immunol 31:3388*.
- 147. Datta, S. K., V. Redecke, K. R. Prilliman, K. Takabayashi, M. Corr, T. Tallant, J. DiDonato, R. Dziarski, S. Akira, S. P. Schoenberger, and E. Raz. 2003. A subset of Toll-like receptor ligands induces cross-presentation by bone marrow-derived dendritic cells. *J Immunol 170:4102*.
- 148. Beutler, B. 2004. Inferences, questions and possibilities in Toll-like receptor signalling. *Nature* 430:257.

- 149. Allavena, P., M. Chieppa, P. Monti, and L. Piemonti. 2004. From pattern recognition receptor to regulator of homeostasis: the double-faced macrophage mannose receptor. *Crit Rev Immunol 24:179*.
- 150. Chieppa, M., G. Bianchi, A. Doni, A. Del Prete, M. Sironi, G. Laskarin, P. Monti, L. Piemonti, A. Biondi, A. Mantovani, M. Introna, and P. Allavena. 2003. Cross-linking of the mannose receptor on monocyte-derived dendritic cells activates an anti-inflammatory immunosuppressive program. *J Immunol* 171:4552.
- 151. Nigou, J., C. Zelle-Rieser, M. Gilleron, M. Thurnher, and G. Puzo. 2001. Mannosylated lipoarabinomannans inhibit IL-12 production by human dendritic cells: evidence for a negative signal delivered through the mannose receptor. *J Immunol 166:7477*.
- 152. Steinman, R. M., D. Hawiger, K. Liu, L. Bonifaz, D. Bonnyay, K. Mahnke, T. Iyoda, J. Ravetch, M. Dhodapkar, K. Inaba, and M. Nussenzweig. 2003. Dendritic cell function in vivo during the steady state: a role in peripheral tolerance. *Ann N Y Acad Sci 987:15*.
- 153. Hawiger, D., K. Inaba, Y. Dorsett, M. Guo, K. Mahnke, M. Rivera, J. V. Ravetch, R. M. Steinman, and M. C. Nussenzweig. 2001. Dendritic cells induce peripheral T cell unresponsiveness under steady state conditions in vivo. *J Exp Med* 194:769.
- 154. Kemper, C., A. C. Chan, J. M. Green, K. A. Brett, K. M. Murphy, and J. P. Atkinson. 2003. Activation of human CD4+ cells with CD3 and CD46 induces a T-regulatory cell 1 phenotype. *Nature* 421:388.
- 155. Ferlazzo, G., G. M. Spaggiari, C. Semino, G. Melioli, and L. Moretta. 2000. Engagement of CD33 surface molecules prevents the generation of dendritic cells from both monocytes and CD34+ myeloid precursors. *Eur J Immunol 30:827*.
- 156. Nutku, E., H. Aizawa, S. A. Hudson, and B. S. Bochner. 2003. Ligation of Siglec-8: a selective mechanism for induction of human eosinophil apoptosis. *Blood 101:5014*.
- 157. Li, R. X., and S. Ladisch. 1991. Shedding of human neuroblastoma gangliosides. *Biochim Biophys Acta 1083:57*.
- 158. Wolfl, M., W. Y. Batten, C. Posovszky, H. Bernhard, and F. Berthold. 2002. Gangliosides inhibit the development from monocytes to dendritic cells. *Clin Exp Immunol* 130:441.

- 159. Thornton, M. V., D. Kudo, P. Rayman, C. Horton, L. Molto, M. K. Cathcart, C. Ng, E. Paszkiewicz-Kozik, R. Bukowski, I. Derweesh, C. S. Tannenbaum, and J. H. Finke. 2004. Degradation of NF-kappa B in T cells by gangliosides expressed on renal cell carcinomas. *J Immunol* 172:3480.
- 160. Nicoll, G., T. Avril, K. Lock, K. Furukawa, N. Bovin, and P. R. Crocker. 2003. Ganglioside GD3 expression on target cells can modulate NK cell cytotoxicity via siglec-7-dependent and -independent mechanisms. *Eur J Immunol 33:1642*.
- Ladisch, S., H. Becker, and L. Ulsh. 1992. Immunosuppression by human gangliosides: I. Relationship of carbohydrate structure to the inhibition of T cell responses. *Biochim Biophys Acta* 1125:180.
- 162. Ladisch, S., R. Li, and E. Olson. 1994. Ceramide structure predicts tumor ganglioside immunosuppressive activity. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 91:1974*.
- 163. Shi, Y., W. Zheng, and K. L. Rock. 2000. Cell injury releases endogenous adjuvants that stimulate cytotoxic T cell responses. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 97:14590.
- 164. Shi, Y., and K. L. Rock. 2002. Cell death releases endogenous adjuvants that selectively enhance immune surveillance of particulate antigens. *Eur J Immunol 32:155*.
- 165. Pendl, G. G., C. Robert, M. Steinert, R. Thanos, R. Eytner, E. Borges, M. K. Wild, J. B. Lowe, R. C. Fuhlbrigge, T. S. Kupper, D. Vestweber, and S. Grabbe. 2002. Immature mouse dendritic cells enter inflamed tissue, a process that requires E- and P-selectin, but not P-selectin glycoprotein ligand 1. *Blood 99:946*.
- 166. Robert, C., R. C. Fuhlbrigge, J. D. Kieffer, S. Ayehunie, R. O. Hynes, G. Cheng, S. Grabbe, U. H. von Andrian, and T. S. Kupper. 1999. Interaction of dendritic cells with skin endothelium: A new perspective on immunosurveillance. *J Exp Med* 189:627.
- 167. Granelli-Piperno, A., E. Delgado, V. Finkel, W. Paxton, and R. M. Steinman. 1998. Immature dendritic cells selectively replicate macrophagetropic (M-tropic) human immunodeficiency virus type 1, while mature cells efficiently transmit both M- and Ttropic virus to T cells. *J Virol* 72:2733.
- 168. Sozzani, S., P. Allavena, G. D'Amico, W. Luini, G. Bianchi, M. Kataura, T. Imai, O. Yoshie, R. Bonecchi, and A. Mantovani. 1998. Differential regulation of chemokine receptors during dendritic cell maturation: a model for their trafficking properties. *J Immunol 161:1083*.

- 169. Dieu, M. C., B. Vanbervliet, A. Vicari, J. M. Bridon, E. Oldham, S. Ait-Yahia, F. Briere, A. Zlotnik, S. Lebecque, and C. Caux. 1998. Selective recruitment of immature and mature dendritic cells by distinct chemokines expressed in different anatomic sites. *J Exp Med* 188:373.
- 170. Sallusto, F., P. Schaerli, P. Loetscher, C. Schaniel, D. Lenig, C. R. Mackay, S. Qin, and A. Lanzavecchia. 1998. Rapid and coordinated switch in chemokine receptor expression during dendritic cell maturation. *Eur J Immunol* 28:2760.
- 171. Yang, D., Q. Chen, S. Stoll, X. Chen, O. M. Howard, and J. J. Oppenheim. 2000. Differential regulation of responsiveness to fMLP and C5a upon dendritic cell maturation: correlation with receptor expression. *J Immunol 165:2694*.
- 172. McWilliam, A. S., S. Napoli, A. M. Marsh, F. L. Pemper, D. J. Nelson, C. L. Pimm, P. A. Stumbles, T. N. Wells, and P. G. Holt. 1996. Dendritic cells are recruited into the airway epithelium during the inflammatory response to a broad spectrum of stimuli. *J Exp Med* 184:2429.
- 173. Sozzani, S., F. Sallusto, W. Luini, D. Zhou, L. Piemonti, P. Allavena, J. Van Damme, S. Valitutti, A. Lanzavecchia, and A. Mantovani. 1995. Migration of dendritic cells in response to formyl peptides, C5a, and a distinct set of chemokines. *J Immunol 155:3292*.
- 174. Sozzani, S., D. Longoni, R. Bonecchi, W. Luini, L. Bersani, G. D'Amico, A. Borsatti, F. Bussolino, P. Allavena, and A. Mantovani. 1997. Human monocyte-derived and CD34+ cell-derived dendritic cells express functional receptors for platelet activating factor. *FEBS Lett 418:98*.
- 175. Baggiolini, M. 1998. Chemokines and leukocyte traffic. *Nature 392:565*.
- 176. Rollins, B. J. 1997. Chemokines. Blood 90:909.
- 177. Zlotnik, A., J. Morales, and J. A. Hedrick. 1999. Recent advances in chemokines and chemokine receptors. *Crit Rev Immunol 19:1*.
- 178. McColl, S. R. 2002. Chemokines and dendritic cells: a crucial alliance. *Immunol Cell Biol* 80:489.
- 179. Gale, L. M., and S. R. McColl. 1999. Chemokines: extracellular messengers for all occasions? *Bioessays 21:17*.

- 180. Tsou, C. L., C. A. Haskell, and I. F. Charo. 2001. Tumor necrosis factor-alpha-converting enzyme mediates the inducible cleavage of fractalkine. *J Biol Chem* 276:44622.
- 181. Garton, K. J., P. J. Gough, C. P. Blobel, G. Murphy, D. R. Greaves, P. J. Dempsey, and E. W. Raines. 2001. Tumor necrosis factor-alpha-converting enzyme (ADAM17) mediates the cleavage and shedding of fractalkine (CX3CL1). *J Biol Chem* 276:37993.
- 182. Moser, B., M. Wolf, A. Walz, and P. Loetscher. 2004. Chemokines: multiple levels of leukocyte migration control. *Trends Immunol* 25:75.
- 183. Loetscher, P., A. Pellegrino, J. H. Gong, I. Mattioli, M. Loetscher, G. Bardi, M. Baggiolini, and I. Clark-Lewis. 2001. The ligands of CXC chemokine receptor 3, I-TAC, Mig, and IP10, are natural antagonists for CCR3. *J Biol Chem* 276:2986.
- 184. Godiska, R., D. Chantry, C. J. Raport, S. Sozzani, P. Allavena, D. Leviten, A. Mantovani, and P. W. Gray. 1997. Human macrophage-derived chemokine (MDC), a novel chemoattractant for monocytes, monocyte-derived dendritic cells, and natural killer cells. *J Exp Med* 185:1595.
- 185. Cook, D. N., D. M. Prosser, R. Forster, J. Zhang, N. A. Kuklin, S. J. Abbondanzo, X. D. Niu, S. C. Chen, D. J. Manfra, M. T. Wiekowski, L. M. Sullivan, S. R. Smith, H. B. Greenberg, S. K. Narula, M. Lipp, and S. A. Lira. 2000. CCR6 mediates dendritic cell localization, lymphocyte homeostasis, and immune responses in mucosal tissue. *Immunity* 12:495.
- 186. Aliberti, J., C. Reis e Sousa, M. Schito, S. Hieny, T. Wells, G. B. Huffnagle, and A. Sher. 2000. CCR5 provides a signal for microbial induced production of IL-12 by CD8 alpha+ dendritic cells. *Nat Immunol* 1:83.
- 187. Re, F., and J. L. Strominger. 2001. Toll-like receptor 2 (TLR2) and TLR4 differentially activate human dendritic cells. *J Biol Chem* 276:37692.
- 188. Adema, G. J., F. Hartgers, R. Verstraten, E. de Vries, G. Marland, S. Menon, J. Foster, Y. Xu, P. Nooyen, T. McClanahan, K. B. Bacon, and C. G. Figdor. 1997. A dendritic-cell-derived C-C chemokine that preferentially attracts naive T cells. *Nature* 387:713.
- 189. Allavena, P., A. Sica, A. Vecchi, M. Locati, S. Sozzani, and A. Mantovani. 2000. The chemokine receptor switch paradigm and dendritic cell migration: its significance in tumor tissues. *Immunol Rev* 177:141.

- 190. Sallusto, F., B. Palermo, D. Lenig, M. Miettinen, S. Matikainen, I. Julkunen, R. Forster, R. Burgstahler, M. Lipp, and A. Lanzavecchia. 1999. Distinct patterns and kinetics of chemokine production regulate dendritic cell function. *Eur J Immunol 29:1617*.
- 191. Vulcano, M., C. Albanesi, A. Stoppacciaro, R. Bagnati, G. D'Amico, S. Struyf, P. Transidico, R. Bonecchi, A. Del Prete, P. Allavena, L. P. Ruco, C. Chiabrando, G. Girolomoni, A. Mantovani, and S. Sozzani. 2001. Dendritic cells as a major source of macrophage-derived chemokine/CCL22 in vitro and in vivo. *Eur J Immunol 31:812*.
- 192. Imai, T., M. Nagira, S. Takagi, M. Kakizaki, M. Nishimura, J. Wang, P. W. Gray, K. Matsushima, and O. Yoshie. 1999. Selective recruitment of CCR4-bearing Th2 cells toward antigen-presenting cells by the CC chemokines thymus and activation-regulated chemokine and macrophage-derived chemokine. *Int Immunol 11:81*.
- 193. Ali, H., R. M. Richardson, B. Haribabu, and R. Snyderman. 1999. Chemoattractant receptor cross-desensitization. *J Biol Chem* 274:6027.
- 194. Partida-Sanchez, S., S. Goodrich, K. Kusser, N. Oppenheimer, T. D. Randall, and F. E. Lund. 2004. Regulation of dendritic cell trafficking by the ADP-ribosyl cyclase CD38: impact on the development of humoral immunity. *Immunity* 20:279.
- 195. Van Haastert, P. J., and P. N. Devreotes. 2004. Chemotaxis: signalling the way forward. *Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 5:626*.
- 196. Parent, C. A., B. J. Blacklock, W. M. Froehlich, D. B. Murphy, and P. N. Devreotes. 1998. G protein signaling events are activated at the leading edge of chemotactic cells. *Cell* 95:81.
- 197. Araki, T., M. Gamper, A. Early, M. Fukuzawa, T. Abe, T. Kawata, E. Kim, R. A. Firtel, and J. G. Williams. 1998. Developmentally and spatially regulated activation of a Dictyostelium STAT protein by a serpentine receptor. *Embo J 17:4018*.
- 198. Milne, J. L., L. Wu, M. J. Caterina, and P. N. Devreotes. 1995. Seven helix cAMP receptors stimulate Ca2+ entry in the absence of functional G proteins in Dictyostelium. *J Biol Chem* 270:5926.
- 199. Maeda, M., and R. A. Firtel. 1997. Activation of the mitogen-activated protein kinase ERK2 by the chemoattractant folic acid in Dictyostelium. *J Biol Chem* 272:23690.

- 200. Meili, R., C. Ellsworth, S. Lee, T. B. Reddy, H. Ma, and R. A. Firtel. 1999. Chemoattractant-mediated transient activation and membrane localization of Akt/PKB is required for efficient chemotaxis to cAMP in Dictyostelium. *Embo J* 18:2092.
- 201. Servant, G., O. D. Weiner, P. Herzmark, T. Balla, J. W. Sedat, and H. R. Bourne. 2000. Polarization of chemoattractant receptor signaling during neutrophil chemotaxis. *Science* 287:1037.
- 202. Vermi, W., E. Riboldi, V. Wittamer, F. Gentili, W. Luini, S. Marrelli, A. Vecchi, J. D. Franssen, D. Communi, L. Massardi, M. Sironi, A. Mantovani, M. Parmentier, F. Facchetti, and S. Sozzani. 2005. Role of ChemR23 in directing the migration of myeloid and plasmacytoid dendritic cells to lymphoid organs and inflamed skin. *J Exp Med 201:509*.
- 203. Sozzani, S., W. Luini, A. Borsatti, N. Polentarutti, D. Zhou, L. Piemonti, G. D'Amico, C. A. Power, T. N. Wells, M. Gobbi, P. Allavena, and A. Mantovani. 1997. Receptor expression and responsiveness of human dendritic cells to a defined set of CC and CXC chemokines. *J Immunol 159:1993*.
- 204. Ayehunie, S., E. A. Garcia-Zepeda, J. A. Hoxie, R. Horuk, T. S. Kupper, A. D. Luster, and R. M. Ruprecht. 1997. Human immunodeficiency virus-1 entry into purified blood dendritic cells through CC and CXC chemokine coreceptors. *Blood 90:1379*.
- 205. Lin, C. L., R. M. Suri, R. A. Rahdon, J. M. Austyn, and J. A. Roake. 1998. Dendritic cell chemotaxis and transendothelial migration are induced by distinct chemokines and are regulated on maturation. *Eur J Immunol* 28:4114.
- 206. Sato, K., H. Kawasaki, H. Nagayama, R. Serizawa, J. Ikeda, C. Morimoto, K. Yasunaga, N. Yamaji, K. Tadokoro, T. Juji, and T. A. Takahashi. 1999. CC chemokine receptors, CCR-1 and CCR-3, are potentially involved in antigen-presenting cell function of human peripheral blood monocyte-derived dendritic cells. *Blood* 93:34.
- 207. Power, C. A., D. J. Church, A. Meyer, S. Alouani, A. E. Proudfoot, I. Clark-Lewis, S. Sozzani, A. Mantovani, and T. N. Wells. 1997. Cloning and characterization of a specific receptor for the novel CC chemokine MIP-3alpha from lung dendritic cells. *J Exp Med* 186:825.
- 208. Greaves, D. R., W. Wang, D. J. Dairaghi, M. C. Dieu, B. Saint-Vis, K. Franz-Bacon, D. Rossi, C. Caux, T. McClanahan, S. Gordon, A. Zlotnik, and T. J. Schall. 1997. CCR6, a CC chemokine receptor that interacts with macrophage inflammatory protein 3alpha and is highly expressed in human dendritic cells. *J Exp Med 186:837*.

- 209. Yang, D., O. M. Howard, Q. Chen, and J. J. Oppenheim. 1999. Cutting edge: immature dendritic cells generated from monocytes in the presence of TGF-beta 1 express functional C-C chemokine receptor 6. *J Immunol 163:1737*.
- 210. Yang, D., O. Chertov, S. N. Bykovskaia, Q. Chen, M. J. Buffo, J. Shogan, M. Anderson, J. M. Schroder, J. M. Wang, O. M. Howard, and J. J. Oppenheim. 1999. Beta-defensins: linking innate and adaptive immunity through dendritic and T cell CCR6. *Science* 286:525.
- 211. Carramolino, L., L. Kremer, I. Goya, R. Varona, J. M. Buesa, J. Gutierrez, A. Zaballos, A. C. Martinez, and G. Marquez. 1999. Down-regulation of the beta-chemokine receptor CCR6 in dendritic cells mediated by TNF-alpha and IL-4. *J Leukoc Biol* 66:837.
- 212. Gombert, M., M. C. Dieu-Nosjean, F. Winterberg, E. Bunemann, R. C. Kubitza, L. Da Cunha, A. Haahtela, S. Lehtimaki, A. Muller, J. Rieker, S. Meller, A. Pivarcsi, A. Koreck, W. H. Fridman, H. W. Zentgraf, H. Pavenstadt, A. Amara, C. Caux, L. Kemeny, H. Alenius, A. Lauerma, T. Ruzicka, A. Zlotnik, and B. Homey. 2005. CCL1-CCR8 interactions: an axis mediating the recruitment of T cells and Langerhans-type dendritic cells to sites of atopic skin inflammation. *J Immunol 174:5082*.
- 213. Vanbervliet, B., B. Homey, I. Durand, C. Massacrier, S. Ait-Yahia, O. de Bouteiller, A. Vicari, and C. Caux. 2002. Sequential involvement of CCR2 and CCR6 ligands for immature dendritic cell recruitment: possible role at inflamed epithelial surfaces. *Eur J Immunol 32:231*.
- 214. Forster, R., A. Schubel, D. Breitfeld, E. Kremmer, I. Renner-Muller, E. Wolf, and M. Lipp. 1999. CCR7 coordinates the primary immune response by establishing functional microenvironments in secondary lymphoid organs. *Cell* 99:23.
- 215. Yanagihara, S., E. Komura, J. Nagafune, H. Watarai, and Y. Yamaguchi. 1998. EBI1/CCR7 is a new member of dendritic cell chemokine receptor that is up-regulated upon maturation. *J Immunol 161:3096*.
- 216. Wittamer, V., J. D. Franssen, M. Vulcano, J. F. Mirjolet, E. Le Poul, I. Migeotte, S. Brezillon, R. Tyldesley, C. Blanpain, M. Detheux, A. Mantovani, S. Sozzani, G. Vassart, M. Parmentier, and D. Communi. 2003. Specific recruitment of antigen-presenting cells by chemerin, a novel processed ligand from human inflammatory fluids. *J Exp Med 198:977*.

- 217. D'Amico, G., G. Frascaroli, G. Bianchi, P. Transidico, A. Doni, A. Vecchi, S. Sozzani, P. Allavena, and A. Mantovani. 2000. Uncoupling of inflammatory chemokine receptors by IL-10: generation of functional decoys. *Nat Immunol 1:387*.
- 218. Angeli, V., C. Faveeuw, O. Roye, J. Fontaine, E. Teissier, A. Capron, I. Wolowczuk, M. Capron, and F. Trottein. 2001. Role of the parasite-derived prostaglandin D2 in the inhibition of epidermal Langerhans cell migration during schistosomiasis infection. *J Exp Med* 193:1135.
- 219. Takayama, K., H. Yokozeki, M. Ghoreishi, T. Satoh, I. Katayama, T. Umeda, and K. Nishioka. 1999. IL-4 inhibits the migration of human Langerhans cells through the downregulation of TNF receptor II expression. *J Invest Dermatol* 113:541.
- 220. Bonnotte, B., M. Crittenden, N. Larmonier, M. Gough, and R. G. Vile. 2004. MIP-3alpha transfection into a rodent tumor cell line increases intratumoral dendritic cell infiltration but enhances (facilitates) tumor growth and decreases immunogenicity. *J Immunol 173:4929*.
- 221. Salcedo, R., M. L. Ponce, H. A. Young, K. Wasserman, J. M. Ward, H. K. Kleinman, J. J. Oppenheim, and W. J. Murphy. 2000. Human endothelial cells express CCR2 and respond to MCP-1: direct role of MCP-1 in angiogenesis and tumor progression. *Blood* 96:34.
- 222. Luboshits, G., S. Shina, O. Kaplan, S. Engelberg, D. Nass, B. Lifshitz-Mercer, S. Chaitchik, I. Keydar, and A. Ben-Baruch. 1999. Elevated expression of the CC chemokine regulated on activation, normal T cell expressed and secreted (RANTES) in advanced breast carcinoma. *Cancer Res* 59:4681.
- 223. Mira, E., R. A. Lacalle, M. A. Gonzalez, C. Gomez-Mouton, J. L. Abad, A. Bernad, A. C. Martinez, and S. Manes. 2001. A role for chemokine receptor transactivation in growth factor signaling. *EMBO Rep 2:151*.
- 224. Maestroni, G. J. 2000. Dendritic cell migration controlled by alpha 1b-adrenergic receptors. *J Immunol 165:6743*.
- 225. Wakasugi, K., and P. Schimmel. 1999. Two distinct cytokines released from a human aminoacyl-tRNA synthetase. *Science* 284:147.
- 226. Wakasugi, K., and P. Schimmel. 1999. Highly differentiated motifs responsible for two cytokine activities of a split human tRNA synthetase. *J Biol Chem* 274:23155.

- 227. Oppenheim, J. J., D. Yang, A. Biragyn, O. M. Howard, and P. Plotz. 2002. Chemokine receptors on dendritic cells promote autoimmune reactions. *Arthritis Res 4 Suppl 3:S183*.
- 228. Howard, O. M., H. F. Dong, D. Yang, N. Raben, K. Nagaraju, A. Rosen, L. Casciola-Rosen, M. Hartlein, M. Kron, K. Yiadom, S. Dwivedi, P. H. Plotz, and J. J. Oppenheim. 2002. Histidyl-tRNA synthetase and asparaginyl-tRNA synthetase, autoantigens in myositis, activate chemokine receptors on T lymphocytes and immature dendritic cells. J Exp Med 196:781.
- 229. Howard, O. M., H. F. Dong, S. B. Su, R. R. Caspi, X. Chen, P. Plotz, and J. J. Oppenheim. 2005. Autoantigens signal through chemokine receptors: uveitis antigens induce CXCR3 and CXCR5 expressing lymphocytes and immature dendritic cells to migrate. *Blood*.
- 230. Le, Y., B. Li, W. Gong, W. Shen, J. Hu, N. M. Dunlop, J. J. Oppenheim, and J. M. Wang. 2000. Novel pathophysiological role of classical chemotactic peptide receptors and their communications with chemokine receptors. *Immunol Rev* 177:185.
- 231. Badolato, R., J. M. Wang, W. J. Murphy, A. R. Lloyd, D. F. Michiel, L. L. Bausserman, D. J. Kelvin, and J. J. Oppenheim. 1994. Serum amyloid A is a chemoattractant: induction of migration, adhesion, and tissue infiltration of monocytes and polymorphonuclear leukocytes. *J Exp Med* 180:203.
- 232. Badolato, R., J. A. Johnston, J. M. Wang, D. McVicar, L. L. Xu, J. J. Oppenheim, and D. J. Kelvin. 1995. Serum amyloid A induces calcium mobilization and chemotaxis of human monocytes by activating a pertussis toxin-sensitive signaling pathway. *J Immunol* 155:4004.
- 233. Su, S. B., W. Gong, J. L. Gao, W. Shen, P. M. Murphy, J. J. Oppenheim, and J. M. Wang. 1999. A seven-transmembrane, G protein-coupled receptor, FPRL1, mediates the chemotactic activity of serum amyloid A for human phagocytic cells. *J Exp Med* 189:395.
- 234. Gendler, S., J. Taylor-Papadimitriou, T. Duhig, J. Rothbard, and J. Burchell. 1988. A highly immunogenic region of a human polymorphic epithelial mucin expressed by carcinomas is made up of tandem repeats. *J Biol Chem* 263:12820.
- 235. Siddiqui, J., M. Abe, D. Hayes, E. Shani, E. Yunis, and D. Kufe. 1988. Isolation and sequencing of a cDNA coding for the human DF3 breast carcinoma-associated antigen. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 85:2320.

- 236. Engelmann, K., S. E. Baldus, and F. G. Hanisch. 2001. Identification and topology of variant sequences within individual repeat domains of the human epithelial tumor mucin MUC1. *J Biol Chem* 276:27764.
- 237. Levitin, F., A. Baruch, M. Weiss, K. Stiegman, M. L. Hartmann, M. Yoeli-Lerner, R. Ziv, S. Zrihan-Licht, S. Shina, A. Gat, B. Lifschitz, M. Simha, Y. Stadler, A. Cholostoy, B. Gil, D. Greaves, I. Keydar, J. Zaretsky, N. Smorodinsky, and D. H. Wreschner. 2005. A novel protein derived from the MUC1 gene by alternative splicing and frameshifting. *J Biol Chem* 280:10655.
- 238. Gendler, S. J., E. P. Cohen, A. Craston, T. Duhig, G. Johnstone, and D. Barnes. 1990. The locus of the polymorphic epithelial mucin (PEM) tumour antigen on chromosome 1q21 shows a high frequency of alteration in primary human breast tumours. *Int J Cancer* 45:431.
- 239. Pratt, W. S., I. Islam, and D. M. Swallow. 1996. Two additional polymorphisms within the hypervariable MUC1 gene: association of alleles either side of the VNTR region. *Ann Hum Genet* 60 (*Pt* 1):21.
- 240. Ligtenberg, M. J., A. M. Gennissen, H. L. Vos, and J. Hilkens. 1991. A single nucleotide polymorphism in an exon dictates allele dependent differential splicing of episialin mRNA. *Nucleic Acids Res 19:297*.
- 241. Ligtenberg, M. J., H. L. Vos, A. M. Gennissen, and J. Hilkens. 1990. Episialin, a carcinoma-associated mucin, is generated by a polymorphic gene encoding splice variants with alternative amino termini. *J Biol Chem* 265:5573.
- 242. Shiraga, T., D. Smith, H. N. Nuthall, M. A. Hollingsworth, and A. Harris. 2002. Identification of two novel elements involved in human MUCI gene expression in vivo. *Mol Med* 8:33.
- 243. Kovarik, A., N. Peat, D. Wilson, S. J. Gendler, and J. Taylor-Papadimitriou. 1993. Analysis of the tissue-specific promoter of the MUC1 gene. *J Biol Chem* 268:9917.
- 244. Abe, M., and D. Kufe. 1993. Characterization of cis-acting elements regulating transcription of the human DF3 breast carcinoma-associated antigen (MUC1) gene. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 90:282*.
- 245. Lee, I. J., F. Han, J. Baek, A. Hisatsune, and K. C. Kim. 2004. Inhibition of MUC1 expression by indole-3-carbinol. *Int J Cancer 109:810*.

- 246. Canbay, E. 2003. Erb-B2 homodimerization inhibits MUC1 transcription in cultured human mammary epithelial cells. *Cell Biol Int* 27:477.
- 247. Adriance, M. C., and S. J. Gendler. 2004. Downregulation of Muc1 in MMTV-c-Neu tumors. *Oncogene 23:697*.
- 248. Hey, N. A., R. A. Graham, M. W. Seif, and J. D. Aplin. 1994. The polymorphic epithelial mucin MUC1 in human endometrium is regulated with maximal expression in the implantation phase. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* 78:337.
- 249. Hewetson, A., and B. S. Chilton. 1997. Molecular cloning and hormone-dependent expression of rabbit Muc1 in the cervix and uterus. *Biol Reprod* 57:468.
- 250. Hanson, J. M., D. A. Browell, W. J. Cunliffe, J. Varma, A. Allen, D. Hemming, B. K. Shenton, J. R. Young, M. J. Higgs, I. Brotherick, and J. P. Pearson. 2001. MUC1 expression in primary breast cancer: the effect of tamoxifen treatment. *Breast Cancer Res Treat* 67:215.
- 251. Porowska, H., A. Paszkiewicz-Gadek, S. Wolczynski, and A. Gindzienski. 2002. MUC1 expression in human breast cancer cells is altered by the factors affecting cell proliferation. *Neoplasma 49:104*.
- 252. Paszkiewicz-Gadek, A., H. Porowska, T. Anchim, S. Wolczynski, and A. Gindzienski. 2003. Biosynthesis of MUC1 mucin in human endometrial adenocarcinoma is modulated by estradiol and tamoxifen. *Gynecol Endocrinol 17:37*.
- 253. Lagow, E. L., and D. D. Carson. 2002. Synergistic stimulation of MUC1 expression in normal breast epithelia and breast cancer cells by interferon-gamma and tumor necrosis factor-alpha. *J Cell Biochem* 86:759.
- 254. Thathiah, A., M. Brayman, N. Dharmaraj, J. J. Julian, E. L. Lagow, and D. D. Carson. 2004. Tumor necrosis factor alpha stimulates MUC1 synthesis and ectodomain release in a human uterine epithelial cell line. *Endocrinology* 145:4192.
- 255. Reddy, P. K., D. V. Gold, T. M. Cardillo, D. M. Goldenberg, H. Li, and J. D. Burton. 2003. Interferon-gamma upregulates MUC1 expression in haematopoietic and epithelial cancer cell lines, an effect associated with MUC1 mRNA induction. *Eur J Cancer* 39:397.
- 256. Gaemers, I. C., H. L. Vos, H. H. Volders, S. W. van der Valk, and J. Hilkens. 2001. A stat-responsive element in the promoter of the episialin/MUC1 gene is involved in its overexpression in carcinoma cells. *J Biol Chem* 276:6191.
- 257. Yuan, Z. L., Y. J. Guan, L. Wang, W. Wei, A. B. Kane, and Y. E. Chin. 2004. Central role of the threonine residue within the p+1 loop of receptor tyrosine kinase in STAT3 constitutive phosphorylation in metastatic cancer cells. *Mol Cell Biol* 24:9390.
- 258. Vasir, B., D. Avigan, Z. Wu, K. Crawford, S. Turnquist, J. Ren, and D. Kufe. 2005. Dendritic cells induce MUC1 expression and polarization on human T cells by an IL-7dependent mechanism. *J Immunol* 174:2376.
- 259. Lillehoj, E. P., F. Han, and K. C. Kim. 2003. Mutagenesis of a Gly-Ser cleavage site in MUC1 inhibits ectodomain shedding. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun 307:743*.
- 260. Baruch, A., M. Hartmann, M. Yoeli, Y. Adereth, S. Greenstein, Y. Stadler, Y. Skornik, J. Zaretsky, N. I. Smorodinsky, I. Keydar, and D. H. Wreschner. 1999. The breast cancer-associated MUC1 gene generates both a receptor and its cognate binding protein. *Cancer Res* 59:1552.
- 261. Baruch, A., M. Hartmann, S. Zrihan-Licht, S. Greenstein, M. Burstein, I. Keydar, M. Weiss, N. Smorodinsky, and D. H. Wreschner. 1997. Preferential expression of novel MUC1 tumor antigen isoforms in human epithelial tumors and their tumor-potentiating function. *Int J Cancer* 71:741.
- 262. Fontenot, J. D., N. Tjandra, D. Bu, C. Ho, R. C. Montelaro, and O. J. Finn. 1993. Biophysical characterization of one-, two-, and three-tandem repeats of human mucin (muc-1) protein core. *Cancer Res* 53:5386.
- 263. Schuman, J., A. P. Campbell, R. R. Koganty, and B. M. Longenecker. 2003. Probing the conformational and dynamical effects of O-glycosylation within the immunodominant region of a MUC1 peptide tumor antigen. *J Pept Res 61:91*.
- 264. Schuman, J. T., J. S. Grinstead, V. Apostolopoulos, and A. P. Campbell. 2005. Structural and dynamic consequences of increasing repeats in a MUC1 peptide tumor antigen. *Biopolymers* 77:107.
- 265. Carvalho, F., R. Seruca, L. David, A. Amorim, M. Seixas, E. Bennett, H. Clausen, and M. Sobrinho-Simoes. 1997. MUC1 gene polymorphism and gastric cancer--an epidemiological study. *Glycoconj J* 14:107.

- 266. Silva, F., F. Carvalho, A. Peixoto, M. Seixas, R. Almeida, F. Carneiro, P. Mesquita, C. Figueiredo, C. Nogueira, D. M. Swallow, A. Amorim, and L. David. 2001. MUC1 gene polymorphism in the gastric carcinogenesis pathway. *Eur J Hum Genet* 9:548.
- 267. Vinall, L. E., M. King, M. Novelli, C. A. Green, G. Daniels, J. Hilkens, M. Sarner, and D. M. Swallow. 2002. Altered expression and allelic association of the hypervariable membrane mucin MUC1 in Helicobacter pylori gastritis. *Gastroenterology* 123:41.
- 268. Ando, I., A. Kukita, G. Soma, and H. Hino. 1998. A large number of tandem repeats in the polymorphic epithelial mucin gene is associated with severe acne. *J Dermatol* 25:150.
- 269. Hoffman, L. H., G. E. Olson, D. D. Carson, and B. S. Chilton. 1998. Progesterone and implanting blastocysts regulate Muc1 expression in rabbit uterine epithelium. *Endocrinology* 139:266.
- 270. Thathiah, A., C. P. Blobel, and D. D. Carson. 2003. Tumor necrosis factor-alpha converting enzyme/ADAM 17 mediates MUC1 shedding. *J Biol Chem* 278:3386.
- 271. Thathiah, A., and D. D. Carson. 2004. MT1-MMP mediates MUC1 shedding independent of TACE/ADAM17. *Biochem J* 382:363.
- 272. Agrawal, B., M. J. Krantz, J. Parker, and B. M. Longenecker. 1998. Expression of MUC1 mucin on activated human T cells: implications for a role of MUC1 in normal immune regulation. *Cancer Res* 58:4079.
- 273. Wykes, M., K. P. MacDonald, M. Tran, R. J. Quin, P. X. Xing, S. J. Gendler, D. N. Hart, and M. A. McGuckin. 2002. MUC1 epithelial mucin (CD227) is expressed by activated dendritic cells. *J Leukoc Biol* 72:692.
- 274. Fattorossi, A., A. Battaglia, P. Malinconico, A. Stoler, L. Andreocci, D. Parente, A. Coscarella, N. Maggiano, A. Perillo, L. Pierelli, and G. Scambia. 2002. Constitutive and inducible expression of the epithelial antigen MUC1 (CD227) in human T cells. *Exp Cell Res 280:107*.
- 275. Correa, I., T. Plunkett, A. Vlad, A. Mungul, J. Candelora-Kettel, J. M. Burchell, J. Taylor-Papadimitriou, and O. J. Finn. 2003. Form and pattern of MUC1 expression on T cells activated in vivo or in vitro suggests a function in T-cell migration. *Immunology 108:32*.

- 276. Wang, H., E. P. Lillehoj, and K. C. Kim. 2003. Identification of four sites of stimulated tyrosine phosphorylation in the MUC1 cytoplasmic tail. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun 310:341*.
- 277. Wang, H., E. P. Lillehoj, and K. C. Kim. 2004. MUC1 tyrosine phosphorylation activates the extracellular signal-regulated kinase. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun 321:448*.
- 278. Kinlough, C. L., P. A. Poland, J. B. Bruns, K. L. Harkleroad, and R. P. Hughey. 2004. MUC1 membrane trafficking is modulated by multiple interactions. *J Biol Chem* 279:53071.
- 279. Pandey, P., S. Kharbanda, and D. Kufe. 1995. Association of the DF3/MUC1 breast cancer antigen with Grb2 and the Sos/Ras exchange protein. *Cancer Res* 55:4000.
- 280. Li, Y., H. Kuwahara, J. Ren, G. Wen, and D. Kufe. 2001. The c-Src tyrosine kinase regulates signaling of the human DF3/MUC1 carcinoma-associated antigen with GSK3 beta and beta-catenin. *J Biol Chem* 276:6061.
- 281. Mukherjee, P., T. L. Tinder, G. D. Basu, and S. J. Gendler. 2005. MUC1 (CD227) interacts with lck tyrosine kinase in Jurkat lymphoma cells and normal T cells. *J Leukoc Biol* 77:90.
- 282. Yamamoto, M., A. Bharti, Y. Li, and D. Kufe. 1997. Interaction of the DF3/MUC1 breast carcinoma-associated antigen and beta-catenin in cell adhesion. *J Biol Chem* 272:12492.
- 283. Li, Y., A. Bharti, D. Chen, J. Gong, and D. Kufe. 1998. Interaction of glycogen synthase kinase 3beta with the DF3/MUC1 carcinoma-associated antigen and beta-catenin. *Mol Cell Biol* 18:7216.
- 284. Raina, D., S. Kharbanda, and D. Kufe. 2004. The MUC1 oncoprotein activates the antiapoptotic phosphoinositide 3-kinase/Akt and Bcl-xL pathways in rat 3Y1 fibroblasts. *J Biol Chem* 279:20607.
- 285. Schroeder, J. A., M. C. Thompson, M. M. Gardner, and S. J. Gendler. 2001. Transgenic MUC1 interacts with epidermal growth factor receptor and correlates with mitogenactivated protein kinase activation in the mouse mammary gland. *J Biol Chem* 276:13057.

- 286. Hattrup, C. L., J. Fernandez-Rodriguez, J. A. Schroeder, G. C. Hansson, and S. J. Gendler. 2004. MUC1 can interact with adenomatous polyposis coli in breast cancer. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun 316:364*.
- 287. Chaturvedi, R., R. K. Srivastava, A. Hisatsune, S. Shankar, E. P. Lillehoj, and K. C. Kim. 2005. Augmentation of Fas ligand-induced apoptosis by MUC1 mucin. *Int J Oncol* 26:1169.
- 288. Rahn, J. J., Q. Shen, B. K. Mah, and J. C. Hugh. 2004. MUC1 initiates a calcium signal after ligation by intercellular adhesion molecule-1. *J Biol Chem* 279:29386.
- 289. Seregni, E., C. Botti, C. Lombardo, A. Cantoni, A. Bogni, I. Cataldo, and E. Bombardieri. 1996. Pattern of mucin gene expression in normal and neoplastic lung tissues. *Anticancer Res 16:2209*.
- 290. Lambrechts, M. G., F. F. Bauer, J. Marmur, and I. S. Pretorius. 1996. Muc1, a mucin-like protein that is regulated by Mss10, is critical for pseudohyphal differentiation in yeast. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 93:8419*.
- 291. Braga, V. M., L. F. Pemberton, T. Duhig, and S. J. Gendler. 1992. Spatial and temporal expression of an epithelial mucin, Muc-1, during mouse development. *Development* 115:427.
- 292. Shin, C. Y., K. H. Park, B. K. Ryu, E. Y. Choi, K. C. Kim, and K. H. Ko. 2000. Squamous differentiation downregulates Muc1 mucin in hamster tracheal surface epithelial cell. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* 271:641.
- 293. Croy, B. A., A. A. Ashkar, R. A. Foster, J. P. DiSanto, J. Magram, D. Carson, S. J. Gendler, M. J. Grusby, N. Wagner, W. Muller, and M. J. Guimond. 1997. Histological studies of gene-ablated mice support important functional roles for natural killer cells in the uterus during pregnancy. *J Reprod Immunol 35:111*.
- 294. Kardon, R., R. E. Price, J. Julian, E. Lagow, S. C. Tseng, S. J. Gendler, and D. D. Carson. 1999. Bacterial conjunctivitis in Muc1 null mice. *Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci 40:1328*.
- 295. Danjo, Y., L. D. Hazlett, and I. K. Gipson. 2000. C57BL/6 mice lacking Muc1 show no ocular surface phenotype. *Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci 41:4080*.

- 296. Spicer, A. P., G. J. Rowse, T. K. Lidner, and S. J. Gendler. 1995. Delayed mammary tumor progression in Muc-1 null mice. *J Biol Chem* 270:30093.
- 297. Parmley, R. R., and S. J. Gendler. 1998. Cystic fibrosis mice lacking Muc1 have reduced amounts of intestinal mucus. *J Clin Invest 102:1798*.
- 298. Wang, H. H., N. H. Afdhal, S. J. Gendler, and D. Q. Wang. 2004. Lack of the intestinal Muc1 mucin impairs cholesterol uptake and absorption but not fatty acid uptake in Muc1-/- mice. *Am J Physiol Gastrointest Liver Physiol* 287:G547.
- 299. Wang, H. H., N. H. Afdhal, S. J. Gendler, and D. Q. Wang. 2004. Targeted disruption of the murine mucin gene 1 decreases susceptibility to cholesterol gallstone formation. *J Lipid Res* 45:438.
- 300. DeSouza, M. M., G. A. Surveyor, R. E. Price, J. Julian, R. Kardon, X. Zhou, S. Gendler, J. Hilkens, and D. D. Carson. 1999. MUC1/episialin: a critical barrier in the female reproductive tract. *J Reprod Immunol 45:127*.
- 301. Leroy, X., M. C. Copin, L. Devisme, M. P. Buisine, J. P. Aubert, B. Gosselin, and N. Porchet. 2002. Expression of human mucin genes in normal kidney and renal cell carcinoma. *Histopathology* 40:450.
- 302. Liu, B., J. R. Lague, D. P. Nunes, P. Toselli, F. G. Oppenheim, R. V. Soares, R. F. Troxler, and G. D. Offner. 2002. Expression of membrane-associated mucins MUC1 and MUC4 in major human salivary glands. *J Histochem Cytochem 50:811*.
- 303. Sengupta, A., D. Valdramidou, S. Huntley, S. J. Hicks, S. D. Carrington, and A. P. Corfield. 2001. Distribution of MUC1 in the normal human oral cavity is localized to the ducts of minor salivary glands. *Arch Oral Biol 46:529*.
- 304. Copin, M. C., L. Devisme, M. P. Buisine, C. H. Marquette, A. Wurtz, J. P. Aubert, B. Gosselin, and N. Porchet. 2000. From normal respiratory mucosa to epidermoid carcinoma: expression of human mucin genes. *Int J Cancer 86:162*.
- 305. Lopez-Ferrer, A., V. Curull, C. Barranco, M. Garrido, J. Lloreta, F. X. Real, and C. de Bolos. 2001. Mucins as differentiation markers in bronchial epithelium. Squamous cell carcinoma and adenocarcinoma display similar expression patterns. *Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 24:22*.

- 306. Ho, S. B., G. A. Niehans, C. Lyftogt, P. S. Yan, D. L. Cherwitz, E. T. Gum, R. Dahiya, and Y. S. Kim. 1993. Heterogeneity of mucin gene expression in normal and neoplastic tissues. *Cancer Res* 53:641.
- 307. Ho, S. B., L. L. Shekels, N. W. Toribara, Y. S. Kim, C. Lyftogt, D. L. Cherwitz, and G. A. Niehans. 1995. Mucin gene expression in normal, preneoplastic, and neoplastic human gastric epithelium. *Cancer Res* 55:2681.
- 308. Gipson, I. K., and T. Inatomi. 1998. Cellular origin of mucins of the ocular surface tear film. *Adv Exp Med Biol 438:221*.
- 309. Wright, N. A., C. M. Pike, and G. Elia. 1990. Ulceration induces a novel epidermal growth factor-secreting cell lineage in human gastrointestinal mucosa. *Digestion 46 Suppl 2:125*.
- 310. Guzman, K., T. Bader, and P. Nettesheim. 1996. Regulation of MUC5 and MUC1 gene expression: correlation with airway mucous differentiation. *Am J Physiol* 270:L846.
- 311. Rughetti, A., M. Biffoni, L. Pierelli, H. Rahimi, G. Bonanno, S. Barachini, I. Pellicciotta, C. Napoletano, E. Pescarmona, A. Del Nero, P. Pignoloni, L. Frati, and M. Nuti. 2003. Regulated expression of MUC1 epithelial antigen in erythropoiesis. *Br J Haematol* 120:344.
- 312. Hudson, M. J., G. W. Stamp, K. S. Chaudhary, R. Hewitt, A. P. Stubbs, P. D. Abel, and E. N. Lalani. 2001. Human MUC1 mucin: a potent glandular morphogen. *J Pathol* 194:373.
- 313. Hudson, M. J., G. W. Stamp, M. A. Hollingsworth, M. Pignatelli, and E. N. Lalani. 1996. MUC1 expressed in PanC1 cells decreases adhesion to type 1 collagen but increases contraction in collagen lattices. *Am J Pathol 148:951*.
- 314. Yin, L., Y. Li, J. Ren, H. Kuwahara, and D. Kufe. 2003. Human MUC1 carcinoma antigen regulates intracellular oxidant levels and the apoptotic response to oxidative stress. *J Biol Chem* 278:35458.
- 315. Burchell, J. M., A. Mungul, and J. Taylor-Papadimitriou. 2001. O-linked glycosylation in the mammary gland: changes that occur during malignancy. *J Mammary Gland Biol Neoplasia 6:355*.

- 316. Dube, V. E. 1987. The structural relationship of blood group-related oligosaccharides in human carcinoma to biological function: a perspective. *Cancer Metastasis Rev 6:541*.
- 317. Campbell, B. J., L. G. Yu, and J. M. Rhodes. 2001. Altered glycosylation in inflammatory bowel disease: a possible role in cancer development. *Glycoconj J* 18:851.
- 318. Schuman, J., D. Qiu, R. R. Koganty, B. M. Longenecker, and A. P. Campbell. 2000. Glycosylations versus conformational preferences of cancer associated mucin core. *Glycoconj J* 17:835.
- 319. Muller, S., and F. G. Hanisch. 2002. Recombinant MUC1 probe authentically reflects cell-specific O-glycosylation profiles of endogenous breast cancer mucin. High density and prevalent core 2-based glycosylation. *J Biol Chem* 277:26103.
- 320. Nishimori, I., F. Perini, K. P. Mountjoy, S. D. Sanderson, N. Johnson, R. L. Cerny, M. L. Gross, J. D. Fontenot, and M. A. Hollingsworth. 1994. N-acetylgalactosamine glycosylation of MUC1 tandem repeat peptides by pancreatic tumor cell extracts. *Cancer Res* 54:3738.
- 321. Hanisch, F. G., S. Muller, H. Hassan, H. Clausen, N. Zachara, A. A. Gooley, H. Paulsen, K. Alving, and J. Peter-Katalinic. 1999. Dynamic epigenetic regulation of initial O-glycosylation by UDP-N-Acetylgalactosamine:Peptide N-acetylgalactosaminyltransferases. site-specific glycosylation of MUC1 repeat peptide influences the substrate qualities at adjacent or distant Ser/Thr positions. *J Biol Chem* 274:9946.
- 322. Muller, S., S. Goletz, N. Packer, A. Gooley, A. M. Lawson, and F. G. Hanisch. 1997. Localization of O-glycosylation sites on glycopeptide fragments from lactationassociated MUC1. All putative sites within the tandem repeat are glycosylation targets in vivo. *J Biol Chem* 272:24780.
- 323. Altschuler, Y., C. L. Kinlough, P. A. Poland, J. B. Bruns, G. Apodaca, O. A. Weisz, and R. P. Hughey. 2000. Clathrin-mediated endocytosis of MUC1 is modulated by its glycosylation state. *Mol Biol Cell* 11:819.
- 324. Hanisch, F. G., T. Schwientek, M. S. Von Bergwelt-Baildon, J. L. Schultze, and O. Finn. 2003. O-Linked glycans control glycoprotein processing by antigen-presenting cells: a biochemical approach to the molecular aspects of MUC1 processing by dendritic cells. *Eur J Immunol 33:3242*.

- 325. Hiltbold, E. M., P. Ciborowski, and O. J. Finn. 1998. Naturally processed class II epitope from the tumor antigen MUC1 primes human CD4+ T cells. *Cancer Res* 58:5066.
- 326. Hiltbold, E. M., M. D. Alter, P. Ciborowski, and O. J. Finn. 1999. Presentation of MUC1 tumor antigen by class I MHC and CTL function correlate with the glycosylation state of the protein taken Up by dendritic cells. *Cell Immunol 194:143*.
- 327. Vlad, A. M., S. Muller, M. Cudic, H. Paulsen, L. Otvos, Jr., F. G. Hanisch, and O. J. Finn. 2002. Complex carbohydrates are not removed during processing of glycoproteins by dendritic cells: processing of tumor antigen MUC1 glycopeptides for presentation to major histocompatibility complex class II-restricted T cells. *J Exp Med 196:1435*.
- 328. Ragupathi, G., D. M. Coltart, L. J. Williams, F. Koide, E. Kagan, J. Allen, C. Harris, P. W. Glunz, P. O. Livingston, and S. J. Danishefsky. 2002. On the power of chemical synthesis: immunological evaluation of models for multiantigenic carbohydrate-based cancer vaccines. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 99:13699*.
- 329. Lo-Man, R., S. Vichier-Guerre, S. Bay, E. Deriaud, D. Cantacuzene, and C. Leclerc. 2001. Anti-tumor immunity provided by a synthetic multiple antigenic glycopeptide displaying a tri-Tn glycotope. *J Immunol 166:2849*.
- 330. Kagan, E., G. Ragupathi, S. S. Yi, C. A. Reis, J. Gildersleeve, D. Kahne, H. Clausen, S. J. Danishefsky, and P. O. Livingston. 2005. Comparison of antigen constructs and carrier molecules for augmenting the immunogenicity of the monosaccharide epithelial cancer antigen Tn. *Cancer Immunol Immunother* 54:424.
- 331. von Mensdorff-Pouilly, S., E. Petrakou, P. Kenemans, K. van Uffelen, A. A. Verstraeten, F. G. Snijdewint, G. J. van Kamp, D. J. Schol, C. A. Reis, M. R. Price, P. O. Livingston, and J. Hilgers. 2000. Reactivity of natural and induced human antibodies to MUC1 mucin with MUC1 peptides and n-acetylgalactosamine (GalNAc) peptides. *Int J Cancer 86:702*.
- 332. Alpaugh, M. L., J. S. Tomlinson, S. Kasraeian, and S. H. Barsky. 2002. Cooperative role of E-cadherin and sialyl-Lewis X/A-deficient MUC1 in the passive dissemination of tumor emboli in inflammatory breast carcinoma. *Oncogene* 21:3631.
- 333. Porowska, H., A. Paszkiewicz-Gadek, T. Anchim, S. Wolczynski, and A. Gindzienski. 2004. Inhibition of the O-glycan elongation limits MUC1 incorporation to cell membrane of human endometrial carcinoma cells. *Int J Mol Med* 13:459.

- 334. Lin, S., W. Kemmner, S. Grigull, and P. M. Schlag. 2002. Cell surface alpha 2,6 sialylation affects adhesion of breast carcinoma cells. *Exp Cell Res* 276:101.
- 335. Bresalier, R. S., S. B. Ho, H. L. Schoeppner, Y. S. Kim, M. H. Sleisenger, P. Brodt, and J. C. Byrd. 1996. Enhanced sialylation of mucin-associated carbohydrate structures in human colon cancer metastasis. *Gastroenterology* 110:1354.
- 336. Itzkowitz, S. H. 1992. Blood group-related carbohydrate antigen expression in malignant and premalignant colonic neoplasms. *J Cell Biochem Suppl 16G:97*.
- 337. Fuster, M. M., J. R. Brown, L. Wang, and J. D. Esko. 2003. A disaccharide precursor of sialyl Lewis X inhibits metastatic potential of tumor cells. *Cancer Res* 63:2775.
- 338. Julien, S., C. Lagadec, M. A. Krzewinski-Recchi, G. Courtand, X. Le Bourhis, and P. Delannoy. 2005. Stable expression of sialyl-Tn antigen in T47-D cells induces a decrease of cell adhesion and an increase of cell migration. *Breast Cancer Res Treat* 90:77.
- 339. Mungul, A., L. Cooper, I. Brockhausen, K. Ryder, U. Mandel, H. Clausen, A. Rughetti, D. W. Miles, J. Taylor-Papadimitriou, and J. M. Burchell. 2004. Sialylated core 1 based O-linked glycans enhance the growth rate of mammary carcinoma cells in MUC1 transgenic mice. *Int J Oncol* 25:937.
- 340. Crottet, P., Y. J. Kim, and A. Varki. 1996. Subsets of sialylated, sulfated mucins of diverse origins are recognized by L-selectin. Lack of evidence for unique oligosaccharide sequences mediating binding. *Glycobiology* 6:191.
- 341. Regimbald, L. H., L. M. Pilarski, B. M. Longenecker, M. A. Reddish, G. Zimmermann, and J. C. Hugh. 1996. The breast mucin MUCI as a novel adhesion ligand for endothelial intercellular adhesion molecule 1 in breast cancer. *Cancer Res* 56:4244.
- 342. Karsten, U., N. Serttas, H. Paulsen, A. Danielczyk, and S. Goletz. 2004. Binding patterns of DTR-specific antibodies reveal a glycosylation-conditioned tumor-specific epitope of the epithelial mucin (MUC1). *Glycobiology* 14:681.
- 343. Barnd, D. L., L. A. Kerr, R. S. Metzgar, and O. J. Finn. 1988. Human tumor-specific cytotoxic T cell lines generated from tumor-draining lymph node infiltrate. *Transplant Proc* 20:339.

- 344. Yonezawa, S., and E. Sato. 1997. Expression of mucin antigens in human cancers and its relationship with malignancy potential. *Pathol Int 47:813*.
- 345. Leroy, X., F. Zerimech, L. Zini, M. C. Copin, M. P. Buisine, B. Gosselin, J. P. Aubert, and N. Porchet. 2002. MUC1 expression is correlated with nuclear grade and tumor progression in pT1 renal clear cell carcinoma. *Am J Clin Pathol 118:47*.
- 346. Kocer, B., A. Soran, G. Kiyak, S. Erdogan, A. Eroglu, B. Bozkurt, C. Solak, and O. Cengiz. 2004. Prognostic significance of mucin expression in gastric carcinoma. *Dig Dis Sci 49:954*.
- 347. Baldus, S. E., T. K. Zirbes, S. Engel, F. G. Hanisch, S. P. Monig, J. Lorenzen, J. Glossmann, S. Fromm, J. Thiele, H. Pichlmaier, and H. P. Dienes. 1998. Correlation of the immunohistochemical reactivity of mucin peptide cores MUC1 and MUC2 with the histopathological subtype and prognosis of gastric carcinomas. *Int J Cancer 79:133*.
- 348. Luttges, J., B. Feyerabend, T. Buchelt, M. Pacena, and G. Kloppel. 2002. The mucin profile of noninvasive and invasive mucinous cystic neoplasms of the pancreas. *Am J Surg Pathol 26:466*.
- 349. Kosmahl, M., N. Egawa, S. Schroder, F. Carneiro, J. Luttges, and G. Kloppel. 2002. Mucinous nonneoplastic cyst of the pancreas: a novel nonneoplastic cystic change? *Mod Pathol* 15:154.
- 350. Masaki, Y., M. Oka, Y. Ogura, T. Ueno, K. Nishihara, A. Tangoku, M. Takahashi, M. Yamamoto, and T. Irimura. 1999. Sialylated MUC1 mucin expression in normal pancreas, benign pancreatic lesions, and pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma. *Hepatogastroenterology* 46:2240.
- 351. Rahn, J. J., L. Dabbagh, M. Pasdar, and J. C. Hugh. 2001. The importance of MUC1 cellular localization in patients with breast carcinoma: an immunohistologic study of 71 patients and review of the literature. *Cancer 91:1973*.
- 352. Paydas, S., B. Sahin, G. Gonlusen, B. Hazar, and S. Zorludemir. 2001. MUC1 expression in plasmacytoma. *Leuk Res* 25:221.
- 353. Plate, J. M., S. Shott, and J. E. Harris. 1999. Immunoregulation in pancreatic cancer patients. *Cancer Immunol Immunother* 48:270.

- 354. von Mensdorff-Pouilly, S., M. M. Gourevitch, P. Kenemans, A. A. Verstraeten, S. V. Litvinov, G. J. van Kamp, S. Meijer, J. Vermorken, and J. Hilgers. 1996. Humoral immune response to polymorphic epithelial mucin (MUC-1) in patients with benign and malignant breast tumours. *Eur J Cancer 32A:1325*.
- 355. Ajioka, Y., L. J. Allison, and J. R. Jass. 1996. Significance of MUC1 and MUC2 mucin expression in colorectal cancer. *J Clin Pathol* 49:560.
- 356. Buisine, M. P., P. Desreumaux, E. Leteurtre, M. C. Copin, J. F. Colombel, N. Porchet, and J. P. Aubert. 2001. Mucin gene expression in intestinal epithelial cells in Crohn's disease. *Gut* 49:544.
- 357. Kohno, N. 1999. Serum marker KL-6/MUC1 for the diagnosis and management of interstitial pneumonitis. *J Med Invest* 46:151.
- 358. Takaishi, H., S. Ohara, K. Hotta, T. Yajima, T. Kanai, N. Inoue, Y. Iwao, M. Watanabe, H. Ishii, and T. Hibi. 2000. Circulating autoantibodies against purified colonic mucin in ulcerative colitis. *J Gastroenterol 35:20*.
- 359. Hinoda, Y., N. Nakagawa, H. Nakamura, Y. Makiguchi, F. Itoh, M. Adachi, T. Yabana, K. Imai, and A. Yachi. 1993. Detection of a circulating antibody against a peptide epitope on a mucin core protein, MUC1, in ulcerative colitis. *Immunol Lett* 35:163.
- 360. Arul, G. S., M. Moorghen, N. Myerscough, D. A. Alderson, R. D. Spicer, and A. P. Corfield. 2000. Mucin gene expression in Barrett's oesophagus: an in situ hybridisation and immunohistochemical study. *Gut* 47:753.
- 361. Baldus, S. E., F. G. Hanisch, C. Putz, U. Flucke, S. P. Monig, P. M. Schneider, J. Thiele, A. H. Holscher, and H. P. Dienes. 2002. Immunoreactivity of Lewis blood group and mucin peptide core antigens: correlations with grade of dysplasia and malignant transformation in the colorectal adenoma-carcinoma sequence. *Histol Histopathol* 17:191.
- 362. Baldus, S. E., S. P. Monig, F. G. Hanisch, T. K. Zirbes, U. Flucke, S. Oelert, G. Zilkens, B. Madejczik, J. Thiele, P. M. Schneider, A. H. Holscher, and H. P. Dienes. 2002. Comparative evaluation of the prognostic value of MUC1, MUC2, sialyl-Lewis(a) and sialyl-Lewis(x) antigens in colorectal adenocarcinoma. *Histopathology* 40:440.
- 363. Agrawal, B., M. A. Reddish, M. J. Krantz, and B. M. Longenecker. 1995. Does pregnancy immunize against breast cancer? *Cancer Res* 55:2257.

- 364. Agrawal, B., M. A. Reddish, and B. M. Longenecker. 1996. In vitro induction of MUC-1 peptide-specific type 1 T lymphocyte and cytotoxic T lymphocyte responses from healthy multiparous donors. *J Immunol* 157:2089.
- 365. Croce, M. V., M. T. Isla-Larrain, A. Capafons, M. R. Price, and A. Segal-Eiras. 2001. Humoral immune response induced by the protein core of MUC1 mucin in pregnant and healthy women. *Breast Cancer Res Treat 69:1*.
- 366. Jerome, K. R., A. D. Kirk, G. Pecher, W. W. Ferguson, and O. J. Finn. 1997. A survivor of breast cancer with immunity to MUC-1 mucin, and lactational mastitis. *Cancer Immunol Immunother* 43:355.
- 367. Choi, C., M. Witzens, M. Bucur, M. Feuerer, N. Sommerfeldt, A. Trojan, A. Ho, V. Schirrmacher, H. Goldschmidt, and P. Beckhove. 2005. Enrichment of functional CD8 memory T cells specific for MUC1 in bone marrow of patients with multiple myeloma. *Blood 105:2132*.
- 368. Brossart, P., K. S. Heinrich, G. Stuhler, L. Behnke, V. L. Reichardt, S. Stevanovic, A. Muhm, H. G. Rammensee, L. Kanz, and W. Brugger. 1999. Identification of HLA-A2-restricted T-cell epitopes derived from the MUC1 tumor antigen for broadly applicable vaccine therapies. *Blood 93:4309*.
- 369. Domenech, N., R. A. Henderson, and O. J. Finn. 1995. Identification of an HLA-A11restricted epitope from the tandem repeat domain of the epithelial tumor antigen mucin. *J Immunol* 155:4766.
- 370. Apostolopoulos, V., V. Karanikas, J. S. Haurum, and I. F. McKenzie. 1997. Induction of HLA-A2-restricted CTLs to the mucin 1 human breast cancer antigen. *J Immunol 159:5211*.
- 371. Pisarev, V. M., L. Kinarsky, T. Caffrey, F. G. Hanisch, S. Sanderson, M. A. Hollingsworth, and S. Sherman. 2005. T cells recognize PD(N/T)R motif common in a variable number of tandem repeat and degenerate repeat sequences of MUC1. *Int Immunopharmacol* 5:315.
- 372. Muller, M. R., F. Grunebach, A. Nencioni, and P. Brossart. 2003. Transfection of dendritic cells with RNA induces CD4- and CD8-mediated T cell immunity against breast carcinomas and reveals the immunodominance of presented T cell epitopes. *J Immunol* 170:5892.

- 373. Lofthouse, S. A., V. Apostolopoulos, G. A. Pietersz, W. Li, and I. F. McKenzie. 1997. Induction of T1 (cytotoxic lymphocyte) and/or T2 (antibody) responses to a mucin-1 tumour antigen. *Vaccine 15:1586*.
- 374. Apostolopoulos, V., G. A. Pietersz, and I. F. McKenzie. 1996. Cell-mediated immune responses to MUC1 fusion protein coupled to mannan. *Vaccine 14:930*.
- 375. Lees, C. J., V. Apostolopoulos, B. Acres, C. S. Ong, V. Popovski, and I. F. McKenzie. 2000. The effect of T1 and T2 cytokines on the cytotoxic T cell response to mannan-MUC1. *Cancer Immunol Immunother* 48:644.
- 376. Lees, C. J., V. Apostolopoulos, and I. F. McKenzie. 1999. Cytokine production from murine CD4 and CD8 cells after mannan-MUC1 immunization. *J Interferon Cytokine Res 19:1373*.
- 377. Musselli, C., G. Ragupathi, T. Gilewski, K. S. Panageas, Y. Spinat, and P. O. Livingston. 2002. Reevaluation of the cellular immune response in breast cancer patients vaccinated with MUC1. *Int J Cancer* 97:660.
- 378. Kontani, K., O. Taguchi, Y. Ozaki, J. Hanaoka, N. Tezuka, S. Sawai, S. Inoue, S. Fujino, T. Maeda, Y. Itoh, K. Ogasawara, H. Sato, I. Ohkubo, and T. Kudo. 2002. Novel vaccination protocol consisting of injecting MUC1 DNA and nonprimed dendritic cells at the same region greatly enhanced MUC1-specific antitumor immunity in a murine model. *Cancer Gene Ther 9:330.*
- 379. Acres, B., V. Apostolopoulos, J. M. Balloul, D. Wreschner, P. X. Xing, D. Ali-Hadji, N. Bizouarne, M. P. Kieny, and I. F. McKenzie. 2000. MUC1-specific immune responses in human MUC1 transgenic mice immunized with various human MUC1 vaccines. *Cancer Immunol Immunother* 48:588.
- 380. Smith, M., J. M. Burchell, R. Graham, E. P. Cohen, and J. Taylor-Papadimitriou. 1999. Expression of B7.1 in a MUC1-expressing mouse mammary epithelial tumour cell line inhibits tumorigenicity but does not induce autoimmunity in MUC1 transgenic mice. *Immunology* 97:648.
- 381. Tanaka, Y., S. Koido, M. Ohana, C. Liu, and J. Gong. 2005. Induction of impaired antitumor immunity by fusion of MHC class II-deficient dendritic cells with tumor cells. *J Immunol 174:1274*.

- 382. Xia, J., Y. Tanaka, S. Koido, C. Liu, P. Mukherjee, S. J. Gendler, and J. Gong. 2003. Prevention of spontaneous breast carcinoma by prophylactic vaccination with dendritic/tumor fusion cells. *J Immunol 170:1980*.
- 383. Chen, D., S. Koido, Y. Li, S. Gendler, and J. Gong. 2000. T cell suppression as a mechanism for tolerance to MUC1 antigen in MUC1 transgenic mice. *Breast Cancer Res Treat 60:107*.
- 384. Soares, M. M., V. Mehta, and O. J. Finn. 2001. Three different vaccines based on the 140-amino acid MUC1 peptide with seven tandemly repeated tumor-specific epitopes elicit distinct immune effector mechanisms in wild-type versus MUC1-transgenic mice with different potential for tumor rejection. *J Immunol 166:6555*.
- 385. Tempero, R. M., M. L. VanLith, K. Morikane, G. J. Rowse, S. J. Gendler, and M. A. Hollingsworth. 1998. CD4+ lymphocytes provide MUC1-specific tumor immunity in vivo that is undetectable in vitro and is absent in MUC1 transgenic mice. *J Immunol 161:5500*.
- VanLith, M. L., K. G. Kohlgraf, C. L. Sivinski, R. M. Tempero, and M. A. Hollingsworth. 2002. MUC1-specific anti-tumor responses: molecular requirements for CD4-mediated responses. *Int Immunol* 14:873.
- 387. Wajchman, H. J., C. W. Pierce, V. A. Varma, M. M. Issa, J. Petros, and K. E. Dombrowski. 2004. Ex vivo expansion of CD8+CD56+ and CD8+CD56- natural killer T cells specific for MUC1 mucin. *Cancer Res* 64:1171.
- 388. Mukherjee, P., A. R. Ginardi, C. S. Madsen, T. L. Tinder, F. Jacobs, J. Parker, B. Agrawal, B. M. Longenecker, and S. J. Gendler. 2001. MUC1-specific CTLs are non-functional within a pancreatic tumor microenvironment. *Glycoconj J* 18:931.
- 389. Rowse, G. J., R. M. Tempero, M. L. VanLith, M. A. Hollingsworth, and S. J. Gendler. 1998. Tolerance and immunity to MUC1 in a human MUC1 transgenic murine model. *Cancer Res* 58:315.
- 390. Schroeder, J. A., A. A. Masri, M. C. Adriance, J. C. Tessier, K. L. Kotlarczyk, M. C. Thompson, and S. J. Gendler. 2004. MUC1 overexpression results in mammary gland tumorigenesis and prolonged alveolar differentiation. *Oncogene 23:5739*.

- 391. Li, Y., W. H. Yu, J. Ren, W. Chen, L. Huang, S. Kharbanda, M. Loda, and D. Kufe. 2003. Heregulin targets gamma-catenin to the nucleolus by a mechanism dependent on the DF3/MUC1 oncoprotein. *Mol Cancer Res* 1:765.
- 392. Ren, J., Y. Li, and D. Kufe. 2002. Protein kinase C delta regulates function of the DF3/MUC1 carcinoma antigen in beta-catenin signaling. *J Biol Chem* 277:17616.
- 393. Li, Y., W. Chen, J. Ren, W. H. Yu, Q. Li, K. Yoshida, and D. Kufe. 2003. DF3/MUC1 signaling in multiple myeloma cells is regulated by interleukin-7. *Cancer Biol Ther* 2:187.
- 394. Li, Y., D. Liu, D. Chen, S. Kharbanda, and D. Kufe. 2003. Human DF3/MUC1 carcinoma-associated protein functions as an oncogene. *Oncogene* 22:6107.
- 395. Wen, Y., T. C. Caffrey, M. J. Wheelock, K. R. Johnson, and M. A. Hollingsworth. 2003. Nuclear association of the cytoplasmic tail of MUC1 and beta-catenin. *J Biol Chem* 278:38029.
- 396. Ren, J., N. Agata, D. Chen, Y. Li, W. H. Yu, L. Huang, D. Raina, W. Chen, S. Kharbanda, and D. Kufe. 2004. Human MUC1 carcinoma-associated protein confers resistance to genotoxic anticancer agents. *Cancer Cell* 5:163.
- 397. Bennett, R., Jr., T. Jarvela, P. Engelhardt, L. Kostamovaara, P. Sparks, O. Carpen, O. Turunen, and A. Vaheri. 2001. Mucin MUC1 is seen in cell surface protrusions together with ezrin in immunoelectron tomography and is concentrated at tips of filopodial protrusions in MCF-7 breast carcinoma cells. *J Histochem Cytochem* 49:67.
- 398. Ciborowski, P., and O. J. Finn. 2002. Non-glycosylated tandem repeats of MUC1 facilitate attachment of breast tumor cells to normal human lung tissue and immobilized extracellular matrix proteins (ECM) in vitro: potential role in metastasis. *Clin Exp Metastasis 19:339*.
- 399. Nassar, H., V. Pansare, H. Zhang, M. Che, W. Sakr, R. Ali-Fehmi, D. Grignon, F. Sarkar, J. Cheng, and V. Adsay. 2004. Pathogenesis of invasive micropapillary carcinoma: role of MUC1 glycoprotein. *Mod Pathol 17:1045*.
- 400. Cramer, D. W., L. Titus-Ernstoff, J. R. McKolanis, W. R. Welch, A. F. Vitonis, R. S. Berkowitz, and O. J. Finn. 2005. Conditions associated with antibodies against the tumor-associated antigen MUC1 and their relationship to risk for ovarian cancer. *Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev* 14:1125.

- 401. Teixeira, A., L. David, C. A. Reis, J. Costa, and M. Sobrinho-Simoes. 2002. Expression of mucins (MUC1, MUC2, MUC5AC, and MUC6) and type 1 Lewis antigens in cases with and without Helicobacter pylori colonization in metaplastic glands of the human stomach. *J Pathol 197:37*.
- 402. Linden, S., J. Mahdavi, J. Hedenbro, T. Boren, and I. Carlstedt. 2004. Effects of pH on Helicobacter pylori binding to human gastric mucins: identification of binding to non-MUC5AC mucins. *Biochem J* 384:263.
- 403. Kvistgaard, A. S., L. T. Pallesen, C. F. Arias, S. Lopez, T. E. Petersen, C. W. Heegaard, and J. T. Rasmussen. 2004. Inhibitory effects of human and bovine milk constituents on rotavirus infections. *J Dairy Sci 87:4088*.
- 404. Yolken, R. H., J. A. Peterson, S. L. Vonderfecht, E. T. Fouts, K. Midthun, and D. S. Newburg. 1992. Human milk mucin inhibits rotavirus replication and prevents experimental gastroenteritis. *J Clin Invest 90:1984*.
- 405. Schroten, H., F. G. Hanisch, R. Plogmann, J. Hacker, G. Uhlenbruck, R. Nobis-Bosch, and V. Wahn. 1992. Inhibition of adhesion of S-fimbriated Escherichia coli to buccal epithelial cells by human milk fat globule membrane components: a novel aspect of the protective function of mucins in the nonimmunoglobulin fraction. *Infect Immun 60:2893*.
- 406. Agrawal, B., and B. M. Longenecker. 2005. MUC1 mucin-mediated regulation of human T cells. *Int Immunol 17:391*.
- 407. Agrawal, B., M. J. Krantz, M. A. Reddish, and B. M. Longenecker. 1998. Cancerassociated MUC1 mucin inhibits human T-cell proliferation, which is reversible by IL-2. *Nat Med 4:43*.
- 408. Chan, A. K., D. C. Lockhart, W. von Bernstorff, R. A. Spanjaard, H. G. Joo, T. J. Eberlein, and P. S. Goedegebuure. 1999. Soluble MUC1 secreted by human epithelial cancer cells mediates immune suppression by blocking T-cell activation. *Int J Cancer* 82:721.
- 409. Zhang, K., R. Sikut, and G. C. Hansson. 1997. A MUC1 mucin secreted from a colon carcinoma cell line inhibits target cell lysis by natural killer cells. *Cell Immunol* 176:158.
- 410. Kim, J. A., M. A. Dayton, W. Aldrich, and P. L. Triozzi. 1999. Modulation of CD4 cell cytokine production by colon cancer-associated mucin. *Cancer Immunol Immunother* 48:525.

- 411. Cloosen, S., M. Thio, A. Vanclee, E. B. van Leeuwen, B. L. Senden-Gijsbers, E. B. Oving, W. T. Germeraad, and G. M. Bos. 2004. Mucin-1 is expressed on dendritic cells, both in vitro and in vivo. *Int Immunol* 16:1561.
- 412. Taki, C., S. Kitajima, K. Sueyoshi, S. Yonezawa, S. Tanaka, K. Sakoda, T. Irimura, E. Sato, and M. Goto. 2002. MUC1 mucin expression in follicular dendritic cells and lymphoepithelial lesions of gastric mucosa-associated lymphoid tissue lymphoma. *Pathol Int* 52:691.
- 413. Pentheroudakis, G., V. Malamou-Mitsi, E. Briasoulis, K. Damala, A. Vassou, G. Vartholomatos, N. Kolaitis, and N. Pavlidis. 2004. The neutrophil, not the tumor: serum CA 15-3 elevation as a result of granulocyte--colony-stimulating factor-induced neutrophil MU1C overexpression and neutrophilia in patients with breast carcinoma receiving adjuvant chemotherapy. *Cancer 101:1767*.
- 414. Herbert, L. M., J. F. Grosso, M. Dorsey, Jr., T. Fu, I. Keydar, M. A. Cejas, D. H. Wreschner, N. Smorodinski, and D. M. Lopez. 2004. A unique mucin immunoenhancing peptide with antitumor properties. *Cancer Res* 64:8077.
- 415. Grosso, J. F., L. M. Herbert, J. L. Owen, and D. M. Lopez. 2004. MUC1/sec-expressing tumors are rejected in vivo by a T cell-dependent mechanism and secrete high levels of CCL2. *J Immunol 173:1721*.
- 416. Hirasawa, Y., N. Kohno, A. Yokoyama, Y. Inoue, M. Abe, and K. Hiwada. 1997. KL-6, a human MUC1 mucin, is chemotactic for human fibroblasts. *Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 17:501*.
- 417. Ishii, G., T. Sangai, T. Ito, T. Hasebe, Y. Endoh, H. Sasaki, K. Harigaya, and A. Ochiai. 2005. In vivo and in vitro characterization of human fibroblasts recruited selectively into human cancer stroma. *Int J Cancer*.
- 418. Balkwill, F. 2004. Cancer and the chemokine network. *Nat Rev Cancer 4:540*.
- 419. 1998. Proceedings of the International Society for Oncodevelopmental Biology and Medicine (ISOBM) TD-4 International Workshop on Monoclonal Antibodies against MUC1. San Diego, California, November 17-23, 1996. *Tumour Biol 19 Suppl 1:1*.
- 420. Beatty, P., F. G. Hanisch, D. B. Stolz, O. J. Finn, and P. Ciborowski. 2001. Biochemical characterization of the soluble form of tumor antigen MUC1 isolated from sera and ascites fluid of breast and pancreatic cancer patients. *Clin Cancer Res* 7:781s.

- 421. Kohfeldt, E., P. Maurer, C. Vannahme, and R. Timpl. 1997. Properties of the extracellular calcium binding module of the proteoglycan testican. *FEBS Lett* 414:557.
- 422. Grimm, M. C., A. Ben-Baruch, D. D. Taub, O. M. Howard, J. H. Resau, J. M. Wang, H. Ali, R. Richardson, R. Snyderman, and J. J. Oppenheim. 1998. Opiates transdeactivate chemokine receptors: delta and mu opiate receptor-mediated heterologous desensitization. *J Exp Med* 188:317.
- 423. Miltenyi S. and Schmitz, J. 1999. High gradient magnetic cell sorting. In *Flow Cytometry and Cell Sorting*, Vol. 218. A. Radbruch, ed. Springer-Verlag, Berlin.
- 424. Brinkman-Van der Linden, E. C., and A. Varki. 2000. New aspects of siglec binding specificities, including the significance of fucosylation and of the sialyl-Tn epitope. Sialic acid-binding immunoglobulin superfamily lectins. *J Biol Chem* 275:8625.
- 425. Vlad, A. M., J. C. Kettel, N. M. Alajez, C. A. Carlos, and O. J. Finn. 2004. MUC1 immunobiology: from discovery to clinical applications. *Adv Immunol* 82:249.
- 426. Schroeder, J. A., M. C. Adriance, M. C. Thompson, T. D. Camenisch, and S. J. Gendler. 2003. MUC1 alters beta-catenin-dependent tumor formation and promotes cellular invasion. *Oncogene 22:1324*.
- 427. McDermott, K. M., P. R. Crocker, A. Harris, M. D. Burdick, Y. Hinoda, T. Hayashi, K. Imai, and M. A. Hollingsworth. 2001. Overexpression of MUC1 reconfigures the binding properties of tumor cells. *Int J Cancer* 94:783.
- 428. Fung, P. Y., and B. M. Longenecker. 1991. Specific immunosuppressive activity of epiglycanin, a mucin-like glycoprotein secreted by a murine mammary adenocarcinoma (TA3-HA). *Cancer Res* 51:1170.
- 429. Matloubian, M., A. David, S. Engel, J. E. Ryan, and J. G. Cyster. 2000. A transmembrane CXC chemokine is a ligand for HIV-coreceptor Bonzo. *Nat Immunol 1:298*.
- 430. Bazan, J. F., K. B. Bacon, G. Hardiman, W. Wang, K. Soo, D. Rossi, D. R. Greaves, A. Zlotnik, and T. J. Schall. 1997. A new class of membrane-bound chemokine with a CX3C motif. *Nature 385:640*.

- 431. Suzuki, A., A. Masuda, H. Nagata, S. Kameoka, Y. Kikawada, M. Yamakawa, and T. Kasajima. 2002. Mature dendritic cells make clusters with T cells in the invasive margin of colorectal carcinoma. *J Pathol 196:37*.
- 432. Iwamoto, M., H. Shinohara, A. Miyamoto, M. Okuzawa, H. Mabuchi, T. Nohara, G. Gon, M. Toyoda, and N. Tanigawa. 2003. Prognostic value of tumor-infiltrating dendritic cells expressing CD83 in human breast carcinomas. *Int J Cancer 104:92*.
- 433. Fontenot, J. D., S. V. Mariappan, P. Catasti, N. Domenech, O. J. Finn, and G. Gupta. 1995. Structure of a tumor associated antigen containing a tandemly repeated immunodominant epitope. *J Biomol Struct Dyn* 13:245.
- 434. Barnd, D. L., M. S. Lan, R. S. Metzgar, and O. J. Finn. 1989. Specific, major histocompatibility complex-unrestricted recognition of tumor-associated mucins by human cytotoxic T cells. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 86:7159.
- 435. Cavanagh, L. L., and U. H. Von Andrian. 2002. Travellers in many guises: the origins and destinations of dendritic cells. *Immunol Cell Biol* 80:448.
- 436. Frederick, M. J., and G. L. Clayman. 2001. Chemokines in cancer. *Expert Rev Mol Med* 2001:1.
- 437. Mueller, M. M., and N. E. Fusenig. 2004. Friends or foes bipolar effects of the tumour stroma in cancer. *Nat Rev Cancer* 4:839.
- 438. Medzhitov, R. 2001. Toll-like receptors and innate immunity. Nat Rev Immunol 1:135.
- 439. Seong, S. Y., and P. Matzinger. 2004. Hydrophobicity: an ancient damage-associated molecular pattern that initiates innate immune responses. *Nat Rev Immunol 4:469*.
- 440. Hanisch, F. G., and S. Muller. 2000. MUC1: the polymorphic appearance of a human mucin. *Glycobiology 10:439*.
- 441. Kobayashi, M., H. Kobayashi, R. B. Pollard, and F. Suzuki. 1998. A pathogenic role of Th2 cells and their cytokine products on the pulmonary metastasis of murine B16 melanoma. *J Immunol 160:5869*.

- 442. Turner, M. S., J. R. McKolanis, R. K. Ramanathan, D. C. Whitcomb, and O. J. Finn. 2003. Mucins in gastrointestinal cancers. In *Cancer Chemotherapy and Biological Response Modifiers, Annual 21*, Vol. 21. P. Sondel, ed. Elsevier B.V., Amsterdam, The Netherlands, p. 259.
- 443. Carson, R. T., and D. A. Vignali. 1999. Simultaneous quantitation of 15 cytokines using a multiplexed flow cytometric assay. *J Immunol Methods* 227:41.
- 444. Vignali, D. A. 2000. Multiplexed particle-based flow cytometric assays. In *J Immunol Methods*, Vol. 243, p. 243.
- 445. Argibay, P. F., J. M. Di Noia, A. Hidalgo, E. Mocetti, M. Barbich, A. S. Lorenti, D. Bustos, M. Tambutti, S. H. Hyon, A. C. Frasch, and D. O. Sanchez. 2002. Trypanosoma cruzi surface mucin TcMuc-e2 expressed on higher eukaryotic cells induces human T cell anergy, which is reversible. *Glycobiology* 12:25.
- 446. Lutz, M. B., and G. Schuler. 2002. Immature, semi-mature and fully mature dendritic cells: which signals induce tolerance or immunity? *Trends Immunol 23:445*.
- 447. Michalaki, V., K. Syrigos, P. Charles, and J. Waxman. 2004. Serum levels of IL-6 and TNF-alpha correlate with clinicopathological features and patient survival in patients with prostate cancer. *Br J Cancer* 90:2312.
- 448. Herbeuval, J. P., E. Lelievre, C. Lambert, M. Dy, and C. Genin. 2004. Recruitment of STAT3 for production of IL-10 by colon carcinoma cells induced by macrophage-derived IL-6. *J Immunol 172:4630*.
- 449. Darai, E., R. Detchev, D. Hugol, and N. T. Quang. 2003. Serum and cyst fluid levels of interleukin (IL) -6, IL-8 and tumour necrosis factor-alpha in women with endometriomas and benign and malignant cystic ovarian tumours. *Hum Reprod* 18:1681.
- 450. Terabe, M., J. M. Park, and J. A. Berzofsky. 2004. Role of IL-13 in regulation of antitumor immunity and tumor growth. *Cancer Immunol Immunother 53:79*.
- 451. Park, J. M., M. Terabe, L. T. van den Broeke, D. D. Donaldson, and J. A. Berzofsky. 2005. Unmasking immunosurveillance against a syngeneic colon cancer by elimination of CD4+ NKT regulatory cells and IL-13. *Int J Cancer 114:80*.

- 452. Terabe, M., and J. A. Berzofsky. 2004. Immunoregulatory T cells in tumor immunity. *Curr Opin Immunol 16:157*.
- Ostrand-Rosenberg, S., V. K. Clements, M. Terabe, J. M. Park, J. A. Berzofsky, and S. K. Dissanayake. 2002. Resistance to metastatic disease in STAT6-deficient mice requires hemopoietic and nonhemopoietic cells and is IFN-gamma dependent. *J Immunol* 169:5796.
- 454. Yamaji, T., K. Nakamura, S. Amari, A. Suzuki, and Y. Hashimoto. 2003. Application of a multivalent glycoprobe: characterization of sugar-binding specificity of Siglec family proteins. *Methods Enzymol* 363:104.
- 455. Sporri, R., and C. Reis e Sousa. 2005. Inflammatory mediators are insufficient for full dendritic cell activation and promote expansion of CD4+ T cell populations lacking helper function. *Nat Immunol* 6:163.
- 456. Kleindienst, P., C. Wiethe, M. B. Lutz, and T. Brocker. 2005. Simultaneous induction of CD4 T cell tolerance and CD8 T cell immunity by semimature dendritic cells. *J Immunol 174:3941*.
- 457. Sixt, M., N. Kanazawa, M. Selg, T. Samson, G. Roos, D. P. Reinhardt, R. Pabst, M. B. Lutz, and L. Sorokin. 2005. The conduit system transports soluble antigens from the afferent lymph to resident dendritic cells in the T cell area of the lymph node. *Immunity* 22:19.
- 458. Eiwegger, T., B. Stahl, J. Schmitt, G. Boehm, M. Gerstmayr, J. Pichler, E. Dehlink, C. Loibichler, R. Urbanek, and Z. Szepfalusi. 2004. Human milk--derived oligosaccharides and plant-derived oligosaccharides stimulate cytokine production of cord blood T-cells in vitro. *Pediatr Res 56:536*.